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BEEF OR FISH? WHATEVER 

YOU CHOOSE TO EAT ON YOUR FLIGHT, 

IS A PRODUCT OF OUR HARDWORKING LOCAL 

FARMERS AND FISHERMEN.
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10,000
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Sebastian is a graduate of the Institute of Political Studies (IEP Paris) in France with a 
master’s degree in economics and finance. He has over 20 years professional and inter-
national experience in executive management, both in the private and public sector. Se-
bastian has also held various non-executive roles as Supervisory Board member. Prior to 
joining Kenya Airways in June 2017, Sebastian was the CEO of eSky.pl, the leading Central 
European Online Travel Agent.

Sebastian is also the former President and Chief Executive Officer of LOT Polish Airlines. 
LOT as the national carrier of Poland has 90 years of history and is one of the oldest airli-
nes in the world. He held the position of CEO of LOT twice and is credited with conducting 
an in depth turnaround of the company leading to it first positive results in many years. 
He was the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of LOT’s regional operator EuroLOT, ope-
rating Bombardier Q400 aircrafts and was a member of the Supervisory Boards of LOT 
AMS (the MRO base), WRO-LOT (regional handling company) as well as Eurobank (retail 
bank, part of SG Group).

Sebastian started his career in 1997 with Arthur Andersen office in Paris, where he 
specialised in investments in the emerging markets. After returning to Poland in 2000 he 
worked on establishing the first independent online brokerage house in Poland. A year la-
ter he became the Managing Director of the French Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
in Poland (CCIFP). Between July 2003 to September 2006 he was Vice-President of the 
Polish Information and Foreign Investment Agency (PAIiIZ). As a governmental agency 
PAIiIZ was in charge of attracting foreign investors to Poland and focus on the economic 
promotion of Poland. Between 2007 to 2009 he held the position of Director in Deloit-
te Business Consulting Warsaw Office. He was responsible for developing the business 
consulting for the public sector together with supporting the inflow and development of 
foreign investors in Poland.

Sebastian serves as a Non-Executive Board Member of three Kenya Airways subsidiaries, 
the regional operator Jambojet, the Tanzanian operator Precision Air and Kenya Air-
freight Handling Limited. In addition, he is also a member of the IATA Board of Governors 
and is the 2nd Vice Chairman of African Airlines Association (AFRAA.)

Michael Joseph was appointed Chairman of Kenya Airways in October 2016. He is also a 
Non-Executive Director on the Boards of Vodacom Group South Africa, MFS Africa and 
Safaricom Plc. Michael is also an advisor to the Vodafone Group mostly related to mobile 
financial services and Safaricom. He was until October 2017 employed by Vodafone Group 
Services Limited as the Director of Mobile Money and was responsible for leading the 
strategic growth and development of successful M-Pesa proposition across the Vodafone 
footprint. 

Michael was the founding CEO of Safaricom Plc, steering the company from a subscriber 
base of less than 18,000 in 2000 to over 17 million subscribers at his retirement in 
November 2010 making it the most successful company in East Africa. This phenomenal 
growth straddling nearly a decade was notable for the launch of many innovative products 
and services. He was behind the launch of the highly successful and phenomenal growth 
of M-Pesa and its related services.   

Michael has been the recipient of many awards, including CEO of the year awarded by the 
Kenya Institute of Management and the Elder of the Order of the Burning Spear (award 
given by the President of Kenya to those who have made a positive impact in Kenya). He 
has extensive international experience in company start-ups, the implementation and 
operation of large wireless and wire-line networks. He is also a keen conservationist and 
serves as Chairman of Lewa Wildlife Conservancy, a leading conservancy in Northern 
Kenya.

Michael Joseph (73) 
Chairman and Independent 
Non-Executive Director

Sebastian Mikosz (45)
Group Managing Director

The Current Board composition with brief resumes is as set out below:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont inued)
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Professor Paul Mwangi Maringa (60)
Non Executive Director 

Dr. Kamau Thugge (61)
Non Executive Director 

Jozef (Jos)Veenstra (52)
Non-Executive Director

Prof. Maringa is the Principal Secretary for the State Department of Public Works in 
the Ministry of Transport and Infrastructure, Housing and Urban Development of the 
Republic of Kenya. Prior to his appointment as Principal Secretary, he was the Strategic 
Advisor for Planning and Project Management of Workforce Development Authority 
(WDA), Kigali, Rwanda. Prior to this he was the Vice Chancellor of Kigali Institute of 
Science and Technology (KIST), Kigali, Rwanda. 
Professor Maringa is credited with having pioneered the School of Architecture and 
Building Sciences (SABS) at Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology 
(JKUAT) and the Faculty of Architecture and Environmental Design (FAED) at KIST in 
Rwanda.

Professor Maringa holds a Bachelor’s degree of Architecture from the University of 
Nairobi, a Masters of Arts in Planning (Urban & Regional Planning) from the University 
of Nairobi and is a Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Planning (PHD) from JKUAT. 

Dr Thugge is the Principal Secretary, National Treasury. Prior to his appointment as 
Principal Secretary, he worked as a Senior Economic Advisor in the Ministry of Finance 
from the year 2010. He has also worked at the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in 
various capacities for over 21 years. He was the Head of the Fiscal and Monetary Affairs 
Department, Treasury between 2004 and 2005, and the Economic Secretary and Head 
of Economic Affairs Department, Treasury between 2005 and 2008. He has sat on the 
Boards of the Central Bank of Kenya, the Monetary Policy Committee of the Central 
Bank of Kenya, the Kenya Revenue Authority and the Capital Markets Authority

Jos Veenstra is responsible for investments and corporate development at Air France-
KLM. He has extensive experience in leading complex airline-related M&A projects and 
holds several board positions in a wide variety of companies that are closely related 
to the aviation industry. Among these companies are Epcor in Amsterdam, SkyNRG in 
Amsterdam, KLM UK Engineering in Norwich, KLM E&M Malaysia and KLM Health Ser-
vices. He is also responsible for managing KLM’s innovation fund that invests in start-
up companies with innovative products that support the aviation industry. Jos holds 
a Masters in Business Economics from the University of Groningen (Netherlands), 
followed by a postgraduate degree as Chartered Accountant (CPA). Prior to his current 
position, Jos worked as an auditor for KPMG and as Vice President Finance & Control 
for KLM’s Engineering & Maintenance division.
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Jason is the Chief of Party for the USAID-funded institutional systems strengthening 
project for COMESA, IGAD and EAC at The Kaizen Company. He is the immediate former 
Senior Strategy Advisor for TradeMark East Africa (TMEA) where he also held previous 
positions as Senior Regional Director and Kenya Country Director. Jason joined TMEA 
from SBP Consult – a consultancy firm he set up in 2004 and through which he consulted 
for airlines across Africa, among others. His last assignment before joining TMEA was 
a long-term contract with the World Bank to support the 19 countries of the Common 
Market for Eastern & Southern Africa (COMESA) to integrate regional and national stra-
tegic planning. Jason was also the Senior Director and Head of Corporate Strategy and 
Operational Change for Heifer International, a US-based development organisation with 
a historical footprint in 125 countries.

Jason has also worked for Kenya Airways Plc as the Director for Corporate Strategy and 
Industry Affairs from 2000 to 2004 and the Chief of Strategic Planning and Research for 
COMESA. He has served on the Boards of many organisations including in the strategy 
committee of the Nairobi Stock Exchange. He has taught air transport management as a 
visiting lecturer for the City University of London, and financial management and crea-
tive writing at Daystar University as a part-time lecturer. He is an award-winning author 
and has published 6 books. Jason is a graduate of University of Nairobi (BSc), Eastern 
University (MBA), Wharton Business School (certificate in strategy) and University of 
Cape Town (certificate in leadership).

Caroline has 23 years’ experience in the banking industry both within and outside of 
Kenya. Voted as one of Kenya’s Top 40 Under 40, she started her career as a manage-
ment trainee and rose through the ranks to become a respected senior executive in the 
industry. She has led several projects with the key project being the implementation of 
7 new IT systems delivered in parallel at HF Group, which drove its IT transformation. 
In addition to an illustrious banking career she also served as the Vice-Chairperson on 

Kenya’s Mining Task Force and served as a Director on the Board of the HF Foundation.  

Caroline Armstrong (44) 

Independent Non-Executive Director 

Jason Kapkirwok (59)
Independent Non-Executive Director
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Carol Musyoka has several years of financial leadership experience working in Kenya 
and the United States.  Her executive management and Board experience includes her 
role as the Corporate Director of Barclays Bank of Kenya as well as the Executive Dire-
ctor and Chief Operating Officer of K-Rep Bank, Kenya’s first micro finance institution.

She currently sits as a Non-Executive Director on the Boards of East Africa Breweries 
Limited, British American Tobacco Plc as well as a government regulator, the Com-
petition Authority of Kenya. Carol is a holder of a Bachelor of Law degree from the 
University of Nairobi and a Master of Law degree from Cornell University, USA.

Major General Gichangi joined the Kenya Air Force as a pilot in 1975, and rose through 
the ranks serving in all its flying operations hierarchy command positions. He retired 
from the military in 2006 as the Chief of Strategic Plans and Policy at the Defence 
Headquarters, on being appointed the Director General of The National Intelligence 
Service. He served in this position until 2014.

He holds a Masters Degree in Aviation Management from Griffith University in Aus-
tralia and is a graduate of the National Defence College. He has a Commercial Pilots 
License from the Federal Aviation Authority of The United States of America and one 
from the Kenya Civil Aviation Authority, and is a qualified flying instructor. In recog-
nition of his service to the nation, he has been honoured as an Elder of the Order of 
the Golden Heart (EGH) and a Chief of the Order of the Burning Spear (CBS). He was 
awarded the Distinguished Conduct Order (DCO) medal for an act of Valour while flying 
in the Kenya Air Force.

Festus is the Alternate to the Principal Secretary/National Treasury. He holds a Bach-
elor of Commerce degree from the University of Nairobi and is finalizing an MBA from 
Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology (JKUAT). Festus holds a post 
graduate certificate in Investment Appraisal and Management from Harvard Universi-
ty, among others. He has also undergone extensive training in general management, 
strategic leadership and financial management. Festus has extensive experience in 
public policy, particularly with regard to public investments, gained from local and 
international institutions, having worked on secondment by the Government of Kenya 
to the World Bank. Festus has also served on several other boards in the same capac-
ity. He is trained in corporate governance and is a full member of the Kenya Institute 
of Management and a member of the Institute of Certified Investment and Financial 
analysts (ICIFA).

Carol Musyoka (46)
Non-Executive Director  

Festus King’ori (55)

Alternate for Dr. Kamau Thugge 

Major General (RTD) Michael Gichangi (60)
Independent Non-Executive Director
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Martin’s career started out in Accounting and Banking but has now shifted to Leadership 
and Governance. He is currently an independent Business Advisor and Accredited Executi-
ve Coach, and runs the Consulting Firm, The Leadership Group Limited. Prior to this, he 
worked with Deloitte East Africa as a Partner, Financial Services Industry from May 2013 
to December 2015. He had an illustrious career at KCB Group Plc, between October 2005 
and December 2012, most of which he was the Chief Executive Officer, presiding over rapid 
transformation and growth for the bank. He has also held senior positions in Barclays Bank 
both in Kenya and in South Africa, in addition to an earlier decade spent in various finance 
roles at British American Tobacco Kenya and as an accounting trainee at the professional 
services firm, Ernst & Young (EY). 

Martin has also had a stint in the Public Sector as Permanent Secretary Ministry of Finan-
ce/Treasury in the Government of Kenya between 1999 and 2001. Martin holds an Executi-
ve MBA degree from ESAMI/Maastritch Business Schools and a Bachelor of Commerce de-
gree from the University of Nairobi. He is also an alumnus of the Harvard Business School’s 
Advanced Management Program. He is a Fellow of the Kenya Institute of Bankers and the 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Kenya and a Member of the Institute of Certi-
fied Secretaries of Kenya and the Institute of Directors of Kenya.  He is also an Accredited 
Governance Auditor.

He holds Non-Executive Directorships in Standard Bank Group, Standard Bank of South 
Africa, East African Breweries Limited, British American Tobacco Kenya Plc, GA Life As-
surance Limited and is also a Trustee of SOS Children’s Villages Kenya and member of the 
International Senate of SOS KDI.

Esther has over 35 years’ experience in public service, most of which has been in invest-
ment promotion, banking, privatization and public enterprise reforms. She is currently the 
Principal Secretary in the State Department of Transport. Esther is a holder of a Bachelor 
of Commerce degree and a Masters of Business Administration degree from the University 
of Nairobi. She also holds a certificate, Advanced Management Programme from Strath-
more University. 

Esther has held various senior positions in Government and the Parastatal sector, includ-
ing being the Investment Secretary and Director General, Public Investments & Portfolio 
Management at the National Treasury and Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Tourism. She 
has also served as the Managing Director, Kenya Post Office Savings Bank. She serves as 
a Non Executive Director on several Boards including the Africa Trade Insurance Agency.

Nicholas holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Osmania University, India and a Master of 
Business Administration from Laikipia University. He is a Certified Public Secretary (K) and 
holds a Graduate Diploma in Aviation Management from the National University of Singa-
pore and the Singapore Aviation Academy and a Certificate in Air Law from the Egyptian 
Aviation Academy. Started his career as an Administrator as an Assistant Secretary III 
and rose through the ranks to Senior Assistant Secretary before changing profession to 
become Chief Air Transport Officer. He is a Deputy Director, Air Transport in the Ministry 
of Transport, Infrastructure, Housing and Urban Development. He has also been Acting 
Director General, Kenya Civil Aviation Authority from December, 2008 to July, 2009 and 
Acting Managing Director, Kenya Airports Authority from July 2016 to November 2016. 
He currently Heads the Air Transport Division in the Ministry of Transport, Infrastructure, 
Housing, Urban Development and Public Works.

Esther Koimett (62)
Non-Executive Director

Nicholas Bodo (51) 

Alternate for Prof. Paul Mwangi Maringa  

Martin Oduor-Otieno (62)
Non-Executive Director
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AT KENYA AIRWAYS, WE KNOW THAT YOU ARE PART 

OF A BIGGER PICTURE. THEREFORE, WE TAKE GOOD 

CARE OF OUR STAFF. WITH OVER 4000 EMPLOYEES, 

WE ARE A DIVERSE EMPLOYER WITH STAFF IN ALL 

OUR DUTY STATIONS ACROSS THE GLOBE PROVIDING 

EMPLOYMENT TO THOUSANDS OF PEOPLE. 
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OVER

4,000
EMPLOYEES
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OVER

4,000
EMPLOYEES Clare Ward 

Chief Information Officer

Clare Ward joined Kenya Airways as Chief Information Officer on 1st December 2018.  
With over 24 years professional experience in aviation, Clare is an innovative and ac-
complished CIO with a track record of driving bottom line value through digital trans-
formation.  
After qualifying as a Chartered Accountant with PwC (previously Coopers & Lybrand), 
Clare was attracted to airlines in 1995 by British Airways where she held senior manage-
ment roles in Sales, Revenue Management and Information Technology.  During a tenure 
of 16 years with BA she delivered many large & complex change programs.  
In 2011 Clare moved to Etihad Airways which operates a network of over 110 passenger 
and cargo destinations and has won many awards for its products and services. Clare 
held leadership positions in Strategy, Loyalty and IT where she established new business 
paradigms by exploiting digital technologies.  She also spent two years forging new alli-
ance partnerships for Etihad with numerous airlines spanning 6 continents.

In 2017 Clare transitioned to Dubai Airports, the largest international airport in the world, 
serving 88+ million passengers annually and connecting more than 240 destinations on 
over 100 airlines.  As Senior Vice President Business Technology, Clare leveraged the 
power of combining data analytics and innovation, creating new business solutions to 
transform the customer experience and drive operational efficiencies.  
She then became Managing Partner Middle East for AlphaZetta, a global organisation 
specialising in data science, where she led their aviation practice.
Clare is a graduate of Imperial College, London with a BSc. in Applied Biology and is also 
a Certified Information Systems Auditor.

C-LEVEL PROFILES

Hellen Mathuka 
Chief Financial Officer  

Hellen holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Kenyatta University and an MBA (Stra-
tegic Management) from United States International University. She was appointed Chief 
Financial Officer in September 2018 after acting on the role for a period of 10 months. 
Hellen has wide experience in Finance and Audit having previously worked as the Head of 
Corporate Finance as well as Head of  Internal Audit at Kenya Airways. As part of succes-
sion planning, Hellen also led the Pricing and Revenue Management function for a period 
of 2 years. Prior to joining Kenya Airways, she worked at East African Breweries Ltd, Ernst 
& Young and Family Bank.

Hellen is a Certified Internal Auditor, Certified Informations Systems Auditor and holds 
certification in Control self assessment. She has a diploma in Airline Management from 
IATA, certificate in Executive business development from the Gordon institute of business 
management and is a certified coach and mentor.
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Ursula Silling
Chief Commercial Officer

Ursula Silling joined Kenya Airways as CCO in February 2019. She has spent more than 25 
years in senior executive management roles with key players in the aviation and travel 
industry, covering various business models and countries. She was integral in a number 
of transformation projects, driving a focus on customer and people, digital, new revenue 
models, innovation to achieve sustainable change. “Do things differently to succeed in 
today’s environment” is her philosophy.

Ursula started her career with Lufthansa, Lufthansa Systems and British Airways, covering 
network planning and revenue management as well as alliances, strategy and sales and 
marketing. As Commercial Director for HLX (today TUIfly), she developed the fast network 
growth strategy, the brand positioning, marketing based on ROI and the retailing strategy, 
e-business and product. 

As EVP Commercial for the merger of the Virgin Express and SN Brussels Airlines, Ursu-
la successfully managed the rebranding and repositioning, resulting in the still prevailing 
Brussels Airlines brand today. She developed and implemented the then revolutionary b.
flex / b.light product concept, taking account of the changed travel patterns of consumers 
and increased low cost competition.She introduced a revised loyalty and sales and distribu-
tion strategy, extending the customer base and achieving substantial cost savings. Ursula 
also introduced a modern marketing concept for the highly important African markets of 
Brussels Airlines and restructured the entire organisation to a leaner and more efficient 
one. 

Ursula also led the distribution project with Aer Lingus and led Aerosvit Ukrainian Airlines, 
Monarch Airlines and Air Malta as CCO in critical change periods, Ursula enjoys academic 
pursuits including writing and lecturing.

Realising the need to think out of the box for airlines and airports to succeed in the 21st 
century, she created the now globally renowned think tank Hamburg Aviation Conference 
- think future, bringing together airlines, airports, rail, other travel stakeholders, retailers, 
tech companies and universities to discuss new and innovative solutions to turn current 
challenges into opportunities.

Evelyne Munyoki
Chief Human Resources Officer

Evelyne joined Kenya Airways in February 2019 to provide leadership on the People and 
Culture transformation agenda for the company. 

Prior to joining the airline, Evelyne worked with The Co-operative Bank of Kenya as the 
Director- Human Resources with responsibility for the Co-operative Bank Group including 
subsidiaries. Evelyne has over 15 years of senior leadership & management experience and 
has worked in various senior management HR roles in local and international employer 
brands including IBM Corporation, PwC, Ernst & Young, Standard Chartered Bank Kenya 
and Oxfam Great Britain. Evelyne is a holder of a Bachelor of Arts (BA) in Land Economics 
from the University of Nairobi (UON) and a Master of International Business Administra-
tion (MIBA) from the United States International University (Africa) She is also a certified 
Executive Leadership Coach (CELC) and Professional Career Coach (CPCC).

Evelyne is a member of several professional HR organisations including Institute of Human 
Resource Management (IHRM), Association of Talent Development (ATD), Society for Hu-
man Resources Management (SHRM) and the International Coaching Federation (ICF). She 
also serves on the board of AG Group International.
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Jan de Vegt 
Chief Operating Officer

Jan de Vegt became the airline’s Chief Operating Officer on 1st August 2016. Jan joined 
Kenya Airways from Cobalt Ground Solutions in the UK where he was the Managing Direc-
tor. He has been at Senior Managerial level for the last 22 years. 

Jan started with KLM in 1978 in accounting, from there he moved to IT. In 1988 he got his 
Master’s Degree in Dutch Law. He became involved in the operation of cargo, worked on de-
velopment of new cargo buildings and got involved with procurement. He became Director 
of Operations for the Benelux, UK and Ireland in 1994. 

In 1999, he moved back to the Netherland and became Vice President Worldwide Cargo 
Operations, amongst others responsible for running KLM’s hub at Amsterdam, exploitation 
of freighter and trucking network, introduction of the new 747-400F, procurement for the 
whole Cargo division. During this period he also became vice-chairman of AEA Cargo. He 
was also Chairman of the Board of CSC India (Cargo handling company in BOM/DEL) and 
Blue Crown (KLM in house broker). 

In 2006 he moved to Singapore again, this time as Vice President Asia Pacific for Air 
France Cargo/KLM Cargo and Martinair Cargo. In 2012 he moved to the UK to manage 
Cobalt Ground Solution, a handling company jointly owned by KLM and Air France. Jan de 
Vegt holds a Masters Degree in Dutch Law with special subject: Air and Space Law.
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FOR THOSE SEEKING AN EDUCATION, KENYA 

AIRWAYS IS HERE TO HELP YOU GET TO YOUR 

DESTINATION. OVER 6,000 STUDENTS AND 

AVIATION PROFESSIONALS HAVE PASSED 

THROUGH OUR PRIDE CENTRE WHERE WE HAVE 

OVER 264 TRAINING COURSES ON OFFER. 
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OVER

6,000
STUDENTS & AVIATION 

PROFESSIONALS
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CHAIRMAN’S  STATEMENT

Economic Overview 

In 2018, the African continent had a positive and promising eco-
nomic outlook. Gross domestic product reached an estimated 
3.5 per cent in 2018 in spite of the turbulent times experienced 
in the recent years. This growth was supported by the con-
sumer spending amid eased inflation and public investment. 
Surprisingly, non-resource-intensive economies such as Kenya, 
Uganda, Rwanda, and counties in the West African Economic 
and Monetary Union, including Côte d’Ivoire and Benin recorded 
a solid economic growth in 2018. 

The Africa Development Bank (AfDB)-2019 Economic outlook 
report states that Kenya’s Real GDP grew an estimated 5.9% in 
2018, from 4.9% in 2017. This was supported by good weather, 
eased political uncertainties following the ‘Handshake’ in May 
2018, improved business confidence, and strong private con-
sumption. The same is expected to be even higher in 2019.
Narrowing the scope to aviation economics the ‘2018 IATA-Eco-
nomic Performance of the Airline Industry Report’ summarised 
the African airline industry performance as below:
Africa region posted an increase in annual international RPK 
growth compared to 2017 (6.5% vs 6.0% respectfully). Despite 
the above RPK growth, loses abound due to increase in fuel 
cost and low break-even load factors, among other factors. 
Overall, the African airlines performance is improving, but only 
slowly.

The economic environment and general overview of the avia-
tion sector was reflected in KQs performance in 2018.

Financial performance

Kenya Airways reported a reduced loss before tax position of 
KShs 7.59 billion. The narrowed loss is a remarkable improve-
ment from the dire position that the company was in three 
years ago when this board took over.  
We continued to focus on the turnaround programme. Some 
of the actions taken to ensure business sustainability included 
focus on cost reduction initiatives, revenue enhancement initia-
tives, Network expansion, revamping our customer experience 
and changes in the senior management. This saw KQ revenues 
grow significantly boosted by growth in passenger revenue, 
cargo and ancillary services. At the same time, we managed to 
keep our operating costs at manageable levels.  

In 2018, the airline industry was heavily impacted by the oil 
prices which peaked at a three year high of USD 86 per Barrel 
in September. The price of oil is not only pegged on global 
supply and demand but also on prevailing geo-political and 
economic factors which we have no control over. This volatility 
has serious ramifications on an airline’s finances and it is on 
this premise that the board considered a fuel hedging option. 
This has seen a stabilisation of our fuel costs and better cash 
flow management. 

Government support

The recognition of aviation as a strategic arm in the country’s 
economic progress by the Government of Kenya (GoK) was a 
major milestone. This paves way for attentive focus and a

 

consolidation of efforts toward developing Kenya into an avia-
tion hub in Africa and the world. Toward this end, KQ and KAA 
look forward to more collaborative framework as we realise the 
stated objective 
KQ affirms its support to the realisation of the Big Four (B4) 
agenda driven by H.E. President Uhuru Kenyatta. Accomplish-
ing the manufacturing, affordable housing, universal health 
coverage, food and nutrition agenda cannot be realised without 
the transportation of human resources as well as requisite 
machinery. 

Regional integrations

As the saying goes ‘United we stand, divided we fall’. Economic 
integration is essential in the sense that it creates consolidated 
large markets for both products and services, increases the 
bargaining power of countries in the economic bloc in addition 
to increased investment opportunities due to a free flow of 
capital and skills. Kenya stands proud as one of the constituent 
countries of the East African Community (EAC) which according 
to the African Development Banks’ African Economic Outlook 
2019 is the only fully functional Customs Union in Africa.

For KQ, the progressive regional integration opens the econom-
ic potential of individual countries by harnessing the synergies 
that come about as a result of co-operation. Following growth 
in the economic capacities of constituent countries in these 
economic blocs, it is obvious that air transport will also grow.
To further accelerate the gains of economic integration, the 
deployment of efficient and cost-effective aircraft in the form 
of Bombardier Q400 turbo-props is essential. We believe we 
are well positioned to provide affordable, comfortable and 
safe means of air transport to realise the above. All we seek is 
support.

Reduction of tariff and non-tariff barriers

I single out the reduction of tariff and non-tariff barriers to 
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trade to make my comments on the Single African Air Transport 
Market (SAATM). Kenya is a signatory to the Continental Free 
Trade Agreement (CFTA) that envisions the African continent 
as a unified free trade area. The CFTA acknowledges the estab-
lishment of SAATM through implementation of the Yamoussou-
kro Declaration and so does KQ. 

However, our firm standpoint is that there should be a progres-
sive as opposed to instantaneous de-regulation of the African 
Airspace. In addition, the requisite infrastructure in terms of 
competition regulation authorities that mirror the European 
union model should first be established.

In the absence of the above mechanism to ensure proper 
checks and balances, cut throat competition leading to a waste-
ful race to bottom will occur to the detriment of all of us. Even-
tually, monopolistic elements will remain in the air transport 
industry beating the envisioned purpose of liberalisation.
The importance of Africa as a market for Kenya airways cannot 
be overemphasised. 41% of the airline’s total revenue in 2018 
was realised from Africa and hence the need to place empha-
sized on our Africa plan and consolidate our niche market.

KQ driving tourism industry

2018 was indeed an interesting year on the Kenyan aviation 
front. Kenya’s largest airport and the KQ hub, Jomo Kenyatta 
International Airport finally attained the coveted FAA Cate-
gory 1, the Last Point of Departure (LPD) approval by the U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security Transportation Security 
Administration (TSA), eventually culminating in the successful 
commencement of non-stop USA operations by Kenya Airways. 
We recognise GoK and specifically support of the Ministry of 
Transport and Infrastructural Development (MoT), the Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs, Kenya Civil Aviation Authority and Kenya 
Airports Authority in realising the above.

Nairobi also hosted the 2018 International Civil Aviation Organi-
zation (ICAO) Air Service Negotiations (ICAN). This was also the 
only ICAN event that had the highest number of ICAO council 
members attending. With the support of the Ministry of Trans-
port, the transport Cabinet Secretary oversaw the signing of at 
least thirty-four 34 Air Services Agreements (ASA). We remain 
grateful to MoT and KCAA for organizing this event. 
Kenya’s 2018 tourist arrivals grew by 37.33%from the previous 
year to cross the two million mark for the first time. This tre-
mendous improvement is a sign of confidence in Kenya and an 
affirmation of our world class tourism product. Kenya Airways 
is proud of its contribution toward the realization of the above 
and remains committed to propelling the number even higher.

Safety and customer data security

Our expertise in aircraft maintenance continues to gain inter-
national recognition. For the third year in a row, Kenya Airways 
was recognised and certified as an Embraer Authorised Service 
Centre (EASC). This assured continued in-house servicing of 
our Embraer fleet as well as the generation of extra revenue by 
servicing third party clients. It is also worth noting that we are 
also a European Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) certified 
airline.

A new development regarding the use of data and its protection 

dominated a big part of 2018. The culmination was the passing 
of the European Union General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) that came into effect in May 2018. GDPR enforces the 
right of customer data by providing a legal framework to ensure 
and enforce data rights such as the right to data access, the 
right to be forgotten and the right to be notified. Consequences 
for corporations that violate the GDPR regulations are dire; 
4% of the global turnover of €20 million. KQ has set in place 
mechanism to remain compliant to the GDPR regulations as 
well as assuring its customers that their data privacy is secured 
and guaranteed. 

Sustainability

One of our Corporate Social Responsibility obligation is our 
commitment to ensuring the protection of the environment 
and its sustainability alongside our ever-progressing develop-
ment. In line with this, the ICAO Assembly Resolution A39-3 
decided that states implement a Global Market Based Measures 
(GMBM) scheme in the form of Carbon Offsetting and Reduc-
tion Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA) to address 
any annual increase in total CO2 emissions from international 
civil aviation from 1st January 2019. At this point in time, KQ 
supports the initiative but continues to assess the implications 
of adopting CORSIA.

Going Forward

As we head into the future, the Kenya Airways PLC board 
remains focused on steering the company towards financial 
stability as well as growth.
Kenya Airways PLC enters into the year 2019 steadfastly 
pursuing the goal of achieving financial stability, guest service 
excellence, growth in market share as well as the sustainable 
development of Africa. Kenya Airways will continue to imple-
ment the prudent financial management and the turnaround 
initiatives started in 2018.  Success in our network expansion, 
growth in revenues as well as in passenger numbers are worthy 
of note. This growth is in tandem with the overall positive 
economic outlook in Kenya and the world in general. 
I am optimistic that our fundamental strengths will enable us 
to remain resilient and propel us forward. Kenya Airways is 
Kenya’s National flag bearer and holds market share among the 
top ten African airlines in the Market. This makes me conscious 
of the huge responsibility not only to our customers, colleagues 
and shareholders but to the entire Kenyan public.
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TAARIFA YA MWENYE KIT I

Maelezo ya Uchumi 

Mnamo mwaka wa 2018, bara la Afrika lilikuwa na matokeo mazuri 
na yenye kuahidi ya kiuchumi. Bidhaa na huduma za ndani zilifikia 
wastani wa asilimia 3.5 mwaka 2018 licha ya nyakati za mgogoro 
katika miaka ya hivi karibuni. 

Ukuaji huu uliletwa na matumizi ya pesa miongoni mwa wateja 
licha ya mfumuko wa bei na uwekezaji wa umma. Cha kushangaza, 
uchumi usio na rasilimali kuu kama vile Kenya, Uganda, Rwanda, 
na nchi katika Umoja wa Mataifa ya Kiuchumi na Fedha ya Nchi 
za Afrika Magharibi, kama vile Côte d’Ivoire na Benin, zimeandika 
ukuaji wa uchumi imara mwaka 2018.

Ripoti ya mtazamo wa uchumi ya Africa Development Bank 
inasema kuwa Pato la Taifa la Kenya limeongezeka kwa asilimia 
5.9 mwaka 2018, kutoka asilimia 4.9 mwaka 2017. Hii imesaidiwa 
na hali nzuri ya hali ya hewa, utulivu na uhakika wa kisiasa baada 
ya ‘Handshake’ mwezi wa Mei 2018, kuboreka kwa biashara, na 
matumizi makuu ya kibinafsi. Hali hiyo inatarajiwa kuboreka zaidi 
mwaka 2019. Ripoti ya Sekta ya Ndege 2018 ilifupisha ufanisi wa 
sekta ya ndege ya Afrika hivi:

Eneo la Kiafrika limekuwa na ongezeko la ukuaji wa RPK wa 
kimataifa kila mwaka ikilinganishwa na 2017 (6.5% vs 6.0% ). Licha 
ya ukuaji wa RPK, hasara zinapatikana kwa sababu ya ongezeko la 
gharama za mafuta kati ya mambo mengine. Kwa ujumla, biashara 
za ndege Afrika zinaendelea kukua, lakini polepole.

Mazingira ya kiuchumi na maelezo ya jumla ya sekta ya ndege 
yalijitokeza katika utendaji wa KQ mwaka wa 2018.

Utendaji wa kifedha

Kenya Airways iliripoti hasara iliyopungua kabla ya nafasi ya kodi 
ya shilingi ya Kenya bilioni 7.59. Hasara iliyo chini ni utendakazi 
wema kutoka kwa nafasi mbaya kampuni ilikuwa miaka mitatu 
iliyopita wakati bodi hii ilichukua hatamu. 

Tuliendelea kuzingatia mpango wa kuleta mabadiliko. Baadhi 
ya hatua tulizochukua ili kuhakikisha uendelevu wa biashara ni 
pamoja na kuzingatia mipango ya kupunguza gharama, mipango 
ya kukuza mapato, upanuzi wa Mtandao, kuboresha tunavyo shu-
ghulikia wateja na mabadiliko katika wasimamizi. 
Kufuatia hayo, mapato ya KQ yalikua kwa kiasi kikubwa yaki-
wezeshwa na ukuaji wa mapato ya abiria, mizigo na huduma 
zingine. Wakati huo huo, tuliweza kuweka gharama zetu katika 
kiwango kizuri.

Mnamo mwaka wa 2018, sekta ya ndege iliathiriwa sana na bei za 
mafuta ambazo zilifika dola 86 kwa kila Barri mwezi Septemba. 
Mafuta ya ndege yanabaki kuwa sehemu kubwa ya gharama zetu 
za moja kwa moja, ni asilimia 40 ya gharama zetu zote za moja 
kwa moja mwaka jana. Bei ya mafuta inasababishwa na mambo 
kadhaa ikiwapo usambazaji na mahitaji ya kimataifa, mambo ya 
kisiasa na ya kiuchumi ambayo hatuwezi kudhibiti. Mambo haya 
yana athari kubwa kwenye fedha za sekta ya ndege na ni kwa 
sababu ya nguzo hii, bodi ilifanya uamuzi wa kulinda bei tunay-
onunulia mafuta. Hii imeona upungufu wa gharama zetu za mafuta 
na usimamizi bora wa fedha.

Msaada wa Serikali

Utambuzi wa sekta ya ndege kama mojawapo ya kimkakati katika 
maendeleo ya kiuchumi ya nchi na Serikali ya Kenya (GoK) ilikuwa 
muhimu sana. Hii inatoa njia ya kuzingatia kwa makini na kuimari-
sha jitihada za kuendeleza Kenya katika kanda ya ndege ya Afrika 
na duniani. Kwa upande huu, KQ na KAA wanatarajia mfumo zaidi 
wa ushirikiano tunapotambua lengo lililoelezwa
KQ inathibitisha msaada wake kwa utambuzi wa ajenda ya Big 
Four (B4) iliyoendeshwa na H.E. Rais Uhuru Kenyatta. Kukamilisha 
viwanda, nyumba za gharama nafuu, chanjo ya afya ya kila siku, 
ajenda ya chakula na lishe haiwezi kufikiwa bila usafiri wa watu na 
mashine zinazohitajika.

Ushirikiano wa mikoa

Kuna msemo wa Kingereza unaosema “United we stand, divided 
we fall”.  Hii inamaana kuwa, pamoja tunasimama, laikini tuga-
wanyika sisi huanguka’. Ushirikiano wa kiuchumi ni muhimu kwa 
maana, hujenga masoko makubwa ya bidhaa na huduma zote, 
huongeza nguvu za biashara za nchi katika kambi ya kiuchumi 
pamoja na fursa za uwekezaji zilizoongezeka kutokana na mtiririko 
wa ujuzi. Kenya inajivunia kama moja ya nchi zilizojitokeza za Ju-
muiya ya Afrika Mashariki (EAC) ambayo kwa mujibu wa ripoti ya 
African Development Banks African Economic Outlook 2019 kuhsu 
mtazamo wa Kiuchumi wa Afrika 2019 ndiyo pekee ya Umoja wa 

Forodha wa Umoja wa Afrika.

Kwa KQ, ushirikiano wa kikanda unaoendelea unaufungua uweze-
kano wa kiuchumi wa nchi kwa kuunganisha ushirikiano unaokuja 
kama matokeo ya ushirikiano huo. Kufuatia kukua katika uwezo 
wa kiuchumi wa nchi zilizojitokeza katika vitengo vya kiuchumi, ni 
dhahiri kwamba usafiri wa anga pia utaongezeka.
Ili kuongeza kasi ya ushirikiano wa kiuchumi, utumizi wa ndege 
yenye ufanisi na gharama nafuu kama vile Bombardier Q400 
turbo-props ni muhimu. Tunaamini kuwa tuna nafasi nzuri ya 
kutoa gharama nafuu na usafiri salama ili kupata matokeo mema.  
Tunachoomba ni msaada.
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Kupunguza vikwazo vya ushuru 

Ningependa kuzungumzia vikwazo vya ushuru ili kutoa maoni 
yangu kuhusu Single African Air Transport Market (SAATM). 
Kenya imeweka saini katika mkataba wa Continental Free Trade 
Agreement (CFTA) ambayo inatazama bara la Afrika kama 
sehemu ya umoja wa biashara huru. CFTA inakubali kuanzishwa 
kwa SAATM kupitia utekelezaji wa Azimio la Yamoussoukro na 
pia KQ.

Hata hivyo, mtazamo wetu imara ni kwamba kuna lazima iwe 
na maendeleo zaidi kinyume na udhibiti wa mara kwa mara 
wa Anga ya Afrika. Kwa kuongeza, miundombinu inayohitajika 
katika suala la mamlaka ya udhibiti wa mashindano ambayo 
inazingatia mfano wa muungano wa Ulaya inapaswa kuanzishwa 
kwanza.

Kwa kutokuwepo kwa utaratibu ili kuhakikisha ufuatiliaji sahihi 
na mizani, ushindani mbaya  na mambo mengine yatajitoke-
za na kusababisha hasara kwa kila mmoja wetu.  Hatimaye, 
vipengele vya uaminifu vitabaki katika sekta ya usafiri wa hewa 
kupiga lengo la kutafsiriwa.

Umuhimu wa Afrika kama soko kwa Kenya airways hauwezi 
kuelezwa vikamilifu. Jumla ya aslimia 41 ya mapato mwaka 2018 
yalitoka Afrika na hivyo haja ya kuweka msisitizo juu ya mpango 
wetu wa Afrika na kuimarisha soko letu.

KQ kukuza sekta ya utalii 

2018 ilikuwa kweli mwaka wa kuvutia katika sekta ya ndege ya 
Kenya. Uwanja wa ndege mkubwa zaidi wa Kenya na nyumbani 
kwa KQ, Uwanja wa Ndege ya Kimataifa wa Jomo Kenyatta 
(JKIA) hatimaye ulipata idhini kutoka kwa  idara ya Marekani 
ya Usalama wa Nchi na ndege za kwenda USA moja kwa moja 
za Kenya Airways zikaanza safari. Dhidi ya haya, tunatambua 
msaada wa Serikali kuu ya Kenya, Wizara ya Usafiri na Maende-
leo ya Miundombinu, Kenya Civil Aviation Authority na Kenya 
Airports Authority. 

Mkutano wa International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) Air 
Service Negotiations (ICAN) ulifanyika Nairobi mwaka jana. Huu 
ulikuwa mkutano wa ICAN ambao ulikuwa na idadi kubwa ya 
wanachama wa baraza la ICAO waliohudhuria. Kwa usaidizi wa 
Wizara ya Usafiri, Katibu wa Baraza la Mawaziri wa usafirishaji 
alisimamia kusainiwa kwa makubaliano ya Huduma za Ndege 
angalau thelathini na nne (ASA). Tunashukuru wizara 
ya uchukuzi (MOT) na mamlaka za anga za kirahia nchini 
Kenya (KCAA) kwa kuandaa mkutano huu.  

Watalii waliosafiri Kenya 2018 waliongezeka kwa asilimia 37.33 
kutoka mwaka uliopita na kuvuka milioni mbili kwa mara ya 
kwanza. Uboreshaji huu mkubwa ni ishara ya ubora wa Kenya na 
thibitisho la nafasi yetu kuu katika utalii duniani. Kenya Airways 
inajivunia kuchangia jambo hili na inabakia nia ya kupitisha 
idadi hata zaidi.

Usalama wa wateja

Uwezo wetu katika matengenezo ya ndege unaendelea kutam-
buliwa kimataifa. Kwa mwaka wa tatu mfululizo, Kenya Airways 
ilitambuliwa na kuthibitishwa kama Embraer Authorised Service 
Center (EASC). Hii imesababisha kuendeleza huduma za ndani 

ya ndege ya Embraer pamoja na mapato ya ziada kwa kuwa-
hudumia wateja wengine. Pia ni muhumu kusema ya kwamba 
utendakazi wema wa Kenya Airways umedhibitishwa sahihi 
kutokwa kwa European Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA).
Maendeleo mapya katika matumizi na ulinzi wa data na ulinzi 
yaliongoza sehemu kubwa ya mwaka 2018. Hatimaye, sheria za 
European Union General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
zilipitishwa na kuanza kutumika Mei 2018. GDPR inasisitiza haki 
ya data ya wateja kwa kutoa mfumo wa kisheria kuhakikisha 
na kutekeleza haki za data kama vile haki ya kupata data, haki 
ya kusahaulika na haki ya kuarifiwa. Matokeo kwa mashirika 
yanayokiuka kanuni za GDPR ni mbaya; asilimia 4 ya mauzo ya 
kimataifa ya $ milioni 20, KQ imeweka mikakati kabambe ya 
kuendelea kuwa kwa kanuni za GDPR ikiwa ni pamoja na 
kuwahakikishia wateja wake kuwa faragha ya data yao 
imefungwa na usalama wake kuhakikishiwa.

Ustawi

Moja ya wajibu wetu wa Shirika la Kijamii ni kujitolea kwa 
kuhakikisha ulinzi wa mazingira na uendelevu wake. Kwa mujibu 
wa hili, Azimio A39-3 la Bunge la ICAO liliamua kuwa Nchi 
zifuatilie Global Market Based Measures (GMBM) kwa njia ya 
Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International 
Aviation (CORSIA) kutoka 1 Januari 2019 ili kushughulikia 
ongezeko la kila mwaka la uzalishaji wa CO2 kutokana na usafiri 
wa ndege. Kwa wakati huu, KQ inasaidia mpango lakini 
inaendelea kuchunguza adhira za ya kufutilia CORSIA.

Kwenda mbele

Tunapoendelea katika siku zijazo, bodi ya Kenya Airways PLC 
bado inalenga kuendesha kampuni kuelekea mafanikio ya 
kifedha pamoja na ukuaji.
Kenya Airways PLC inaingia mwaka 2019 kwa kutekeleza lengo 
la kufikia mafanikio ya kifedha, ubora wa huduma za wageni, 
ukuaji wa soko pamoja na maendeleo endelevu ya Afrika. Kenya 
Airways itaendelea kutekeleza usimamizi bora wa kifedha 
kulingana na mipango iliyoanza mnamo 2018. Mafanikio katika 
upanuzi wa mtandao wetu, ukuaji wa mapato na namba za 
abiria zinastahili kusemwa. Ukuaji huu uko chini ya mtazamo 
mzuri wa kiuchumi nchini Kenya na ulimwengu kwa ujumla.
Nina matumaini kwamba uwezo wetu wa msingi utatuwezesha 
kwenda mbele zaidi. Kenya Airways inapepeza bendera ya 
Kenya na ni mojawapo ya kampuni za ndege kumi bora Afrika. 
Hii inanifanya nijue jukumu kubwa sio tu kwa wateja wetu na 
wanahisa lakini kwa umma wote wa Kenya.

Shukrani

Shukrani zangu za dhati kwa wajumbe wenzangu wa Bodi kwa 
uongozi wenu kwa kipindi hiki cha changamoto katika kuleta 
mageuzi. Nashukuru pia wasimamizi na wafanyakazi wetu kwa 
juhudi zenu.

Michael Joseph
Mwenyekiti
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AS A PUBLICLY LISTED COMPANY, WE ARE 

PART OF AFRICA’S GROWING ECONOMY. WITH 

INVESTMENTS IN KENYA AIRWAYS BEING WORTH 

BILLIONS OF SHILLINGS, WE ARE HELPING TO 

KEEP THE ECONOMY STRONG AS ONE OF 

AFRICA’S LEADING AIRLINES
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INVESTMENTS WORTH

BILLIONS
OF SHILLINGS
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CHIEF  EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S  STATEMENT

I am pleased to report that 2018 was a good year for Kenya 
Airways. This marked a second consecutive year of improved 
financial performance and business growth which we have 
been working towards since 2017. We focused on expanding our 
network as part of the airline’s growth strategy and as a result 
increasing the airline’s capacity measured in Available Seat 
Kilometres (ASKs).
The company smoothly transitioned from a 5-bank Network 
Structure to a 3-bank Network Structure in October 2018, 
consequently leading to improved passenger connectivity at the 
hub by approximately 30%. 
During the year, we also introduced a range of new innovative 
products and services aimed at meeting market demand and 
maintaining our competitive edge in the highly competitive 
industry.
Despite the above achievements, the airline experienced several 
challenges such as volatility of fuel prices, intense competition 
and employee unions’ related challenges. 
I am however pleased to report that thanks to the airline’s 
robust business planning, prompt actions in the face of crisis, 
passenger-focused solutions and dedicated staff, the company 
came out stronger and better than the previous year. Kenya 
Airways remains committed to sustaining this growth trajecto-
ry, with continued focus on cost management, route network 
expansion and good industrial relations.

PASSENGER GROWTH

In 2018, Kenya Airways benefited from the positive trends in 
the country’s Tourism Sector due to the good political 
environment. The airline recovered fully from the significant 
negative election impact attributed to the prolonged election 
period in 2017. Domestic traffic flows (Nairobi-Mombasa and 
Nairobi-Kisumu routes) also recovered and registered significant 
growth in traffic.
There was strong growth in traffic from and to Kenya from the 
various key markets in the network which saw our passenger 
numbers grow to 4.84 million. Overall, the airline achieved a 
cabin factor of 77.6 per cent.  We look forward to enjoying the 
same environment, if not better, in 2019. 

In addition, Kenya Airways was once again recognised by the 
World Travel Award as Africa’s Leading Airline in Business (for 
the 6th consecutive time) and Africa’s Leading Airline in Econ-
omy Class (for the 2nd time).  This is a true testament of the 
support from our passengers and the dedication of our teams.

REVENUE GROWTH

Passenger Revenue
In the 12-months period, passenger turnover stood at KShs. 
95,187 million. Kenya Airways’ performance during the year 
ended December 2018 was positive. Despite the increase in 
competition and overcapacity on most traffic flows, there was 
significant improvement in the airline’s average fare. This was 
largely driven by growth in higher yielding traffic to and from 
Kenya, increase in premium business class traffic and commer-
cial efficiencies. 

Freight and Mail Revenue 
During the 12 months period ended December 2018, freight and 
mail turnover stood at KShs. 8.468 million, the good perfor-
mance was attributed to a better product mix with growth of 
premium valuable cargo segment and marked improvement of 
the general cargo segment. 

Ancillary Revenue 
At the end of 2018 the airline made an important step in grow-
ing its ancillary footprint by introducing an enhanced number 
of extra seat propositions (extra legroom and preferred seat) 
and significantly growing its distribution scope to all relevant 
direct booking channels. The group generated an additional Ksh. 
8,338 million. Similarly the group generated handling revenues 
totalling Ksh 2,193 million. 

NETWORK EXPANSION 

As mentioned earlier, we opened new strategic routes as part of 
our growth strategy. During the year, four routes were launched 
beginning with Mauritius on 7th June operated on the E190, 
New York on 28th October operated on the B788, Libreville in 
Gabon on 29th October operated on the E190, and Mogadishu 
launched on 18th December on the E145. In July and August 
Kenya Airways operated additional flights to Amsterdam and 
Paris to leverage on high summer demand. The airline also 
added a direct flight to Cape Town, South Africa.
Kenya Airways suspended online operations to Jeddah in Sep-
tember with the intention of retaining network efficiency, opting 
to serve customers through existing partnerships. 
We will continue working towards efficient network planning 
including closure of unprofitable routes and launch of new pro-
spective connections. 

New York Launch
The launch of New York was one of the most visible and sig-
nificant events in 2018. A well-structured plan of events was 

Libreville MogadishuMauritius
New York
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executed and fully rolled-out, which in turn culminated to the 
high-profile launch experience both nationally and internation-
ally. The national event was flagged off by H.E. the President 
of the Republic of Kenya Uhuru Kenyatta and received by H.E. 
the Deputy President Dr. William Ruto. The below pictorial is a 
summary of some of the highlights of what transpired through 
the year focusing on major corporate events.

NYC JOURNEY 

JOINT VENTURE

Kenya Airways continues to use partnerships to enhance its 
network strategy. In 2018, Air France joined the joint venture 
and together with KLM, the marketing team successfully carried 
campaigns enhancing awareness of the joint network, seamless 
connectivity and competitive pricing offered by the three airlines. 

Other key successes were establishment of a joint sales force 
in Rwanda with Kenya Airways fully representing AFKL in the 
market through an efficient organisation, competent people 
and one face in the market. Overall the Joint Venture with AFKL 
achieved strong passenger revenue, with an increase in capacity. 

INNOVATION AND PRODUCT

On 1 August 2018, Kenya Airways launched a new catering 
service that focused on three pillars; African, Simplicity and 
Authentic. The Chef’s programme was also introduced at the 
same time. This programme works with African chefs to develop 
menus that showcase exquisite fusions of culture with various 
local ingredients. Further, the airline continues to work closely 
with the caterers to ensure that at least over 90% of all the 
ingredients used in the preparation of all its meals onboard, are 
locally sourced to support the Buy Kenya, Build Kenya initiative.
In the new catering product, a basket service with light snacks 
for flights shorter than one hour and a snack box service for 
flights from two to four hours were introduced. Business Class 
passengers on flights longer than seven hours can now enjoy a 
more personalised inflight meal with the introduction of a plated 
service. In addition, the airline introduced a signature welcome 
drink inspired by a tantalising combination of herbs and indige-

nous fruits.
The airline further rolled out BlueBiz, a joint corporate loyalty 
program with Air France and KLM. A key market in this respect 
is the airline’s home market, Kenya, where BlueBiz will be an 
important program to further cement KQ’s leadership role in the 
SME corporate market. 

FLEET DEVELOPMENT

The company completed the sale of two aircraft as part of the 
KQ fleet rationalisation project. An early return of one B787-8 
subleased from Oman was completed to support the airline’s 
network expansion into the US. As part of the improved focus 
on the cabin product, the three 9-year-old B737-800 interiors 
were refurbished, and a portable wireless entertainment system 
installed.

Note: * - aircraft was disposed of in 2018

This coming year will see the return of KQ’s 9th B787-8 from 
Oman Air, as scheduled, to support the network expansion into 
Rome and Geneva. The airline is exploring the extension of the 
subleases of the three B777-300ER for a further period.

 FLEET – IN SERVICE

Aircraft Type 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-18

Boeing 777-300ER                        -                          -

Boeing 777-200ER                      1*                          -

Boeing 787-8                       7                         8

Boeing 737-800                       8                         8

Boeing 737-700                       2                         2

Boeing 737-300                     2*                        1*

Boeing 737-300F                       2                         2

Embraer 190                      15                        15

Bombardier Dash 8-400                       3                         5

TOTAL                  40                     41

FLEET – MOVEMENTS IN 2019

Aircraft Type No. of aircraft Reason for movement

Boeing 787-8                                   1 Sub-leased to Oman Air. Returning to KQ in April 2019

Boeing 737-700                                (2) Leases expire in August 2019. 

Boeing 737-300                                 (1) Out of service and being used as a training aircraft

Aircraft on order                                   - Zero orders as of now. However, this position is being 
considered to avail aircraft for further route expansion

TOTAL                            (2)
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COST

Fuel Volatility
The volatility of the fuel prices was the most prominent chal-
lenge during the year. Fuel alone takes up about 27% of Kenya 
Airways’ total expenditure. The volatile fuel prices in 2018 
impacted the delivery of the airline’s fuel cost, consequently 
affecting its total costs. 

The price per barrel was on an upward trend from the beginning 
of 2018 with the Brent Crude prices peaking at a three year high 
of USD 86 per Barrel in October. The prices however reduced in 
the last two months of the year closing at a low of USD 49 per 
Barrel in December 2018.

In order to mitigate the impact of the fuel price volatility, Kenya 
Airways implemented a fuel hedging policy. 
 

MARKET SHARE

Competition 
Intense competition and growing presence of foreign state-
backed carriers in the Kenya market reduced the airline’s 
market share.  

KQ’s key competitors continued to grow capacity in the airline’s 
key markets led by Ethiopian Airlines whose capacity is up by 
about 20% while Rwanda Air’s capacity is up 22%. Emirates and 
Qatar also have grown their capacity into the market by 6% and 
12% respectively. 
High operating costs such a landing fees, fuel, industrial action 
disruptions continue to impede KQ’s competitiveness against 
these players as KQ receives no advantage from having JKIA as 
its hub, while these competitors are given preferential treat-
ment in their home markets.

EMPLOYEES

Kenya Airways values an environment where people feel 
empowered and motivated. As at the end of this Financial Year 
2018, Kenya Airways had a total headcount total of 4,763 staff 
employed across 39 countries. Permanent staff stood at 3,905 
whereas contracted staff closed at 858. In the previous year 
2017, permanent staff stood at 3,548 and contracted staff at 

1,028. The increase in permanent staff of 10% is mainly attribut-
ed to the movement of staff from the outsourced labour provid-
ers into Kenya Airways in a bid to improve employee engage-
ment and motivation. In 2019, we will initiate new engagement 
strategies to build motivation and alignment to our corporates 
objectives. Notwithstanding, we have been engaged in efforts 
to harmonise trade union relations as misinformation leading 
to perceived mistrust continues to negatively affect the cordial 
relations with our employees.

IN CONCLUSION

Product and service excellence are crucial to the continued 
success of the Company, and as such the airline shall endeavour 
to create a recipe for success to further satisfy the needs and 
expectations of its passengers. KQ’s commitment to review its 
Customer Excellence Program remains firm. 2018 saw the intro-
duction of the new catering product as well as kick-starting of 
the airline’s brand refresh. In 2019, the airline will see to it that 
the program is fully implemented.

Managing the company’s cashflow still remains the biggest yet 
attainable challenge, but the airline remains optimistic on bridg-
ing the gap as it moves forward.

The growth of the airline’s revenues is pegged on the expansion 
of its network. Network growth is only possible with additional 
capacity. In 2019, the airline intends to further actualise its 
network expansion plan and possibly grow its fleet to remain 
competitive.

Management is committed to building and establishing good 
industrial relations to amicably resolve any arising issues and in 
the best interest of all parties.

Sebastian Mikosz
Group Managing Director & CEO

CHIEF  EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S  STATEMENT (Cont . . . )

Global Fuel Price Brent Crude
(USD/Bbl)

Source: Bloomberg
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TAARIFA YA Mkurugenz i  Mkuu

Ninafurahi kutoa ripoti kuwa mwaka wa 2018 ulikuwa mzuri kwa 
Kenya Airways. Kwa mwaka wa pili mfululizo, tulipata matokeo 
bora ya kifedha na biashara yetu iliendelea kukua. Jambo 
ambalo tumekuwa tukilenga tangu tulipoanza mpango wa kuleta 
mabadiliko mwaka wa 2017.

Utendaji huu bora ulikuwa matokeo ya maamuzi yaliyotolewa 
hapo awali. Tulilenga kupanua mtandao wetu kama mojawapo 
ya mikakati ya ukuaji wa KQ na tukaweza kuongeza uwezo wetu 
uliopimwa katika Available Seat Kilometres (ASKs).
Kampuni ilibadilisha kwa ufanisi matumizi ya muundo wa Mtan-
dao wa Benki 5 hadi kwenye muundo wa Benki 3 mnamo mwezi 
wa Oktoba 2018. Hali hii ilisababisha muunganisho bora wa 
abiria kwa karibu 30%.

Wakati huo huo, tulianzisha huduma mpya za ubunifu zinazoz-
ingatia mahitaji ya soko na kudumisha ushindani katika sekta ya 
usafiri wa angani.

Licha ya mafanikio haya, shirika letu lilipata changamoto kadhaa 
kama vile mabadiliko katika  bei za mafuta, ushindani mkali na 
changamoto zinazohusiana na vyama vya wafanyakazi.

Hata hivyo nimefurahi kutoa ripoti ya kuwa kwa sababu ya mi-
pango yetu mizuri ya biashara, hatua za haraka katika kukabili-
ana na migogoro, suluhisho zinazolenga abiria na wafanyakazi 
wa kujitolea, kampuni yetu imeimarika zaidi na kujitokeza kuwa 
bora zaidi kuliko mwaka uliopita. Kenya Airways bado ina nia ya 
kuendeleza ukuaji huu na kuendelea kuzingatia usimamizi wa 
punguza gharama, upanuzi wa mitandao yake na upanuzi wa 
sehemu tunasafirisha abiria na kukuza mahusiano mazuri ya 
viwanda.

UKUAJI WA ABIRIA

Mwaka 2018, Kenya Airways ilinufaika na hali nzuri ya Sekta 

ya Utalii nchini kutokana na mazingira mazuri ya kisiasa. Hali 
ilimarika tofauti na hapo awali tuliposhuhudia athari kubwa za 
kipindi kirefu cha uchaguzi mnamo mwaka wa 2017. Safari za 
ndani ya nchi (Nairobi-Mombasa na Nairobi-Kisumu) pia ziliripoti 
ukuaji mkubwa katika trafiki.

Kulikuwa na ukuaji mkubwa katika safari za kutoka Kenya na 
kutoka kwenye masoko muhimu kwenye mtandao wetu ambako 
idadi ya abiria iliongezeka hadi milioni 4.84. Kwa ujumla, KQ 
ilipata ongezeko ya asilimia 77.6. Tunatarajia kufurahia mazingi-
ra sawa lakini ni matumaini yetu mazingira yatakuwa bora zaidi 
mwaka wa 2019.

Kwa mara nyingine tena, Kenya Airways ilipata Tuzo la World 
Travel Awards kama shirika bora zaidi katika kiwango cha 
Business Class Barani Afrika (kwa muda wa sita mfululizo). Pia 
tulipata tuzo la shirika bora zaidi katika Economy Class Barani 
Afrika (kwa mara wa pili). Hili ni dhihirisho bora kwa kuwa 
tunaungwa mkono na abiria wetu na pia ni ithibati ya kujitolea 
kwa wafanyikazi wetu.  
 

UKUAJI WA MAPATO

Mapato ya Abiria

Utendaji wa Kenya Airways wa mwaka uliomalizika Desemba 
2018 ulikuwa bora. Katika miezi 12. Mapato kutoka kwa abiria 
yalifika Shilingi (Kshs) milioni 95,187. Licha ya ongezeko la ushin-
dani, mapato kutoka kwa ndege ilikuwa bora. Hali hii ilisababish-
wa na ukuaji wa safari za kutoka Kenya, ongezeko la wateja wa 
Business Class na ufanisi wa kibiashara.

Mapato ya Usafirishaji wa Mizigo na Barua

Katika kipindi cha miezi 12 kilichomalizika Desemba 2018, map-
ato ya mizigo na barua yalikuwa Shilingi (Kshs) Milioni 8.468. 
Uttendaji huu mzuri ulihusishwa na mchanganyiko wa bora wa 
bidhaa bora na ukuaji kwa thamani kubwa wa sehemu ya mizigo. 
Hali iliyoleta ukuaji wa jumla katika sekta ya mizigo.

Mapato Mengine

Mwishoni mwa mwaka wa 2018 shirika la Kenya Airways 
lilichukua hatua muhimu kwa kuanzisha idadi ya ziada ya 
mapendekezo ya viti vya ziada (nafasi kubwa ya kuweka miguu 
na kuwa na mapendeleo ya viti kwa wateja). Pia tuliongeza 
mitandao ya vituo vya kuhifadhia tiketi zetu.  Hatua hii ilizalisha 
Shilingi milioni (Kshs) 8,338. Aidha, kampuni lizalisha mapato ya 
jumla ya Shilingi (Kshs) milioni 2,193.

Libreville MogadishuMauritius
New York
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UPANUZI WA MITANDAO YETU

Kama ilivyoelezwa mapema, tulifungua njia mpya kama mo-
jawapo ya mikakati yetu ya ukuaji. Njia nne zilizinduliwa, tukiwa 
safari za kwenda Mauritius zilizoanza mnamo tarehe 7 Juni ikiwa 
na ndege ya aina ya E190, New York tarehe 28 Oktoba ikiwa 
na B788, Libreville, Gabon tarehe 29 Oktoba ikiwa na E190, na 
Mogadishu mnamo tarehe 18 Desemba kwa E145.
 
Mnamo Julai na Agosti, Kenya Airways iliongeza ndege za ziada 
kwenda Amsterdam na Paris ili kuimarisha mahitaji ya juu ya ma-
jira ya joto. KQ pia iliongeza ndege ya kwenda Cape Town, Afrika 
Kusini moja kwa moja.

Kenya Airways ilisimamisha shughuli za Jeddah mnamo Sep-
temba kwa nia ya kuwatumikia wateja kupitia ushirikiano uliopo. 
Tutaendelea kufanya kazi kwa ufanisi wa mipango ya mtandao 
ikiwa ni pamoja na kufungwa kwa njia zisizo na faida na uzinduzi 
wa uhusiano mpya wa biashara.

Uzinduzi wa Safari za New York

Katika mwaka wa 2018, uzinduzi wa safari za moja kwa moja 
hadi New York ulikuwa wenye matukio muhimu. Mpango wa 
matukio uliopangwa vyema ulifanyika na kukamilika kikamilifu, 
na uzinduzi huo ulikuwa wa kiwango cha juu kitaifa na kimataifa. 
Tukio hili liliongozwa na Rais wa Jamhuri ya Kenya H.E Uhuru 
Kenyatta na naibu wake H.E Dkt William Ruto. Picha iliyo hapa 
chini ni muhtasari wa baadhi ya mambo muhimu yaliyofanyika 
mwaka uliopita.

USHIRIKIANO

Kenya Airways inaendelea kutumia ushirikiano wake na washiri-
ka wengine ili kukuza mtandao wake. Mnamo mwaka wa 2018, Air 
France ilijiunga nasi pamoja na KLM (AFKL), timu ya uuzaji ili-
fanikiwa kufanya kampeni ya mtandao ya kuhamasisha mtandao 
wa pamoja, kukuza muunganisho wa usawa na bei za ushindani 
zinazotolewa na mashirika haya matatu ya ndege.

Mafanikio mengine muhimu yalianzishwa kwa kufanya mauzo ya 
pamoja nchini Rwanda huku Kenya Airways ikiwakilisha AFKL 
kwenye soko kupitia ushirika wenye ufanisi. Kwa jumla Ushirikia-
no wa Pamoja na AFKL ulileta mapato yanayotokana na abiria na 

ongezeko la uwezo wa kuendeleza biashara.

Uzinduzi mpya
 
Mnamo Agosti 1, 2018, Kenya Airways ilizindua huduma mpya 
ya upishi iliyozingatia nguzo tatu; Uafrika, Urahisi na Upekee. 
Mpango mpya wa mapishi pia ulizinduliwa.  Mpango huu unaleta 
pamoja wapishi ili kutengeneza mchangamko wa vyakula vina-
vyozingatia utamaduni wa Kiafrika na viungo mbalimbali vya 
kiasili. Zaidi ya hayo, shirika letu linaendelea kuhakikisha kuwa 
angalau zaidi ya 90% ya viungo vyote vilivyotumiwa wakati wa 
maandalizi wa vyakula vyake vyote ni vya Kenya ili kuunga mko-
no mpango wa Buy Kenya, Build Kenya.

Katika mpango huu mpya wa upishi, huduma ya vitafunio vye-
pesi katika safari fupi kuliko saa moja na huduma ya vitafunio 
kwa ndege katika safari za saa mbili hadi nne ilianzishwa. Abiria 
katika Business Class walio kwa safari za zaidi ya saa saba wa-
naweza sasa kufurahia mlo wa kibinafsi kutokana na kuanzishwa 
kwa huduma hii mpya. Mbali na hili, KQ ilianzisha kinywaji cha 
kipekee kwa kila mteja cha mchanganyiko wa mimea na matunda 
ya asili.

KQ ilizundua mpango wa pamoja wa uaminifu wa kampuni na Air 
France na KLM almaarufu BlueBiz. Soko kuu katika mpango huu 
likiwa soko la Kenya, ambapo BlueBiz itakuwa mpango muhimu 
kwa Madogo Nchini Kenya (SME), hali itakayoendelea kuimarisha 
uongozi wa Kenya Airways nchini Kenya.

Maendeleo ya Ndege Zetu

Tulikamilisha uuzaji wa ndege mbili kama sehemu ya mradi wa 
mabadiliko katika KQ. Kurudi mapema kwa ndege ya B787-8 
kutoka Oman kulikamilishwa ili kusaidia upanuzi wa mtandao wa 
ndege kuelekea Marekani. Ili kuboresha usafiri, ndege za B737-
800 ziliundwa upya, na mfumo mpya wa burudani ukawekwa.

 Ndege zinazohudumu

Aina ya ndege 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-18

Boeing 777-300ER                        -                          -

Boeing 777-200ER                      1*                          -

Boeing 787-8                       7                         8

Boeing 737-800                       8                         8

Boeing 737-700                       2                         2

Boeing 737-300                     2*                        1*

Boeing 737-300F                       2                         2

Embraer 190                      15                        15

Bombardier Dash 8-400                       3                         5

JUMLA                    40                       41

Mwaka ujao utaona kurudi kwa KQ 9 B787-8 kutoka kwa 
Oman Air, kama ilivyopangwa katika hatua ya kuunga mkono 
upanuzi wa mtandao wa Roma na Geneva. KQ inaangalia upa-
nuzi wa vipengee vya B777-300ER tatu kwa kipindi kingine.
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GHARAMA

Mbadiliko ya Bei ya Mafuta

Mabadiliko ya bei ya mafuta ilikuwa changamoto kubwa zaidi. 
Mafuta huchukua karibu 27 ya matumizi ya jumla ya Kenya 
Airways. Bei ya bei ya mafuta mwaka 2018 iliathiri utoaji wa gha-
rama ya mafuta ya ndege, na hivyo kuathiri gharama zote.
Bei kwa kila bareli ilikuwa juu tangu mwanzo wa 2018 na bei za 
Brent Crude zikifika dola 86 kwa kila bareli mwezi wa Septemba. 
Hata hivyo bei zimepungua katika miezi miwili iliyopita kufika 
dola 49 kwa bareli Desemba 2018. Ili kupunguza madhara ya 
mabadiliko ya bei ya mafuta, Kenya Airways imetekeleza sera ya 
uagizaji wa mafuta.

UMILIKI WA SOKO

Ushindani

Ushindani mkali uliathiri soko la Kenya. Washindani muhimu wa 
KQ waliendelea kukua katika masoko muhimu ya ndege hiyo 
wakiongozwa na Shirika la ndege la Ethiopia ambalo uwezo 
wake umeongezeka kwa asilimia 20. Aidha, uwezo wa Rwanda 
Air umeongezeka kwa 22%. Emirates na Qatar pia wameongeza 
uwezo wao katika soko kwa 6% na 12%. Gharama kubwa za ada 
za kutua, mafuta ni baadhi ya maswala yanayoendelea kuzuia 
ushindani wa KQ dhidi ya washindani hawa, kwa sababu KQ hai-
pati faida ya kuwa na JKIA kama kitovu chake, wakati washindani 
hawa wanapewa upendeleo katika masoko yao ya nyumbani.

Wafanyakazi

Kenya Airways inathamini mazingira ambayo watu wanahisi 
kuwa na uwezo na motisha. Kufikia mwisho wa Mwaka wa 2018, 
Kenya Airways ilikuwa na jumla ya wafanyakazi 4,763 walioaji-
riwa katika nchi 39. Wafanyakazi wa kudumu walifika 3,905 na 
wafanyakazi wa mkataba walikuwa 858. Katika mwaka uliopita 
2017, wafanyakazi wa kudumu walikuwa 3,548 na wafanyakazi wa 
mkataba walikuwa 1,028. Ongezeko la wafanyakazi wa kudumu 
kwa 10% inahusishwa hasa na uajiri ya wafanyakazi kutoka kwa 
watoa huduma wa nje kama mojawapo ya jitihada za kuboresha 
ushiriki wa wafanyakazi na motisha. Mnamo 2019 tutaendelea 
kuwawezesha wafanyakazi wetu kwa kushiriki katika uvumbuzi 
endelevu.

Hata hivyo, tumekuwa na jitihada za kuunganisha mahusiano ya 
vyama vya wafanyakazi kwa sababu ukosefu wa habari sahihi. 
Habari zisizo za uaminifu na kweli zinaendelea kuathiri vibaya 
uhusiano mzuri na wafanyakazi wetu.

Hitimisho

Ubora wa bidhaa na huduma ni muhimu katika mafanikio ya 
Kampuni, vile vile KQ itajitahidi kuunda mipango maalum ya ma-
fanikio ili kukidhi mahitaji na matarajio ya abiria wake. Ubora wa 
huduma zetu kwa wateja unabaki kuwa mojawapo ya vipengele 
vikuu. Tulianzisha bidhaa mpya ya upishi na mipango mingine 
ili kuleta mabadiliko. Mnamo mwaka wa 2019, KQ itahakikisha 
kwamba mipango hiyo inatekelezwa kikamilifu. Usimamizi wa 
kifedha unabaki kuwa changamoto kubwa zaidi lakini ambayo 
tunaweza kukabiliana nayo, lakini kuna matumanini ya kuim-
arika kifedha. Kukua kwa mapato katika shirika lolote la ndege 
kunaletwa na upanuzi wa mtandao wake. Kukua kwa mtandao 
kunawezekana tu iwapo kuna uwezo wa ziada. Mnamo mwaka wa 
2019, KQ inatarajia kuendeleza mipango ya upanuzi wa mtandao 
na kukuza ndege. Wasimamizi wana nia ya kujenga na kuanzisha 
mahusiano mazuri ili kukabiliana na masuala yoyote 
yanayotokea na kwa maslahi bora ya kila mtu.

Sebastian Mikosz
Mkurugenzi Mkuu

RATIBA YA NDEGE MWAKA 2019

Aina ya ndege Idadi ya ndege Sababu

Boeing 787-8                                   1 Ilikodishwa kwa Oman Air. Itarudi KQ mwezi Aprili 2019

Boeing 737-700                                (2) Mpango wa kukodisha unamalizika mnamo Agosti 2019.  

Boeing 737-300                                 (1)  Inatumika sasa kama ndege ya mafunzo

Ndege zilizoagizwa                                   - Hakuna maagizo kwa sasa. Hata hivyo, kuna mikakati kwa ajili ya upanuzi 
wa njia zaidi

JUMLA                                (2)

Global Fuel Price Brent Crude
(USD/Bbl)

Source: Bloomberg
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TRADE IS AN ESSENTIAL PART OF ANY GROWING 

ECONOMY. THIS IS THE REASON WE CARRY 180 

TONNES OF CARGO DAILY TO DIFFERENT 

DESTINATIONS AROUND THE WORLD.
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WE CARRY

180TONNES
OF CARGO DAILY
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The Board of Kenya Airways Plc understands that it has overall 
responsibility for the governance of the Company and that it is 
accountable to the shareholders and other stakeholders. The 
Board regards corporate governance as key to the achieve-
ment of the Company’s mission and vision, and is committed 
to applying the highest standards of corporate governance for 
the long term sustainability of the Company. 

The Board is responsible for providing the strategic direc-
tion to the Company, for formulating policies that support 
the delivery of the strategy and for ensuring that the Board 
and the Company as a whole has embraced good corporate 
governance practices in its structure, policies and operations. 
The Board oversees the operations of Management, exercises 
control and remains accountable through effective leadership, 
enterprise, integrity and good judgment. In this regard, the 
Board is committed to fostering a culture that values ethical 
behaviour, integrity and respect and the need to conduct 
the business and operations of the Airline and the Group in 
accordance with generally accepted corporate practices and in 
particular, with the Code of Corporate Governance for Issuers 
of Securities in Kenya (“the Code”). 

Board of Directors
The Articles of Association of the Company vests the gover-
nance of the Company in the Board of Directors. The Board is 
composed of eleven Directors as set out below;

Mr. Michael Joseph  -Independent Non-Executive  
   Director (Chairman)
Mr Sebastian Mikosz   -Group Managing Director 
    & CEO 
Mr Jozef Veenstra  - Non-Executive Director 
Dr. Kamau Thugge  - Non-Executive Director
Prof. Paul M. Maringa - Non-Executive Director 
Mrs Esther Koimett - Non-Executive Director
Ms Carol Musyoka - Non-Executive Director 
Dr Martin Oduor Otieno - Non-Executive Director 
Mr Jason Kapkirwok - Independent 
    Non-Executive Director
Ms Caroline Armstrong - Independent 
    Non-Executive Director 
Maj. Gen (Rtd) Michael Gichangi - Independent 
    Non-Executive Director 
Mr Festus Kingori - Alternate to 
    Dr. Kamau Thugge
Mr. Nicholas Bodo - Alternate to 
    Prof. Paul M. Maringa

The Board Charter has been disclosed on the Company’s 
website as required by the Code. The Board is also guided by 
a number of policies including a Code of Business Conduct, a 
Directors’ Code of Conduct, a Conflict of Interest and Gifts 
policy, Insider Trading Policy, Board Induction and Development 
Policy, Dispute Resolution Policy, Board Diversity Policy, Board 
Appointment Procedures as well as a Stakeholder Manage-
ment Policy.

The Board annually approves its Work Plan, which enables it 
to have a balanced view of the business and to be sufficiently 
forward looking. The Work plan also enables the Board to plan 
its activities in advance and to ensure that its Board meetings 
are planned and executed in an effective manner. Besides 
Board and Committee meetings, the Work Plan sets out other 
board activities including Board Evaluation, Board retreats and 
training as well as investor briefings. The Board’s Work Plan is 
approved before the commencement of the financial year to 
which it relates.  

The full Board plans quarterly meetings in order to conduct 
its affairs. When need arises, the Board also holds special 
meetings to fulfill its mandate and to guide the Management 
as appropriate. The Directors receive all relevant information 
for the discharge of their obligations in accurate, timely and 
clear form so that they can guide and maintain full and 
effective control over strategic, financial, operational and 
compliance issues. 

There is a clear separation of roles between the Board and 
Management, and this separation has been clearly stipulated 
in the Board Charter. The role of the Chairman of the Board is 
separate from that of the Group Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer, and in line with good governance practice, 
the Board has delegated authority for the conduct of day-to-
day business to the Group Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer. This delegation has been clearly defined in 
the Board Charter and in the Delegation of Authority matrix 
approved by the Board during the year under review. The 
Board nonetheless remains accountable for the overall 
management and long-term success of the Airline.

The Chairman is responsible for leadership and effective 
performance of the Board and for the maintenance of 
relations between Directors and Management. The Board acts 
collectively but remains aware that Directors are individually 
and collectively responsible for the governance of the 
Company.

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board takes its responsibilities 
seriously and clearly understands its role, 

powers, duties and functions.

In the performance of its role, the Board is guided by a Board 
Charter, which was last reviewed in November 2018.
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Attendance of Board meetings 

Board members commit to regularly attend and to be 
effectively participating in Board meetings through robust 
debate.  This is made possible by early planning.  Board 
attendance for the period under review is as set out below: 

Mr. Michael Joseph    -  8/8
Mr Sebastian Mikosz -  8/8 
Mr Jason Kapkirwok - 8/8
Ms Caroline Armstrong - 7/8
Mr Jozef Veenstra - 8/8
Major Gen. (Rtd) Michael Gichangi - 8/8
Mr Festus Kingori - 8/8
Mr. Nicholas Bodo - 7/8
Dr. Martin Oduor Otieno - 7/8
Ms Carol Musyoka - 8/8
Mrs Esther Koimett - 5/8

Board appointment, composition and Succession planning

As a result of the current shareholding structure, ten out of 
the eleven members of the Board are Non-Executive Direc-
tors. Four out of the remaining ten Directors are Independent, 
including the Chairman of the Board. 

The Board considers that collectively, the Directors have 
the range of skills, knowledge and experience necessary to 

direct the Company. In this regard, the Board has developed a 
detailed skills matrix that guides it in recommending directors 
for appointment. The Board’s skills matrix is aligned to the 
Company’s strategy and provides guidance for diversity in 
knowledge and experience, governance and industry skills, 
personal attributes as well as non-skills considerations such as 
gender and age. The skills matrix is used in conjunction with 
the Board Appointment Procedures and Board Diversity Policy 
which are published on the Company’s website. 

Non- Executive Board members are appointed for an initial 
term of three years and the Board implements term limits in 
line with the Articles of Association, the Board Charter and 
the Board rotation schedule. In this regard, the Independent 
Non-Executive Directors serve for a maximum of three terms 
of three years each. Re-appointment to the Board for a further 
term is dependent on good performance. Each Director has a 
detailed letter of appointment setting out the terms and condi-
tions of service including their fiduciary duties. Each Director 
has accepted their appointment in writing.

The Board manages its succession planning with the assistance 
of the Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee. The 
Committee has put in place a succession plan for the Board 
and in line with the skills matrix, reviews existing and desired 
competencies and guides the Board and shareholders accord-
ingly whenever appointments are to be made. All except the 
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DIRECTOR

Year 
of 1st 
Appoint-
ment

Year of 
re-election

Year of 
re-election

Year of 
re-election

Year of 
re-election

Year of 
re-election

Year of re-election

Dr. Kamau Thugge 2013 2016 2019

Ms. Caroline Armstrong 2014 2017 2020

Mr. Jason Kapkirwok 2015 X 2019

Mr. Michael Joseph 2016 2019

Mr. Jos Veenstra 2017 2020

Prof. Paul Maringa 2017 2020

Major Gen. Gichangi 2017 X 2021

Ms. Carol Musyoka 2017 2018 2021

Dr. Martin Otieno Oduor 2017 2018 2021

Mrs Esther Koimett 2017 2018 2021

Group Managing Director are subject to rotation in accordance 
with the Company’s Articles of Association, the Code, as well as 
the Board’s Rotation Policy. In this regard, three Directors will 
retire by rotation at the Annual General Meeting.
NOTES:
1.  Key: X – Should retire during the year but retirement moved 

to the following year to meet the one third rule in the Articles

2. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who (i) 
have been appointed by the Board since the previous annual 
general meeting in accordance with Article 67, (ii) being sub-
ject to retirement by rotation, have been the longest in office 
since their election or appointment, but as between persons 
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same 

day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among 
themselves) be determined by lot.

  During the year under review, Mrs Esther Koimett, Dr Martin 
Oduor Otieno and Ms Carol Musyoka were appointed to the 
Board at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held 
on 22nd June 2018. The three Directors, who were initially 
nominated by the majority shareholders, were vetted by the 
Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee and 
in line with the Board Appointment Procedures, the Board 
Diversity Policy and the Skills Matrix, were recommended by 
the Board to the shareholders and were duly elected to the 
Board unanimously.

Board Rotation schedule
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Board induction and continuous skills development

Upon appointment, Directors undergo a detailed, rigorous and 
formal induction programme in line with the Board Charter and 
the Company’s Board Induction and Development Policy. The 
aim of the induction program is to enable the new Director to 
become effective in their new role as quickly as possible. The 
new Director is therefore provided with pertinent information 
to help them understand the Company and their role. The new 
Director is also required to experience firsthand the key oper-
ations of the Company and a detailed walk about programme 
is prepared for this purpose. New Directors also meet senior 
Management, the Company Secretary and the Chairman of 
the Board before their first Board meeting. New Directors are 
also provided with an appointment letter setting out pertinent 
matters relating to their appointment as a Director and receive 
among others, copies of the Company’s Articles of Association, 
the Board work plan, the Board Charter and relevant Board 
Policies. The Board induction programme conducted during the 
year lasted three full days.

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee 
considers and recommends Board development programmes 
to ensure that the Board is kept up-skilled. During the year 
under review and in line with the Board development plan, the 
Board attended Board training for a minimum of 12 hours each. 
In particular, Board members attended workshops in industry 
matters to build their capacity in aviation matters, which is an 
area which had been identified as an area for development 
during the year.

Code of Business Conduct & Ethics

The Airline is committed to the highest standards of integrity, 
behaviour and ethics in dealing with all its stakeholders.  A formal 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics has been approved by the 
Board and is fully implemented to guide the Board, Management, 
employees and stakeholders on acceptable behaviour in conduct-
ing business. All Board members and employees of the Airline 
are expected to avoid activities and financial interests that could 
undermine their responsibilities to the airline. 

In addition, the Board applies a Conflict of Interest policy as well 
as a Code of Conduct specific to the Board. Directors are required 
to declare any conflict of interests upon appointment. In addition, 
a Director with an actual or potential conflict of interest in 
relation to a matter before the Board is required to disclose such 
interest and, recuse himself or herself from the discussions relat-
ing to the matter in question. In this regard, declaration of conflict 
of interest is a standing agenda item during Board and Committee 
meetings. In addition, Board members have an annual declaration 
of conflict of interest.

The Company has a strict insider trading policy to which the 
Directors and senior Management must adhere. The Board is not 
aware of any insider dealings during the period under review. All 
related party transactions have been considered by the Audit 
and Risk Committee and have been disclosed in the Company’s 
audited financial statements.
It is also expected that all Directors will exercise independent 
judgment and shall act in the best interest of the Company. In 
addition, during the annual Board Evaluation, the Board assesses 
the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors 
using a tool approved by the Board. During the year under review, 

the Board assessed the independence of the following Directors, 
who were all classified as being Independent Non-Executive 
Board members:

• Mr. Michael Joseph;
• Ms. Caroline Armstong;
• Major General Michael Gichangi; and
• Mr. Jason Kap-Kirwok. 

Board Evaluation 

During the year under review, the Board undertook a Board 
Evaluation exercise. The Board has since considered the 
Board Evaluation results and has allocated responsibility 
to specific organs and individuals to implement 
recommendations related to the responsibilities of such 
organs and individuals. 

Governance Audit

The Board subjected the Company to a Governance Audit and 
is committed to implementing recommendations meant to 
improve Board performance and effectiveness. 

Transparency and Disclosure

The Company is committed to ensuring that shareholders 
and other stakeholders are provided with full, accurate and 
timely information about its performance. This is achieved by 
the distribution of the Company’s Annual Report, the release 
of notices in the press and on the Company’s website of its 
half yearly and annual results, and quarterly disclosures of 
operating statistics to the stock markets and capital markets 
authorities.  There is also a minimum of two investor briefings 
per annum for institutional investors.

Periodically there are press releases announcing other major 
company developments, which could be considered price sen-
sitive information. In this regard, the company also complies 
with the continuing listing obligations of the Capital Markets 
Authorities and Securities Exchanges applicable in Kenya, 
Uganda and Tanzania.

The Annual Report is published each year on the Company’s 
website together with the notice of the Annual General Meeting.

There is regular communication with the staff as guided by the 
Human Resource Policies. 

External Consultants

When required, the Board seeks external advice or assistance 
on issues over which there is concern, if it is considered 
necessary.

Committees of the Board

The Board has four standing committees, which meet regularly 
under formal Terms of Reference (TORs) set and approved by 
the Board. The Committees’ TORs were revised by the Board in 
November 2018. This exercise was spearheaded by the Corpo-
rate Governance and Nominations Committee, which made its 
recommendations to the Board. The Committees’ meet before 
scheduled Board meetings and prepare and present their 
reports to the Board.
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee

This report highlights the composition, attendance of meet-
ings, role and key activities of the Audit and Risk Committee 
during the year. The report further outlines some of the focus 
areas for FY 2019.

Current Membership

• Dr. Martin Oduor-Otieno  - Chairman
• Dr. Kamau Thugge/Alternate - Member
• Mr. Jozef Veenstra - Member
• Mr. Jason Kap-Kirwok - Member
• Ms. Carol Musyoka - Member

The Group Managing Director, the Chief Finance Officer and 
the Head of Internal audit are permanent invitees to the Audit 
and Risk Committee.

All the Committee members are Non-Executive Directors. 
At least two of the members possess extensive professional 
knowledge and experience in the audit and accounting field. 

Attendance of meetings for FY 2018

• Dr. Martin Oduor-Otieno  -  9/9
• Mr. Festus King’ori  -  7/9
• Mr. Jozef Veenstra - 9/9
• Mr. Jason Kap-Kirwok - 9/9
• Ms. Carol Musyoka - 9/9

Mr. Dennis Wasike was appointed as Head of Internal Audit and 
Secretary to the Audit and Risk Committee on 19 November 
2018. Prior to that Mr. John Masika was the acting Head of 
Internal Audit and Secretary to the Audit and Risk Committee.

Mandate and role of the Audit and Risk Committee

The mandate of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Board is 
set out in the Board Charter. 

The Committee is established to assist the Board in the 
effective discharge of its oversight responsibilities over:

• Financial reporting and related internal controls
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that adequate 
systems and processes of accountability are in place; 
including the necessary internal control systems required 
to provide assurance over the integrity and timeliness 
of financial reporting. The Committee also reviews 
management accounts of the Group on a quarterly basis 
and financial statements at least twice during the year. 
This includes review of the management letter from the 
independent auditor. The Committee also oversees the 
consistent application of Group Accounting policies and 
ensures alignment of these to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

• Risk management
  The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the 

Group has an effective process of identifying, assessing 
and evaluating, managing and monitoring and reporting 

 significant risks.

• Internal audit
The Committee is responsible for monitoring and review-
ing the performance and effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal audit function, ensuring that the function is ade-
quately resourced and equipped with the necessary tools. 
The Committee approves the internal audit plan annually 
and reviews all significant findings from audit reviews.

• Independent auditor
The Committee is responsible for monitoring and review-
ing the performance of the independent auditor, evalu-
ating their independence and objectivity, recommending 
their appointment or change and approving the level 
of audit fees payable to them. Being the point of liaison 
between the independent auditor and the Board, the 
committee is also responsible for managing relationships. 

• Ethics and Compliance
The Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance 
with the Group’s Business Code of Conduct. This also 
entails ensuring that an effective whistle blowing mech-
anism aimed at encouraging stakeholders to report mat-
ters that would be helpful in enforcing good governance 
practices within the organisation exists.

Key Activities in FY 2018 

During the year under review, the key activities of the 
Committee included
 • Implementation of an online and enhanced whistle   
  blowing platform;
 • Enhancing the effectiveness of the internal audit   
   function by facilitating the acquisition of the ACL GRC 

tool. This tool has enabled automation of audit, risk and 
compliance programs thereby enhancing effectiveness 
and governance. The tool will also be used to perform 
data analytics, both during routine audit reviews and for 
continuous auditing; and

 • The Committee continued to ensure that the internal  
   audit function was adequately resourced. In addition, 

the Committee continued to play its oversight role over 
the operations of the Group; with focus on significant 
risk areas including: fuel hedge management, credit 
risk, utilization of assets (aircrafts) among others.

Looking forward 

The focus of the Committee in 2019 will continue to be the 
strengthening of the internal control and governance 
processes across the Group. This will include enhancement 
of the framework for evaluating the internal control 
environment on a quarterly basis and also full optimization of 
the ACL GRC tool – specifically in Enterprise Risk 
Management (ERM) and data analytics for continuous 
auditing. 

Dr. Martin Oduor-Otieno
Chairman – Audit and Risk Committee

29 April 2019
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Report of the Corporate Governance and Nominations 

Committee 

Current Membership

• Mr. Michael Joseph - Chairman

• Dr. Kamau Thugge/Alternate - Member

• Major General (Rtd) Michael Gichangi - Member

• Mr. Sebastian Mikosz -  Member

• Ms. Carol Musyoka - Member

In compliance with the Code, the Chairman of the Committee 

is an Independent Non-Executive Board member. The other 

committee members with the exception of the Group Manag-

ing Director are Non-Executive Board members..

Mandate

The Committee’s mandate is to oversee and monitor the 

Company’s Corporate Governance policies, practices and 

guidelines and to establish transparent policies and process-

es for the identification of suitable candidates for nomination 

and election or re-election as Directors of the Company. 

Achievements during the year under review

During the year under review, the Committee held four meet-

ings with 100% attendance per member as shown below:

Mr Michael Joseph   - 4/4

Mr. Festus King’ori   - 4/4

Major General (Rtd) Michael Gichangi - 4/4

Mr Sebastian Mikosz  -  4/4

Ms Carol Musyoka   - 4/4

The following achievements were realised, among others:

• Subjected the Company to a Governance Audit;

• Subjected the Board to an annual Board Evaluation;

• Assessed and recommended to the shareholders the   

 appointment of three Directors;

• Ensured Board training in industry matters;

• Assessed the Company’s corporate governance practices  

  against the Capital Markets Authority’s Code of Corpo-

rate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities; 

• Revised and recommended to the Board a revised Board  

 Charter, Committee Terms of Reference as well as related  

 Board policies; and

• Developed and recommended to the Board a Board Work   

 Plan.

Looking forward

The Committee is committed to driving the Corporate 

Governance Agenda of the Company and in this regard it 

shall continue to benchmark against best practice with a 

view to adopting best practices that will further the business 

objectives of the Company. In particular, the Committee will 

consider and draw up a road map for the implementation 

of accepted recommendations arising from the Governance 

Audit.

Mr Michael Joseph

Chairman – Corporate Governance and Nominations 

Committee

29 April 2019 

Report of the Strategy & Business Development Committee 

Current Membership

• Mr. Jason Kap-Kirwok - Chairman

• Dr. Kamau Thugge/Alternate - Member

• Mr. Jozef Veenstra - Member

• Ms. Caroline Armstrong - Member

• Prof. Paul Maringa/Alternate  - Member

• Major General (Rtd) Michael Gichangi - Member 

 

The Group Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer are 

invitees to the Committee’s meetings.

Mandate

The purpose of the Strategy and Business Development 

Committee is to assist the Board in considering the vari-

ous strategic options available to the Company and make 

recommendations to the Board regarding the development 

and implementation of the Company’s strategic plans and 

appropriate commercial and operational activities in line with 

the Company’s long-term strategy. 

Summary of achievements during the year under review 

During the period under review, the Committee held six meet-

ings. The focus of its work was giving advice and guidance on 

the development and execution of the commercial strategy, 

including network and fleet development as well as new busi-

ness development, operational efficiency and effectiveness. 

Some of these highlights are listed below:

• Provided guidance on system wide network review 
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 process,  incorporating Jambojet and Precision Air

 operations, with a view to optimising operations and   

 profitable growth of market share;

• Reviewed and provided guidance on Kenya Airways’ 

 Digital  Transformation Strategy to improve product 

 offering and increase the Company’s competitive edge;

• Reviewed and provided guidance on the updated 5-Year   

 plan;

• Provided guidance on Corporate Key Performance 

 indicators; 

• Reviewed and provided guidance on new network 

 destinations, including New York; and

• Reviewed and provided guidance on Kenya Airways’   

 Cargo Strategy.

Looking forward

Globally, the airline industry in aggregate is expected to deliver 

strong growth in 2019, capping a decade of profitability. Whilst 

capital restructuring and a robust business turnaround strategy 

has provided Kenya Airways some ‘breathing space’, the journey 

to profitability will continue to be slow but steady.  

Going forward, the Committee’s work will focus on keeping the 

recovery on course through a range of strategic initiatives, 

including business diversification. Digital transformation and 

consolidation of cargo performance will be key, as well as ensur-

ing the success of Project Simba. Operationally, the Committee 

will provide guidance on operational discipline in the execution 

of Commercial Strategy.      

Mr. Jason Kap-Kirwok

Chairman – Strategy and Business Development Committee

29 April 2019

Report of the Human Resources Committee 

Membership

• Ms. Caroline Armstrong - Chair

• Ms. Esther Koimett - Member

• Mr. Jason Kap-Kirwok - Member

• Mr. Martin Oduor-Otieno - Member

• Mr. Sebastian Mikosz - Member

Mandate

The Human Resources Committee assists the Board in fulfill-

ing its mandate with regard to the human capital and talent 

development of the Group. The overall scope is to ensure that 

the Group attracts and retains individuals who are qualified 

and productive by job related standards of education, training, 

experience and personal attitude.

The Committee is empowered to:-

• Ensure the Company has in place and implements Human  

 Resources strategic objectives;

• Continually review and formulate Human Resources 

 management policies of the Company;

• Identify and implement best practices with regard to staff  

 development and retention; and

• Review and propose an optimal organisational structure  

 including staffing levels.

Achievements during the year under review

The year 2018 was a significant year for Kenya Airways Plc and 

there were substantial achievements under the Human Resource 

(HR) agenda, some of which are highlighted below:- 

• The Company has been focusing on putting the right people  

  in the right jobs and increasing productivity. To this end 

93% of the workforce underwent training and the workforce 

expanded by 61 staff across the Group, a formidable achieve-

ment;

• We filled 74% of the required senior management roles   

   including 4 Leadership team roles. Over 50% of the roles 

were filled by existing Kenya Airways employees in line 

with the Company’s aim to promote from within as far as 

possible. The recruitments brought in more aviation sector 

experience to bolster existing capacity; 

• 60% of the top 50 management team are women, a statistic  

  never achieved before and rarely seen in the Kenyan con-

text; 

• Four new routes were opened in the year, one of them being  

  New York. This saw Kenya Airways  use two crews on a flight 

for the first time and the operations went smoothly;

• Various agreements were entered into with the unions,   

  KALPA and KAWU, that enabled increased use of existing 

pilots, the crewing of New York and contract staffing;

• The Company won its appeal against the law suit filed by  

  engineers who had gone on strike with the Court ruling 

against the engineers;

• A new ERP was implemented which will enable HR to 

 automate more processes and thus drive efficiency; and 

• All the achievements and the expansion of the workforce  

 were achieved while staying within budget.   

Looking forward

For the success of the Group, the Management and the Board 

will continue to focus on generating more efficiencies, 

especially regarding productivity. The aim is to grow the 

business while offering better opportunities to our staff and 
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improving the financial performance of the Group through the 

improved productivity of our people. The extent of our perfor-

mance and success will be contributed to by our people and we 

look forward to positive engagements with our unions so that 

all parties work towards a common success. We will continue to 

manage our talent and develop them, while also recruiting the 

best people that we can when required. 

The Committee remains focused on ensuring that the Group 

attracts and retains high performing, committed and motivated 

staff who show integrity with whom we can collectively deliver 

the Group’s success and growth.

Ms. Caroline Armstrong 

Chair – Human Resources Committee 

29 April 2019

Internal Controls

The Board through the Audit and Risk Committee ensures that 

the Group has defined procedures for internal controls to ensure 

the integrity of the assets of the Airline and the reporting 

of complete and accurate financial information. These cover 

systems for obtaining authority for major transactions and 

for ensuring compliance with laws and regulations that have 

significant financial implications. Procedures are also in place to 

ensure that assets are subject to proper physical controls and 

that the organisation remains structured to ensure appropriate 

segregation of duties. In reviewing the effectiveness of the sys-

tems of internal control, the Board takes into account the results 

of all the work carried out by the Internal Audit team and re-

views the activities of the Group. A comprehensive management 

accounting system is in place providing financial and operational 

performance measurement indicators. Weekly meetings are held 

by Executive Management to monitor performance and to agree 

on measures for improvement.

Management is constantly updating and activating any changes 

in legislation or regulations pertinent to the Company and liaises 

with the Kenya Civil Aviation Authority on such changes.  They 

participate in workshops and lobby either individually or as an 

industry through the Air Operators Association and other bodies 

for changes which are considered prudent or likely to affect the 

Company.

Risk Governance

The Board has put in place an Enterprise Risk Management 

Framework. The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 

ensuring that both strategic and operational risks are identified 

and managed in accordance with the processes set out in the 

Enterprise Risk Management Framework.

Internal audit

The Internal Audit function reports to the Board through the 

Audit and Risk Committee. Internal Audit is independent of both 

business management and of the activities it reviews. Internal 

Audit provides assurance that the design and operation of 

the Group’s risk management and internal control system is 

effective. A risk-based audit approach is used to ensure that the 

annual audit Work Plan targets the higher risk activities in each 

business unit or function. All audits are conducted in a manner 

that conforms to international auditing standards.

External auditor relationship

The Audit and Risk Committee oversees the appointment and 

relationship with the external auditor including the requirement 

to ensure the independence of the external auditor. 

Strategic planning process

The Board has adopted both a long term and short term strate-

gic planning process. Management are guided in the planning 

process by the Strategy and Business Development Committee, 

which proposes to the Board the adoption of both the long term 

and short terms plans. In addition, the Board approves the annual 

business plan supported by an agreed budget. The plans take 

into account identified risks and opportunities. The Strategy and 

Business Development Committee is responsible for monitoring 

the implementation of approved plans.  

Succession planning

The Board has approved a succession plan for senior 

management. The Human Resource Committee is responsible 

for ensuring that the succession plan is reviewed regularly and 

that the necessary interventions are in place to ensure that 

the Company is not exposed to the risks that come with gaps in 

organisational structure.

Compliance with laws and regulations and standards

The Board seeks to ensure compliance with applicable laws and 

regulations and receives regular reports on legal matters. The 

airline industry is highly regulated and the accountable manager 

is charged with the responsibility of ensuring with applicable 

laws, regulations, standards and protocols. While an external 

legal and compliance audit for the year under review was not 

carried out, to the best of its knowledge, the Board is not aware 

of any material departures from required compliance. 

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Cont inued)



ANNUAL REPORT & F INANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018 41

Directors emoluments and loans

The Board has put in place a Board Remuneration Policy and the 

aggregate amount of emoluments paid to Directors including 

benefits enjoyed for services rendered during the financial year 

2018 are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, and 

more particularly set out in the Director’s Remuneration Report 

contained in this annual report on pages 51 – 53. The Sharehold-

ers approved the Board Remuneration Policy and Board remu-

neration at the Annual General Meeting held on 22 June 2018. 

At no time during the year was there any arrangement to which 

the Company was a party, whereby Directors acquired bene-

fits by means of transactions in the Company’s shares outside 

applicable law.

Directors interests in the shares of the company as at 31 Decem-

ber 2018 was as follows:-

Directors’ interests

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary of the Company is FCS Catherine Mu-

sakali, a member of the Institute for Certified Secretaries and is 

in good standing.

Information Technology (IT)

The Information Technology Strategy aims to bring excellence in 

technology to Kenya Airways by leveraging the power of modern 

digital & innovative solutions to drive new business paradigms. 

A ‘cloud-first’ approach will ensures that all Technology Assets 

are adaptable and scalable. There is a renewed focus on Cyber-

security to establish resilience. There is also a focus on improved 

integration to deliver flexibility and performance.

We aim to work with our service partners who will complement 

our capabilities and extend our capacity to deliver best-in-class 

IT services.  Growing these partnerships will contribute to the 

local economy and promote the development of technology 

skills in Kenya.

Our Digital Transformation Program will create an experience 

that will delight our customers, enable operational excellence 

and drive value for our people, our business partners and our 

shareholders.

Procurement 

The objective of the Kenya Airways procurement policy is to 

deliver the best possible value for money and spend optimisation 

for the Company’s procurement requirements through the use 

of professional procurement practices aligned with the Compa-

ny’s corporate objectives. 

The procurement policy is set out to provide uniformity, 

inclusivity, fairness, professionalism, honesty and transparency 

in the management of procurement activities within the context 

of Corporate Policies, with the key aim of obtaining value for 

money. The Policy aims at optimising supply chain efficiency, 

effectiveness and enhanced supplier relationships by designing 

supply frameworks, rationalising the supplier base, and 

developing long term strategic partnerships with competent, 

like minded suppliers. Integrity remains the gate to conducting 

business with Kenya Airways.

Stakeholder Management

The reputation of the Company is a key focus for the Board. The 

Communications & Public Affairs Department plays a key role 

in how the public (shareholders, customers, suppliers, investors 

and the general public), as well as staff, perceive Kenya Airways. 

The Department manages the organisation’s reputation and 

ensures that the demands of the ever-changing business and 

regulatory environments are taken into consideration in 

decision-making. The Board is responsible for guiding the 

strategic direction for communication strategies across the 

Company and the department is responsible for implementing 

these.

An engagement strategy targeting key stakeholders including 

media and internal staff to improve the public’s appreciation and 

to increase confidence in Kenya Airways has been developed.  

Underpinning this strategy is the building of internal capacity 

for content development, development of new, and alignment of 

existing digital communication solutions and processes, enabling 

greater control of Kenya Airways’ reputation.
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Cabinet Secretary to the 
National Treasury

          2,847,844,811

Mr. Nicholas Bodo                         1,050

Ms Carol Musyoka                        6,675

Major General Michael Gichangi                        2,025
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT GOVERNANCE AUDITOR 

The Board Responsibility 

Board is responsible for planning, designing and maintaining 

governance structures, systems policies, practices and operations 

that support the practice of Good Governance in Kenya Airways 

PLC (the Company).  This responsibility includes maintaining 

appropriate autonomy, authority and ethical leadership that 

promotes a culture of accountability, transparency, fairness 

and integrity.  The Board also provides strategic direction, 

oversight, control and performance management, while ensuring 

implementation of policies for delivering long-term sustainability, 

compliance with applicable laws and regulations and remaining 

accountable to shareholders and relevant stakeholders.  

The Board approved the revised Board Charter, Code of Conduct, 

and other Policy documents that provide a foundation for Good 

Corporate Governance aligned to the CMA Code of Corporate 

Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public, 

2015, during its meeting held on 16th November 2018.

The Board then commissioned the Governance Audit to 

assess whether, at 31 December 2018, the Company’s Corporate 

Governance Principles and Practices were consistent with the 

CMA Code. 

Governance Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the existence and 

effectiveness of Governance instruments, policies, structures, 

systems and practices in the Company within the legal and 

regulatory framework and in accordance with best Governance 

Practices as envisaged under the CMA’s Code of Corporate 

Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public, 2015. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with ICS Governance 

Audit Standards and Guidelines, which conform to global 

Standards. These Standards require that we plan and perform 

the Governance Audit to obtain reasonable assurance on the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s policies, systems, 

practices and processes.  The audit involved obtaining audit 

evidence on a sample basis. We believe that the Governance 

Audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 

Emphasis Of Matter

Through a Circular to the Shareholders issued on 16th July 2017, 

the Board Chairman described various Agreements entered 

into by the Company in connection with the Restructuring 

process. The Directors informed the Governance Auditor that the 

Agreements were confidential and therefore could not be availed 

for review. The Directors also informed the Governance Auditor 

that the Agreements do not contain any restrictive covenants 

and conditionalities which could impact on the Board’s ability to 

exercise independent judgement and act in the best interests of 

the Company, Shareholders and other Stakeholders 

Opinion

In our opinion, except for emphasis of matter above which does 

not affect our overall opinion, the Board has put in place a sound 

governance framework to ensure compliance with the legal and 

regulatory framework and in line with best governance practices 

for the interest of stakeholders.

CS Michael Itote, ICPSK GA. No 0058

For Management Audit Consulting Ltd  

GOVERNANCE AUDIT  OPINION
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WITH 53 DESTINATIONS ACROSS THE GLOBE, 

ALONG WITH PARTNERSHIPS THAT MAKE TRAVEL 

CONNECTIONS EASIER, WE SERVE MILLIONS OF 

PASSENGERS ANNUALLY. THIS INCLUDES MILLIONS 

OF TOURISTS TRAVELLING THE WORLD AND 

MAKING NEW MEMORIES
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WE SERVE

MILLIONS
OF PASSENGERS
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Group Results

Turnover (KShs Million)

Dec-18
114,185

80,799
Dec-17

Net loss (KShs Million)

Dec-18
 (7,558)

Dec-17

Operating (loss)/Profit (KShs Million)

Dec-18
(683)

 1,008 
Dec-17

Capital and reserves (KShs Million)

Dec-18
(2,489)

4,857 
Dec-17

Loss before tax (KShs Million)

Dec-18
 (7,588)

 (6,306)
Dec-17

Basic loss per share (KShs)

Dec-18
 (1.30)

Dec-17

Key Financial Statistics

Debt to equity

Dec-18
(3.4)

(2.1)
Dec-17

Operating margin

Dec-18
(0.6)

Dec-17

EBITDAR margin (%)

Dec-18
15.1%

10.9 
Dec-17

Interest cover

Dec-18
(0.54)

(0.51)
Dec-17

Operating Statistics

Passengers carried

Dec-18
4,839,023

3,432,999
Dec-17

Available seats KM (million)

Dec-18
14,559

10,596
Dec-17

Cargo uplifted (Tonnes)

Dec-18
64,238

47,908
Dec-17

Cabin factor (%)

Dec-18
77.6

76.2
Dec-17

Revenue passengers KM (million)

Dec-18
11,293

8,079
Dec-17

(6,418) (1.10)

1.2

TURNOVER BY REGION

2017

Rest of Africa, 51%

Asia, 19%

Europe, 24%

Kenya, 6%    

2018

Asia, 17%

Rest of Africa, 50%

Europe, 24%

Kenya, 8%    

North 
America, 1%    

PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

11,28714,551
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THREE YEAR SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

Financial Highlights

The Group      
 KShs. Million US$ Million KShs. Million US$ Million KShs. Million US$ Million
Turnover       
Passenger 95,187   939.4  67,613  653.9  89,845  890.5
Freight & Mail 8,468   83.6  5,544  53.6  7,220  71.6  
Handling 2,193   21.6  1,546  15.0  2,150  21.3  
Other 8,337   82.3  6,096  58.9  7,062  70.0 

Total 114,185   1,126.9  80,799  781.4  106,277  1,053.3  
Direct Expenditure (75,030)  (740.4) (51,719) (500.2) (65,356) (647.7)
Fleet Ownership Costs (18,929)  (186.8) (12,535) (121.2) (15,524) (153.9)
Overheads (20,909)  (206.3) (15,537) (150.3) (24,500) (242.8)

Operating Profit (Loss) (683)  (6.7) 1,008 9.7  897 8.9
Operating Margin% (0.6%)  1.2%  0.8%  
Net Finance Costs (5,017)  (49.5) (4,891) (47.6) (7,330) (72.7)
Fuel Hedge Derivatives -  -    - -  312 3.1
Other Costs (1,888)  (18.6) (2,423) (23.1) (4,081) (40.4)

Loss before tax (7,588)  (74.9) (6,306) (61.0) (10,202) (101.1) 
Income tax credit / (expense)  30   0.3  (112) (1.1) 246 2.4
Loss for the year (7,558)  (74.6) (6,418) (62.1) (9,956) (98.7)

Loss after Tax margin% (6.6%)  (7.9%)  (9.4%)  

Operating Statistics Dec-18  Dec-17  Mar-17  

Passengers  4,839,023    3,432,999   4,460,375  
RPK’s (Millions)  11,287    8,079    10,261  
ASK’s (Millions)  14,551    10,596    14,194  
Passenger Load Factor (%)  77.6   76.2  72.3  
Cargo Tonnes  64,238    47,908   56,825  
Exchange Rate  101.33    103.39   100.90  
Employees       
Airline 3,736  2,969  3,027  
Group  3,905    3,548   3,582  
Aircraft in Service at Year End       
Boeing 787-8 8  7  7   
Boeing 737-800 8  8  8  
Boeing 737-700 2  2  2  
Boeing 737-300 -  2  2 
Embraer 190 15  15  15  
B737-300 Freighter 2  2  2  
Bombardier Dash 8-400 5  3  2
Total 40  39  38
Dormant
Boeing 777-200     -  1  1
Boeing 737-300 1  2  2
  
Leased / Sub-leased       
Boeing 777-300 3  3  3
Boeing 787-8 1  2  2  
       

Total 45  47  46

Dec-18
9 months ended 

Dec-17 (Restated) Mar-17
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The Directors present their annual report together with the 

audited consolidated and company financial statements of 

Kenya Airways Plc (“Kenya Airways” or the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended 

31 December 2018, in accordance with Section 653(1) of the 

Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, which discloses the state of their 

financial affairs. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are international, regional and 

domestic carriage of passengers and cargo by air, the provision 

of ground handling services to other airlines and the handling 

of import and export cargo. The Group operates domestic and 

international flights and flies to 53 destinations in Africa, Middle 

East, Asia, Europe and North America. 

As at 31 December 2018, the Group operated 40 aircraft, either 

owned or on operating leases. These comprised eight Boeing 787 

wide body jets, ten Boeing 737 narrow body jets, fifteen Embraer 

regional jets, two Boeing 737 freighters; formerly 

passenger aircraft and five Bombardier Dash 8-400

RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR YEAR RESULTS

The Group’s and Company’s financial statements include a 

restatement of the statement of financial position as at 1 April 

2017, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income and statement of financial position for the 9 month 

period ended 31 December 2017 to correct prior period errors on 

fleet accounting and loan reclassification, these are covered in 

note 40 of the financial statements.

RESULTS

The Group’s and Company’s net loss for the year ended 31 

December 2018 is KShs 7,558 million and KShs 7,812 million (for 

the 9 month period ended 31 December 2017: KShs 6,418 million 

and KShs 6,639 million) respectively. These have been deducted 

from the respective accumulated loss. The Group’s and Company’s 

results for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out on 

pages 63 and 64 respectively.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend payment of dividends in 
respect of the current financial year (2017: nil).

DIRECTORS

The current Board of Directors who held office during the year 
and to the date of this report are as shown on page 2.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Our Values

Be the Pride of Africa, by inspiring our people and delighting our 
guests consistently.  

Mission

To maximise stakeholder value by consistently:

• Providing highest levels of customer satisfaction;
• Upholding the highest level of safety and security; and
• Maximising employee satisfaction.
• Whilst being committed to corporate and social responsibility

Strategic Objective

Contributing to the sustainable development of Africa. 

Summary

Kenya Airways (KQ) has continued its focus on the turnaround 
programme. The capital optimisation program is complete. 
Substantial management changes have been made with the 
objective of ensuring financial and operating sustainability. The 
Company has undertaken many actions including the following:

• Key focus on boosting revenue and improving the customer  
 journey;
• Network expansion through introduction of new routes;
• Senior management changes; and
• Organisational changes.

Within the context of the actions highlighted above, The Board of 
Kenya Airways is announcing the results showing:

• A change in operating profit margin from a restated 1.1% in  
  the 9-month period ended 31 December 2017 to  a loss of 

0.6% for the year ended 31st December 2018; and
• An improvement in the group net loss margin from a 
  restated loss of 8.0% in the 9-month period ended 31 
 December 2017 to a loss of 6.6% in the year ended 31 
 December 2018.

The Group will continue to focus on improving operations and 
growing an efficient network. The capital restructuring provides 
a stable base for the long-term growth of our network, creating 
more city pairs in Africa and in the world as well as focusing on 
improved service quality and service delivery. 

Turnaround program

During the year, the Executive continued the business 
turnaround programme. The programme has the following 
objectives:
• Return to profitability through revenue enhancement and  
 cost optimisation; and
• Refocusing and resizing the business model and enhancing  
 partnerships.
As a result, the Group and Company has been able to see the 
benefits of the turnaround strategy in the two areas targeted for 
improvement.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Group’s and Company’s operating loss for the year ended 31 

December 2018 was KShs 683 million and KShs 906 million re-

spectively. The Group’s and Company’s restated operating profit 

for the 9-month period ended 31 December 2017 stood at KShs 

1,008 million and KShs 677 million. 

The industry remains highly competitive as airlines continue to 

be weighed down by continuous pressure on yield, major curren-

cy fluctuations, volatile fuel prices and a changing commodity 

price environment. 

Capacity and traffic 

The year was marked with expansion into 4 new destinations 

namely, New York City, Mauritius, Libreville and Mogadishu as 

well as increased frequencies to some destinations. The Group’s 

capacity measured in terms of Available Seat Kilometres (ASK) 

stood at 14,559 million (12 months) in 2018 and 10,596 million 

(9 months) in 2017. The uptake of this capacity measured in 

terms of Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK) closed at 11,293 

million (12 months) in 2018 compared to 8,079 million

 (9 months) in 2017.

Turnover

The Group’s and Company’s turnover closed at KShs 114,185 

million and KShs 107,820 million respectively for the year ended 

31 December 2018 and KShs 80,799 million for the Group and 

KShs 77,264 million for the Company for the 9-month period 

ended 31 December 2017. The revenue was impacted positively 

by improved passenger numbers as well as improved yield.

Cargo and freighter

Cargo tonnage on both passenger belly and freighter aircraft 

stood at 64,238 tonnes for the year ended 31 December 2018 

and 47,908 tonnes for the 9-month period ended 31 December 

2017.  The cargo business has been focusing on boosting the 

cargo product across the network and revenue maximization has 

improved the cargo performance for the year. 

Direct operating and fleet costs

The total direct operating costs amounted to KShs 75,030 mil-

lion for year ended 31 December 2018 at Group level and KShs 

72,318 million at Company level. The 9-month period ended 31 

December 2017 closed the Group level at KShs 51,719 million and 

the Company level at KShs. 49,913 million.  Global fuel prices 

have been volatile throughout the year reaching a three year 

high in September 2018. 

Fleet ownership costs at Group level amounted to KShs 18,929 

million and KShs 17,616 million for the Company for the year end-

ed 31 December 2018.  The 9-month period ended 31 December 

2017 amounted to KShs 12,535 million at Group level and KShs 

12,150 million at Company level.

Overheads

The Group’s and Company’s overheads amounted to KShs 

20,909 million and KShs 18,792 million respectively for the year 

ended 31 December 2018. The 9-month period ended 31 Decem-

ber 2017 amounted to KShs 15,537 million for the Group and 

KShs 14,524 million for the Company.  

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Cont inued)

Employee statistics

The tables below summarise the number and composition of employees in terms of gender:

i) Categorisation by employment contract

2018 2017

Permanent 3,905 3,548

Contracted 858 1,028

Total 4,763 4,576

ii) Categorisation by gender

2018 2017

Male Female Male Female

Senior leadership 75% 25% 67% 33%

Head of Departments 64% 36% 68% 32%

Senior managers 82% 18% 81% 19%

Overall 80% 20% 62% 38%
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Key Corporate risks and mitigating factors

The Group is exposed to risks in its business environment which 

affects the achievement of the objectives. To lessen the impact 

on the business, mitigating factors have been put in place. The 

Group has an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process for 

identifying, evaluating and managing risks. The process also 

entails monitoring and reporting of risks to the Audit and Risk 

Management Committee. 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Cont inued)

The table below summarises the key risks faced by the Group and Company:

Risk Description Mitigating actions

1 Competition Competitive operating 
environment as a result of action 
from other players (existing and 
new entrants)

• Continuous monitoring of action by competition;
• Continuous development of our products and 
   qual ity of services;
•  Leveraging on strategic partnerships with other
   industry players; and
•  Continuous development of the KQ brand.

2 Liquidity risk Inability to service our financial 
obligations as and when they fall 
due

• Implementation of various initiatives to 
  improve efficiency across the Group.

3 Safety and security risks Occurrence of incidences that 
threaten the safety and security 
of our customers and employees 
or result into damage of assets

• Continuous safety and security risk 
   assessment and prompt resolution of gaps 
   identified;
• Strict adherence to security policy and 
   procedures;
• Regular training on safety and security 
  matters; and
• Close collaboration with relevant security 
   authorities.

4 Volatility in fuel prices Fluctuations in the fuel prices 
driven by global crude oil prices

• Competitive sourcing of fuel suppliers;
• Continuous monitoring of trends in global 
   fuel prices; and
• Fuel hedging arrangements.

5 Currency exposure Inability to repatriate funds 
trapped in some of the markets 
that we operate in.

• Continuous monitoring of economic 
   performance of our markets;
• Ticket sales in hard currencies in risky 
   markets; and
• Continuous engagement with relevant 
   government authorities in those markets.

6 Geopolitical risks Possible negative impact on the 
operations as a result of political 
changes or instability affecting 
our markets.

• Continuous monitoring of political activities 
   across  different markets;
•  Wide network coverage and destinations; and
•  Close collaboration and engagement with 
   relevant stakeholders and governments.

7 Litigation risk Legal action arising from normal 
cause of business with third par-
ties or employees

• Strict adherence to contractual terms; and
• Involvement of internal and external legal 
   counsel.

8 Regulatory Failure to comply with various 
regulatory requirements thereby 
resulting into fines and penalties

• Continuous monitoring of changes in laws 
   and regulations; and
• Established mechanisms to ensure strict 
   compliance and continuous monitoring of 
   compli ance.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Cont inued)

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT AS TO INFORMATION GIVEN TO 

AUDITORS

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of 

this report confirms that:

•  so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit  

 i nformation of which the Group’s and Company’s auditors 

are unaware; and

•  the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to  

  have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself 

aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 

that the Group’s and Company’s auditors are aware of that 

information.

AUDITORS 

Deloitte & Touche, having expressed their willingness, continue 

in office in accordance provisions of section 719 (2) of the Ken-

yan Companies Act, 2015. The Directors monitor the effective-

ness, objectivity and independence of the auditor. The Directors 

also approve the annual audit engagement contract, which sets 

out the terms of the auditor’s appointment and the related fees.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Catherine Musakali
Secretary

Key Corporate risks and mitigating factors (Continued)

Risk Description Mitigating actions

9 IT and cyber security Failure of IT infrastructure and 
external attacks to the IT envi-
ronment

• Establishment of disaster recovery plans 
  (DRPs)  and business continuity plans (BCPs); and
• Robust processes to safeguard against IT 
   infrastructure threats.

10 Credit risk Inability to recover debts from our 
customers in full

•  Periodic review of the credit policy and 
   strict enforcement of credit terms; and
•  Continuous monitoring of debtor performance 
   and follow up.
•  Loss allowance provision in line with IFRS 9

11 Disruption in supply of 
essential goods and 
services

Possible disruption in the supply 
of essential goods and services 

•  Use of multiple vendors for essential supplies 
   of goods and services; and
•  Rigorous vetting process for vendors.

12 Fraud Misappropriation or misuse of as-
sets belong to the Group by staff 
and external s
takeholders

•  Strict enforcement of the Code of Business 
   Conduct;
•  Fraud awareness programs focusing of 
    preventive measures; and
•  Whistle blowing mechanisms.
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D IRECTORS’  REMUNERATION REPORT

INFORMATION NOT SUBJECT TO AUDIT

Chairman’s statement

The Directors remuneration policy sets out the guidelines that the 

Group and Company have applied to remunerate its Executive and 

Non-Executive Directors. The Directors remuneration report has 

been prepared in accordance with the relevant provisions of the 

Capital Markets Authority (CMA) code of Corporate Governance 

and the requirements of the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015.

The Group’s and Company’s Corporate Governance and Nomina-

tions committee (“the committee”) of the Board is responsible for 

overseeing and monitoring the Group’s and Company’s corpo-

rate governance policies, practices and guidelines.

The Committee is mandated to review the remuneration of the 

Directors to ensure that the same is competitive and aligned 

with the business strategy and long-term objectives of the 

Company. 

During the period under review, no Director had entitlement to 

share options arrangements or other long term incentives.

The Directors’ remuneration policy at a glance is set out below:

 

Executive Directors

The Executive Director is remunerated in accordance with the 

staff remuneration policy. His remuneration package comprises 

a base salary, pension/gratuity and other benefits designed to 

recognise the skills and experience of an Executive Director.

Non-Executive Directors

In recognition of their contribution to the Company, Non-Executive 

Directors receive fees as well as sitting allowances for Board and 

Committee meetings. The fees are approved by Shareholders at 

Annual General Meetings and are payable on a monthly basis. 

The Non-Executive Directors are not covered by the Company’s 

incentive programs and do not receive performance-based 

remuneration. No pension contributions are payable on their fees.

Travel and related expenses

The Company reimburses travel and accommodation expenses 

related to attendance of Board meetings for Non-Executive 

Board members who are not Kenyan residents. There is a travel 

policy for Non-Executive Directors.

Implementation report

During the year under review, there was no arrangement to 

which the Group and Company was a party where Directors 

acquired benefits by means of transactions in the Group’s and 

Company’s shares outside the applicable law. The Group has a 

strict insider trading policy to which the Directors and senior 

management must adhere to.  There were no Directors’ loans at 

any time during the year.

Director Start of Contract End of Contract Notice Period

Michael Joseph 2016 2019 N/A

Sebastian Mikosz 2017 2020 6 months

Jozef Veenstra 2017 2020 N/A

Jason Kap-Kirwok 2015 2019 N/A

Caroline Armstrong 2017 2020 N/A

Dr. Kamau Thugge 2013 2019 N/A

Prof. Paul Maringa 2017 2020 N/A

Carol Musyoka 2017 2021 N/A

Esther Koimett 2017 2021 N/A

Martin Odour-Otieno 2017 2021 N/A

Major General Michael Gichangi 2017 2020 N/A

Nicholas Bodo 2017 2020 N/A

Festus King’ori 2014 2019 N/A

Directors’ Contract of Service

The tenures of the Directors in office at the end of the current financial period are tabulated below:

At the previous annual general meeting (AGM) shareholders voted for the adoption of the Directors remuneration through proposal 

and secondment on the floor of the AGM. 

The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular review to ensure that levels of remuneration and compensation are appropriate. 
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DIRECTORS’  REMUNERATION REPORT (Cont inued)

INFORMATION SUBJECT TO AUDIT

The remuneration paid to Directors in the period under review and the prior year is summarised in the table below:

31 December 2018 (12 months)

* Fees and allowances are payable to Koninklijke Luchtvaart Maatscchappij (KLM) Royal Dutch Airlines.

Director Salary

KShs 000

Allowances

KShs 000

Fees

KShs 000

Value of non 

cash benefits

KShs 000

Total

KShs 

000

Michael Joseph - - 18,000 - 18,000

Sebastian Mikosz 42,022 16,430 - 4,440 62,892

Jozef Veenstra* - 830 526 - 1,356

Jason Kap-Kirwok - 1,354 887 - 2,241

Caroline Armstrong - 917 887 - 1,804

Principal Secretary-National Treasury - - 526 - 526

Principal Secretary-Transport - - 526 - 526

Carol Musyoka - 874 526 - 1,400

Esther Koimett - 437 - - 437

Martin Odour-Otieno - 1,005 887 - 1,892

Nicholas Bodo - 655 - - 655

Festus King’ori - 874 - - 874

Major General Michael Gichangi - 743 526 - 1,269

Total 42,022 24,119 23,291 4,440 93,872
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DIRECTORS’  REMUNERATION REPORT (Cont inued)

31 December 2017 (9 months)

*After his resignation as a Director on 1 June 2017, the Board retained Mbuvi Ngunze as a consultant on the capital restructuring 

program that was ongoing. The remuneration in the 9 month period ended 31 December 2017 in his capacity as a consultant was 

KShs 23,119,000.

Catherine Musakali

Company Secretary

Nairobi

   

29 April 2019

Director Salary

KShs 000

Allowances

KShs 000

Fees

KShs 000

Compensation

for loss

KShs 000

Value of non 

cash benefits

KShs 000

Total

KShs 000

Michael Joseph - - 13,500 - - 13,500

Sebastian Mikosz 24,630 18,631 - - 3,433 46,694

Mbuvi Ngunze* 6,701 538 -    58,848 737 66,824

Jozef Veenstra - 568 395 - - 963

Jason Kap-Kirwok - 742 665 - - 1,407

Caroline Armstrong - 568 665 - - 1,233

Permanent Secretary Treasury - - 395 - - 395

Permanent Secretary Transport - - 351 - - 351

Carol Musyoka - 44 64 - - 108

Esther Koimett - - - - - -

Martin Odour-Otieno - 44 64 - - 108

Nicholas Bodo - 699 - - - 699

Festus Kingori - 786 - - - 786

Wanjiku Mugane - 655 623 - - 1,278

Ron Schipper - 742 395 - - 1,137

Major General M. Gichangi - 131 132 - - 263

Total 31,331 24,148 17,249 58,848 4,170 135,746
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The Kenyan Companies Act, 2015 requires the Directors to 

prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a 

true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of 

Company as at the end of the financial year and of their profit 

or loss for that year. It also requires the Directors to ensure that 

the Group and Company maintain proper accounting records 

that are sufficient to show and explain the transactions of the 

Group and of Company and disclose, with reasonable accuracy, 

their financial position. The Directors are also responsible for 

safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Company, and 

for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 

fraud and error.

The Directors accept responsibility for the preparation and pre-

sentation of these financial statements in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner 

required by the Kenyan Companies Act. They also accept respon-

sibility for:

(i) designing, implementing and maintaining such internal 

 control as they determine necessary to enable the 

  presentation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

(ii) selecting suitable accounting policies and applying them  

  consistently; and

(iii) making accounting estimates and judgments that are 

 reasonable in the circumstances.

The Directors are aware of the negative working capital position 

and the recurring losses as disclosed in note 2(e) to the financial 

statements. The Directors acknowledge that the continued 

existence of the Group and the Company as going concerns 

depends on the measures that the Directors will put in place to 

return the Group and Company to profitable operations as 

disclosed in note 2(e). The Directors are therefore of the view 

that the Group and Company will remain a going concern for at 

least the next twelve months from the date of this report.

The Directors acknowledge that the independent audit of the 

financial statements does not relieve them of their responsibilities.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’  RESPONSIBIL IT IES

Michael Joseph       Sebastian Mikosz

Chairman        Managing Director

29 April 2019
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OPINION

Report on the audit of the consolidated and company 

financial statements

We have audited the consolidated and company financial 

statements of Kenya Airways Plc,  (“the Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (together “the Group”), set out on pages 63 to 149, 

which comprise the consolidated and company statements of 

financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated 

and company statements of profit or loss and other comprehen-

sive income, consolidated and company statements of changes 

in equity and consolidated and company statements of cash flows 

for the year then ended, and notes, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and company financial state-

ments give a true and fair view of the consolidated and company 

financial position of Kenya Airways Plc as at 31 December 2018, 

and its consolidated and company financial performance and 

consolidated and company cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRSs”) and the requirements of the Kenyan Companies Act, 

2015.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibil-

ities for the audit of the consolidated and company financial 

statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group and Company in accordance with the International Ethics 

Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical require-

ments that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 

in Kenya, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw your attention to note 2(e) in the financial statements, 

which indicates that the Group and Company incurred a loss of 

KShs 7,558 million for the year (for the 9 month period ended 31 

December 2017: KShs 6,418 million) and KShs 7,812 (31 December 

2017: KShs 6,639 million) respectively during the year ended 31 

December 2018 and, as of that date, the Group’s and 

Company’s current liabilities exceeded current assets by KShs 

101,536 million (2017: KShs 106,422 million) and KShs 104,803 

million (2017: KShs 109,066 million) respectively. As stated in 

note 2(e), these events or conditions, along with other matters 

as set forth therein, indicate that a material uncertainty exists 

that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s 

ability to continue as going concerns. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’  REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
KENYA AIRWAYS PLC
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’  REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF KENYA AIRWAYS PLC (Cont inued)

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and 

company financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and 

company financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key Audit Matter 

Revenue recognition
The Group’s and Company’s passenger revenue amounted to 
KShs 95,187 million and KShs 90,924 million for the year period 
ended 31 December 2018 as disclosed in note 7(a) to the financial 
statements. Passenger tickets sales net of discounts and taxes 
are initially recorded as current liabilities in the “Sales in Advance 
of Carriage” account and recognised as revenue when the ticket 
is flown or expires. The Group’s and Company’s value of unflown 
tickets in relation to passenger revenue as at 31 December 2018 
amounted to KShs 17,382 million and KShs 17,243 million respec-
tively as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements. 

Revenue determination and recording relies on complex IT sys-
tems in determination of the point of service delivery for flown 
tickets and the fair value of the services. Additionally, the assess-
ment of the value of expired unutilised tickets to be written back 
to revenue uses estimates regarding the timing of recognition 
based on terms and conditions of the ticket and historical trends. 

Due to the complexity of the IT systems involved in the revenue 
determination and recognition and the judgement required for 
the estimation of the unutilised and expired tickets, revenue rec-
ognition is considered a key audit matter.

For the revenue accounting policy, refer to note 3(c) and for the 
process used to estimate the write back to revenue refer to note 
4(a)(iv).

How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material misstatement 
relating to revenue recognition included:
• Assessing the Group’s revenue recognition policy against the  
  relevant International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

impact of the newly adopted standard, IFRS 15: Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers; 

• Testing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
  of controls over the ticketing and revenue accounting systems;
• We matched all the flown tickets to the lift files;
• Re-computing a sample of the total passenger revenue and 
 total sales in advance of carriage;
• Performing a reconciliation between the total tickets sold, the  
  total revenue recognised i.e. the total uplifts in the year, the ex-

pired tickets recognised in revenue and the sales in advance of 
carriage i.e. the unutilised tickets;

• Evaluating the reasonability of management’s policy for 
  recognising the expired tickets against the terms and conditions 

of the tickets sold; 
• Re-computing the write back of expired tickets in the year based 
  on management’s policy; and
• Inspecting manual journals posted to the revenue account for  
 validity.
Based on procedures performed, we concluded that the revenue 
recognition criteria of the Group were in line with the applicable 
International Financial Reporting Standards. In addition, the dis-
closures pertaining to revenue were found to be appropriate in 
the financial statements.

Valuation of foreign currency hedging reserve 
The Group and Company has hedged its foreign currency risk in 
relation to its forecasted US dollar denominated future revenue 
streams. The cash flow hedge is accounted for at fair value and 
gains and losses arising from fair value changes are deferred in 
equity if the hedge is considered effective and recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when hedges are considered 
ineffective. 

As at 31 December 2018, the cash flow hedge reserve balance 
for the Group and Company amounted to KShs 10,861 million as 
reflected in the statements of changes in equity on pages 67 and 
68.

The valuation of the cash flow hedge reserve has been identified 
as a key audit matter due to the significant management assump-
tions underlying the determination of the effectiveness of the 
hedge. 
Refer to note 3(j) for the accounting policy on cash flow hedges.

We evaluated the methodology and key assumptions adopted by 
the Directors in testing the hedge effectiveness and determining 
the fair value of the cash flow hedge by: 

• Testing the design and implementation of controls around the  
 |management reviews of the cash flow hedge effectiveness 
 assessment;
• Reviewing the computations to test the accuracy and 
 completeness of the inputs into the cash flow hedge 
 computation;
• Re-computing the period end valuation of the cash flow hedge  
  reserve and checking the reasonableness of exchange rates 

used;
• Evaluating the reasonability of the future USD revenue fore  
 casts from sale of passenger tickets; 
• Engaging our in-house IFRS expert in reviewing the hedge 
  instrument and verifying whether it meets the criteria for hedge 

accounting as per provisions of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments; 
and

• Re-performing the hedge effectiveness testing and verifying   
 whether it meets the provisions IFRS 9: Financial Instruments.

Based on audit procedures completed, we concluded that the 
cash flow hedge and hedge effectiveness assessments meet the 
requirements of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments. The period end 
valuation of the hedge and accompanying disclosures were also 
found to be appropriate.
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Key Audit Matter 

Impairment of aircraft and related equipment
As disclosed in note 15 of the consolidated and company financial 
statements as at 31 December 2018, the Group’s and Company’s  
aircraft and related equipment amounted to KShs 90,044 million 
and KShs 89,965 million as at 31 December 2018 respectively; 
constitutes 66%  and 60% of the total assets of the Group and 
the Company respectively.  

As required by IAS 36: Impairment of assets, the Directors con-
duct annual impairment tests to assess the recoverability of the 
carrying value of its aircraft and related equipment. This is per-
formed using discounted cash flow models. 

The determination of impairment is based on the Directors’ as-
sumptions and significant judgement and thus may be subject to 
bias. The key assumptions include passenger revenue and cost 
growth, fuel recovery and the discount rate. Accordingly, impair-
ment of aircraft and related equipment is considered as a key au-
dit matter. 

Further details on the process used to assess the indicators of 
impairment in aircraft and related equipment are set out in note 
4(a)(i). 

How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures to address the risk relating to impairment of air-
crafts and related equipment included: 

• Evaluating the design and implementation of controls over the  
  assessment of aircraft impairment, in particular around the re-

view of assumptions and outputs;
• Assessing whether there are any indicators of impairment of  
  the aircrafts as per the requirements of IAS 36: Impairment of 

assets; 
• Engaging our in-house fair value specialist in reviewing and   
 re-computing the discount rate used in the model; 
• Assessing and challenging the impairment model used 
 including the identification of the cash-generating units; 
• Analysing and challenging the Directors’ key assumptions used  
  in the model specifically the passenger revenue and cost 

growth, fuel recovery and the discount rate; 
• Analysing the projected cash flows by assessing the key 
  assumptions against historical performance to test the reason-

ableness of the Directors’ assumption;
• Subjecting the key assumptions to sensitivity analysis; and
• Testing the integrity and mathematical accuracy of the 
  impairment model and agreeing relevant input data to external-

ly derived data (where applicable) as well as forming our own 
assessment.

Based on procedures completed, we concluded that the assump-
tions used by the Directors in assessment of impairment were ap-
propriate and had been applied. In addition, the disclosures per-
taining to the impairment of aircraft and related equipment were 
found to be appropriate in the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’  REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF KENYA AIRWAYS PLC (Cont inued)

Loan classification 
The Group and Company has facilities with African Export-Import 
Bank, Citibank N.A and JP Morgan N.A for the purchase of aircraft 
and funding of pre-delivery deposits for aircraft.  The facilities 
contain some financial covenants, which are monitored against 
the annual audited financial statements. 

The Group and Company had an outstanding balance of KShs 
77,776 million as at 31 December 2018. The Group and Company 
did not comply with the unrestricted cash to revenue ratio as at 
that date.

The determination as to whether the Group’s and Company’s 
non-compliance with the loan covenants constituted a breach as 
per the provisions of IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements. 
Loan classification is considered a key audit matter due to the 
extensive discussions with management and those charged with 
governance at various stages throughout the audit about its im-
pact on the going concern and the related liquidity ratios on the 
financial statements.

Our procedures to address the risk relating of loan classification 
included: 
• Reviewing the loan agreements so as to gain an understanding  
 of the financial covenants;
• Reviewing the computations of the ratios to test the accuracy  
  and completeness of the inputs included in the financial ratios 

computation are as per the loan agreements; and
• Engaging our technical team in reviewing the loan agreements  
  and verifying whether the non-compliance meets the criteria 

for breach as per provisions of IAS 1: Presentation of Financial 
Statements.

Based on procedures completed, we concluded that the loan clas-
sification in previous periods was erroneous as the Group and 
Company did not have an unconditional right to defer payment 
for the next 12 months as per per provisions of IAS 1: Presentation 
of Financial Statements. Consequently the prior year financial 
statements have been restated as disclosed in note 40. For the 
year ended 31 December 2018, the disclosures pertaining to the 
loan classification were appropriate in the financial statements. 
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Key Audit Matter 

Fleet accounting of prepaid maintenance asset and return 
condition provisions
The Group and Company operated 25 and 20 aircraft respectively 
under operating lease arrangements as at 31 December 2018.

Under the terms of the operating lease arrangements with the 
lessors, the Group and Company is contractually committed to re-
turn the aircraft and engines in a certain condition at the date of 
return. Accordingly, the Group and Company have recognised a 
return condition provision amounting to KShs 4,175 million (2017 - 
restated: KShs 4,650 million) and KShs 3,423 million million (2017 
- restated: KShs 3,898 million) respectively as at 31 December 
2018 as disclosed under note 30.

In addition, the lease agreements require the Group and Company 
to make payments towards the maintenance of the aircraft. The 
lessors are contractually obligated to reimburse the Group and 
Company for the qualifying maintenance expenditure incurred on 
the aircraft if the Group and Company has a maintenance reserve 
credit. As at 31 December 2018, the Group and Company had a 
prepaid maintenance asset of KShs 3,398 million (2017 - restated: 
KShs 4,125 million) and KShs 3,018 million (2017 - restated: KShs 
4,043 million) respectively as disclosed under note 20.

The return condition provision requires the Directors to determine 
whether there is an unavoidable contractual obligation at the end 
of each reporting period and this is calculated taking into account 
the number of hours or cycles operated, the expected future cost 
of future maintenance and the discount rate to use. It is based on 
the Group’s and Company’s historical experience and contractu-
al obligations in determining the present value of the estimated 
future costs of major airframe inspections and engine overhauls 
required under the lease conditions. There were extensive discus-
sions with management and those charged with governance at 
various stages throughout the audit on the accounting treatment 
of the prepaid maintenance asset and return condition provision. 
Accordingly, fleet accounting of prepaid maintenance asset and 
return condition provision is considered as a key audit matter. 

Further details on the process used to estimate the return condi-
tion provision are set out in note 4(a)(viii). 

How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Our procedures to address the risk relating to fleet accounting 
of prepaid maintenance asset and return condition provisions in-
cluded: 

• Reviewing the lease agreements so as to gain an 
  understanding of the significant terms which influence the eco-

nomics of, and hence accounting for, the Group’s and Company’s 
obligations;

• Testing the completeness of the provision by ensuring that all 
  significant return condition obligations included in aircraft oper-

ating lease contracts were included in the calculation;
• We assessed Directors’ assumptions as to the expected future   
  cost of maintenance by corroborating the estimate of the cost 

of maintenance work to third party price lists and quotes, or to 
historic invoices;

• For the maintenance reserve, we obtained confirmations from  
  the lessors of the maintenance reserve payments held at the end 

of the reporting period; and
• We assessed recoverability of the balance from the lessors by   
  considering the expected future maintenance cost against which 

the Group and Company could claim.

Based on procedures completed, we concluded that the Group and 
Company had erroneously accounted for its prepaid maintenance 
asset as an expense in prior years and had previously not assessed 
the return condition provision for the aircrafts under operating 
lease arrangements. Consequently, the financial statements for the 
9 month period ended 31 December 2017 have been restated as dis-
closed in note 40. As at 31 December 2018, the assumptions used 
by the Directors in assessment of the return condition provision 
and recoverability of the prepaid maintenance asset were appro-
priate and had been accurately applied. In addition, the disclosures 
pertaining to the return condition provision and the prepaid main-
tenance asset found to be appropriate in the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’  REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF KENYA AIRWAYS PLC (Cont inued)
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Other information 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises Statement of Corporate Governance, Report 

of the Directors, Directors’ remuneration report and the schedule of 

Principal Shareholders and Share Distribution which were obtained 

prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The other information 

does not include the consolidated and company financial state-

ments and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and company financial statements 

does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and company 

financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other informa-

tion identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and 

company financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 

audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 

on the work we have performed on the other information that we 

obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude 

that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 

regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated 
and company financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair pre-

sentation of the consolidated and company financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Kenyan 

Companies Act, 2015, and for such internal control as the Directors 

determine are necessary to enable the preparation of consolidat-

ed and company financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and company financial statements, 

the Directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the 

company’s ability to continue as going concerns, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to 

liquidate the Company and its subsidiaries or to cease operations, 

or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated and company financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the consolidated and company financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reason-

able assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidat-

ed and company financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise profession-

al judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 

audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the  

  consolidated and company financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures respon-

sive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control;

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the  

  audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s 

internal control;

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and  

  the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclo-

sures made by the Directors;

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the  

  going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated and company financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Group and/or the Company 

to cease to continue as a going concern;

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of  

  the consolidated and company financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and company 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the   

  financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

and performance of the group audit. We remain solely respon-

sible for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’  REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF KENYA AIRWAYS PLC (Cont inued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’  REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF KENYA AIRWAYS PLC (Cont inued)

We communicate with the Board Audit and Risk Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board Audit and Risk Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our indepen-

dence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board Audit and Risk Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated and company financial statements of the current period and are therefore key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other matters prescribed by the Kenya Companies Act, 2015

Report of the Directors

In our opinion the information given in the Report of the Directors on pages 47 to 50 is consistent with the financial statements.

Directors’ Remuneration Report

In our opinion the auditable part of the Director’s Remuneration Report presented on pages 51 to 53 has been prepared in accordance with 

the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015.

Certified Public Accountants (Kenya)
Nairobi                                                                           29 April 2019

CPA Freda Mitambo - P/No 2174
Signing partner responsible for the independent audit
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FOR ECONOMIES SUCH AS KENYA THAT RELY SO 

HEAVILY ON WILDLIFE TOURISM, THE ILLEGAL 

WILDLIFE TRADE NOT ONLY ROBS PEOPLE OF THEIR 

HERITAGE, IT ALSO ENDANGERS TOURISM REVENUES. 

KENYA AIRWAYS HAS IN PLACE INITIATIVES TO STOP 

ILLEGAL WILDLIFE TRADE. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT  OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31  DECEMBER 2018

  2018 2017
   (12 months) (9 months)
    (Restated*)
 Notes KShs million KShs million

Revenue 7(a) 114,185 80,148

Other income 7(b) - 651

   

Total income  114,185 80,799

   

Direct costs 8(a) (75,030) (51,719)

Fleet ownership costs 8(b) (18,929) (12,535)

Overheads 8(c) (20,909) (15,537)

   

Operating(loss)/profit  (683) 1,008

   

Finance costs 9 (5,062) (4,923)

Interest income 9 45 32

Other losses 10 (1,888) (2,423)

   

Loss before taxation 11 (7,588) (6,306)

   

Taxation credit/(charge) 12(a) 30 (112)

   

Loss for the year/period  (7,558) (6,418)

Other comprehensive income   

Items that may or will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   

   

Gain on hedged exchange differences 27(e) 2,045 1,250

Changes in fair value in relation to fuel hedges 25(a) (435) -

   

Other comprehensive income for the year/period, net of tax  1,610 1,250

   

Total comprehensive loss for the year/period   (5,948) (5,168)

   

Loss for the year/period is attributable to:   

Owners of the company  (7,554) (6,422)

Non-controlling interest  26 (4) 4

   

Loss for the year/period  (7,558) (6,418)

   

Total comprehensive loss for the year/period is attributable to:   

Owners of the company  (5,944) (5,172)

Non-controlling interest                                        26 (4) 4

   

Total comprehensive loss for the year/period   (5,948) (5,168)

Basic loss per share (KShs) 13 (1.30) (1.10)

Diluted loss per share (KShs) 13 (1.01) (0.86)

*Please refer to note 40 for the prior year adjustment. 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF PROFIT  OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31  DECEMBER 2018

  2018 2017
   (12 months) (9 months)
    (Restated*)
 Notes KShs million KShs million

Revenue 7(a) 107,820 76,613

Other income 7(b) - 651

   

Total income  107,820 77,264

   

Direct costs 8(a) (72,318) (49,913)

Fleet ownership costs 8(b) (17,616) (12,150)

Overheads 8(c) (18,792) (14,524)

   

Operating (loss)/profit  (906) 677

   

Finance costs 9 (5,059) (4,921)

Interest income 9 51 38

Other losses 10 (1,866) (2,417)

   

Loss before taxation 11 (7,780) (6,623)

   

Taxation charge 12(a) (32) (16)

   

Loss for the year/period  (7,812) (6,639)

Other comprehensive income   

   

Items that may or will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   

   

Gain on hedged exchange differences 27(e) 2,045 1,250

Changes in fair value in relation to fuel hedges 25(a) (435) -

   

Other comprehensive income for the year/period, net of tax  1,610 1,250

   

Total comprehensive loss for the year/period   (6,202) (5,389)

   

*Please refer to note 40 for the prior year adjustment.   
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSIT ION
AS AT 31  DECEMBER 2018

  31 December 31 December 1 April
   2018 2017 2017
    (Restated*) (Restated*)
 Notes KShs million KShs million KShs million

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, aircraft and equipment 15 99,835 109,877 113,907

Intangible assets 16 2,962 2,891 377

Return conditions asset 18 2,587 3,392 2,810

Aircraft deposits 19 3,076 5,328 4,915

Deferred taxation 28 198 118 198

    

  108,658 121,606 122,207

Current assets    

Prepaid maintenance asset 20 3,398 4,125 3,501

Inventories 21 2,098 2,033 1,829

Trade and other receivables 22 14,437 11,809 13,383

Fuel derivatives 25(a) 354 - -

Current taxation assets 12(c) 1,258 1,249 1,243

Cash and bank balances  6,431 6,356 9,186

    

  27,976 25,572 29,142

Assets held for sale 23(b) - 445 1,115

    

  27,976 26,017 30,257

    

TOTAL ASSETS  136,634 147,623 152,464

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

Capital and reserves    

Share capital 24(a) 5,824 5,824 7,482

Share premium 24(a) 49,223 49,221 8,670

Mandatory convertible note 24(b) 9,630 9,630 -

Treasury shares 24(c) (142) (142) -

Foreign currency hedging reserve 25(c) (10,861) (12,906) (14,156)

Fuel hedging reserve 25(a) (435) - -

Revaluation surplus  4,911 4,911 4,911

Accumulated loss  (60,688) (51,734) (45,312)

    

Equity attributable to owners of the company  (2,538) 4,804 (38,405)

Non-controlling interests 26 49 53 49

    

Total equity  (2,489) 4,857 (38,356)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSIT ION (Cont inued)
AS AT 31  DECEMBER 2018

  31 December 31 December 1 April
   2018 2017 2017
    (Restated*) (Restated*)
 Notes KShs million KShs million KShs million

Liabilities 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 27(a) 5,186 4,328 31,464

Deferred taxation 28 2,013 2,013 2,013

Onerous lease provision 29 30 857 1,620

Return condition provision 30 2,382 3,129 2,619

    

  9,611 10,327 37,716

Current liabilities    

Current tax payable      12(c) - 3 8

Borrowings    28(a) 77,362 86,031 108,585

Onerous lease provision 29 701 1,001 999

Return condition provision 30 1,793 1,521 191

Sales in advance of carriage 31 17,551 15,167 15,504

Trade and other payables  32 30,038 27,049 24,479

Fuel derivatives 25(a) 789 - -

Provisions  33 1,278 1,667 3,338

    

  129,512 132,439 153,104

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  136,634 147,623 152,464

*Please refer to note 40 for the prior year adjustment.

The financial statements on pages 63 to 149 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2019 and signed on 

its behalf by:

_______________________    ____________________________

Michael Joseph      Sebastian Mikosz

Chairman      Managing Director 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSIT ION 
AS AT 31  DECEMBER 2018

  31 December 2018 31 December 2017 1 April 2017
    (Restated*) (Restated*)
 Notes KShs million KShs million KShs million

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, aircraft and equipment 15 99,099 109,187 113,229

Intangible assets 16 2,943 2,841 312

Return conditions asset 18 2,141 2,639 2,810

Investment in subsidiaries 17(a) 601 435 435

Aircraft deposits 19 3,076 5,328 4,915

    

  107,860 120,430 121,701

    

Current assets    

Prepaid maintenance asset 20 3,018 4,043 3,501

Inventories 21 2,098 2,033 1,829

Trade and other receivables 22 29,952 21,856 22,250

Fuel Derivatives 25(a) 354 - -

Current taxation assets 12(c) 1,252 1,249 1,240

Cash and bank balances  6,243 6,163 8,972

    

  42,917 35,344 37,792

Assets held for sale 23(b) - 445 1,115

    

  42,917 35,789 38,907

    

TOTAL ASSETS  150,777 156,219 160,608

    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

Capital and reserves    

Share capital 24(a) 5,824 5,824 7,482

Share premium 24(a) 49,223 49,221 8,670

Mandatory convertible note 24(b) 9,630 9,630 -

Treasury Shares 24(c) (142) (142) -

Foreign currency hedging reserve 25(c) (10,861) (12,906) (14,156)

Fuel hedging reserve 25(a) (435) - -

Revaluation surplus  4,697 4,697 4,697

Accumulated loss  (63,738) (54,535) (47,896)

    

Total equity  (5,802) 1,789 (41,203)
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSIT ION (Cont inued) 
AS AT 31  DECEMBER 2018

  31 December 2018 31 December 2017 1 April 2017
    (Restated*) (Restated*)
 Notes KShs million KShs million KShs million

Liabilities    

Non-current liabilities    

Borrowings 27(a) 5,186 4,328 31,464

Deferred taxation 28 2,013 2,013 2,013

Onerous lease provision 29 30 857 1,620

Return condition provision 30 1,630 2,377 2,619

    

  8,859 9,575 37,716

    

Current liabilities    

Borrowings 27(a) 77,362 86,031 108,585

Onerous lease provision  29 701 1,001 999

Return condition provision 30 1,793 1,521 191

Sales in advance of carriage 31 17,412 15,068 15,356

Trade and other payables 32 48,423 39,629 36,346

Fuel derivative 25(a) 789 - -

Provisions 33 1,240 1,605 2,618                      

    

   147,720 144,855 164,095

    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   150,777 156,219 160,608

*Please refer to note 40 for the prior year adjustment.

The financial statements on pages 63 to 149 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2019 and signed on 

its behalf by:

_______________________    ____________________________

Michael Joseph      Sebastian Mikosz

Chairman      Managing Director 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31  DECEMBER 2018

  2018 2017
   (12 months) (9 months)
 Notes KShs million KShs million

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

   

Cash generated from operations 35(a) 11,238 11,595

Interest received    45 32

Interest paid  (4,838) (4,923)

Income tax paid 12(c) (62) (43)

   

Net cash generated from operating activities  6,383 6,661

   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

   

Purchase of property and equipment  15 (732) (662)

Proceeds of disposal of property and equipment and assets held for sale  673 18

Purchase of intangible assets 16(b) (75) (1)

Commitment and commission fees paid during the year 27(a) (25) (358)

Deposits paid for aircraft purchases 19 (311) (439)

Aircraft deposit refunds received 19 2,486 -

Onerous lease payments 29         (1,023) (755)

   

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities  993 (2,197)

   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

   

Payments for share issue costs 24(a) - (2,543)

Borrowings received 27(e) - 4,358

Repayments of borrowings 27(e) (7,301) (9,109)

Net cash used in financing activities  (7,301) (7,294)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  75 (2,830)

   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year/period  6,356 9,186

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/period 35(b) 6,431 6,356
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  2018 2017
   (12 months) (9 months)
 Notes KShs million KShs million

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

   

Cash generated from operations 35(a) 11,095        11,526

Interest received                51             38

Interest paid  (4,835) (4,921)

Income tax paid 12(c)     (35)     (25)

   

Net cash generated from operating activities  6,276 6,618

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

   

Purchase of property and equipment  15 (621) (598)

Proceeds of disposal of property and equipment and assets held for sale  673 18

Purchase of intangible assets 16(b)      (74)      (1)

Commitment and commission fees paid during the year 27(h) (25) (358)

Deposits paid for aircraft purchases 19 (311) (439)

Aircraft deposit refunds received 19              2,486               -

Onerous lease payments 29         (1,023)         (755)

   

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities  1,105 (2,133)

   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

   

Payment for share issue costs 24(a) - (2,543)

Borrowings received 27(e) - 4,358

Repayments of borrowings 27(e) (7,301) (9,109)

   

Net cash used in financing activities  (7,301) (7,294)

   

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  80 (2,809)

   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year/period  6,163 8,972

   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/period 36(b) 6,243 6,163

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31  DECEMBER 2018
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KENYA AIRWAYS IS A TRULY AFRICAN AIRLINE AND WE 

DERIVE MORE THAN 54% OF OUR REVENUES FROM 

AFRICA OPERATIONS. AN ENABLER OF INVESTMENT 

BOTH INTO AND OUT OF COUNTRIES AND REGIONS. 
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OVER 54%

REVENUE
FROM AFRICA
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31  DECEMBER 2018

1. REPORTING ENTITY

  Kenya Airways Plc (“the Company”) is a limited liability com-
pany incorporated in Kenya under the Kenyan Companies Act 
and is domiciled in Kenya. The annual financial statements 
comprise the consolidated and company financial statements. 
The subsidiaries in the group are namely Kenya Airfreight 
Handling Limited, Kencargo Airlines International Limited, 
JamboJet Limited, African Cargo Handling Limited and Pride 
oil Limited (together referred to as the “Group” and individu-
ally as “Group Companies”). 

   In the year 2017, the Directors resolved to change the Com-
pany’s year-end to align with the IATA reporting calendar and 
majority of its Sky Team partners. The amounts presented 
in the consolidated and company statements of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated and 
company statement of cash flows for the year 2018 covered 
twelve (12) months whilst 2017 covered nine (9) months and 
therefore not entirely comparable. 

  The Group is primarily involved in international, regional 
and domestic carriage of passengers and cargo by air, the 
provision of ground handling services to other airlines and the 
handling of import and export cargo. The address of its 

  registered office is as shown on page 2. The Company’s shares 
are listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange, Dar es Salaam 
Stock Exchange and the Uganda Securities Exchange.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

 (a) Basis of Accounting

  The consolidated and company financial statements  
  have been prepared in accordance with International  
  Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by  
  the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)  
  and in the manner required by the Kenya Companies  
  Act, 2015.

   For Kenyan Companies Act, 2015 reporting purposes in 
these financial statements, the balance sheet is repre-
sented by the statement of financial position and the 
profit and loss account is presented within the state-
ment of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

   A summary of significant accounting policies is present-
ed in note 3.

 (b) Basis of measurement

   The consolidated and company financial statements 
have been prepared on the historical cost basis of 
accounting except for Land and buildings which are 
measured at revalued amounts, derivative financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value and 
non-current assets held for sale that are measured at 
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs 

  to sell.

 (c) Functional and presentation currency

   These consolidated and company financial statements 
are presented in Kenya shillings (KShs), which is also 
the Group’s and Company’s functional currency. Except 
as otherwise indicated, financial information presented 
in KShs has been rounded to the nearest million shilling 
(KShs million).

 (d) Use of estimates and judgements

   The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the applica-
tion of policies and reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period.  The estimates and assumptions 
are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of current 
events, actions, historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 
making the judgements about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

    The estimates and underlying assumptions are re-
viewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that pe-
riod or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
In particular, information about significant areas of 
estimation and critical judgments in applying account-
ing policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements are 
described in note 4.

 (e) Going concern

   The Group and Company incurred a net loss after tax of 
KShs 7,558 million and KShs 7,812 million respectively 
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (for the nine 
month period ended 31 December 2017: KShs 6,418 
million and KShs 6,639 million respectively) and, as of 
that date, the Group’s and Company’s current liabilities 
exceeded their current assets by KShs 101,536 million 
and KShs 104,803 million respectively (31 December 
2017: KShs 106,422 million and KShs 109,066 million 
respectively). In addition, as at 31 December 2018, the 
Group’s and Company’s total liabilities exceeded its 
total assets by KShs 2,489 million and 5,802 million 
respectively (31 December 2017: the Group’s and Compa-
ny’s total assets exceeded their total liabilities by KShs 
4,857 million and  KShs 1,789 million respectively). This 
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which 
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 

 (e) Going concern (Continued)
 
   may cast significant doubt on the Group and Company’s
  ability to continue as a going concern, and therefore may be 

unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business.

  As reported last year, the Group and Company have continued 
with the turnaround plan after the restructuring process. The 
Group and Company have strategic initiatives in place with 
focus on:

 a) Network optimisation through growth and increased  
  partnerships;
 b) Opening new routes with focus on high yield routes;
 c) Operational excellence aimed at cost efficiency and  
  improved service delivery;
 d) Grow Capacity;
 e) Improved customer experience with a view to grow  
  market share;
 f) Change of business model and use of technology to  
  drive growth; and
 g) Grow scale in non-passenger related revenues.

  The actions under these initiatives are already bearing fruit 
with a slight improvement in the performance of the Group. 

  The Directors believe the plans enumerated above will 
improve the Group and Company’s performance, cash flows 
and liquidity position. The key shareholders have been and 
continue to be appraised of and involved in the process of the 
required long-term support and turnaround plan. 

  As part of the balance sheet restructuring, the Government 
of Kenya (GoK) issued guarantees in the aggregate amount of 
USD 750 million in favour of Exim Bank and a consortium of 
Kenyan banks in relation to certain obligations of the Group 
and Company to Exim Bank and the consortium of Kenyan 
Banks. In addition, in 2017, the consortium of Kenya banks 
advanced the Company a facility of USD 100 million. As at 31 
December 2018, the Company had only utilised USD 42 million 
as disclosed on note 27(b).

  The GoK further committed through a letter of support to 
continue providing the required support to the Company to 
enable it to implement its turnaround program and meet its 
financial obligations as and when they fall due, at least for the 
next 12 months from the approval of the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

  The Directors have also reviewed the current trading and cash 
flow projections as part of their assessment, and after making 
enquiries and carefully considering the initiatives above, have 
a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors have pre-
pared the consolidated and company financial statements on 

a going concern basis since they are confident that the plans 
described above provide a reasonable expectation that the 
Group and Company will be able to meet their liabilities as and 
when they fall due.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

  The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these consolidated and company financial statements have 
been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements except for IFRS 9 and 15 that have been 
adopted in the current year.

 (a) Basis of consolidation

  (i) Subsidiaries

    Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group 
has control. The Group controls an entity when 
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

  (ii) Non-controlling interests (NCI)

    NCI are measured at their proportionate share of 
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of 
acquisition. Changes in the Group’s interest in the 
subsidiary that does not result in loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions.

  (iii) Loss of control

    When the Group losses control over a subsidiary, 
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any related non-controlling interests 
and other components of equity. Any resulting gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest 
retained in the former subsidiary is measured at 
fair value when control is lost.

  (iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

   I ntra-group balances and transactions, and any 
unrealised income and expenses arising from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated. Unreal-
ised gains arising from transactions with equity 
accounted investees are eliminated against the 
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
that investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in 
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the 

   extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 (Continued)

 (b) Transactions in foreign currencies

   Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are 
converted into the respective functional currencies of 
Group companies at rates prevailing at the transaction 
dates.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated 

   into the functional currency at the exchange rates rul-
ing at the reporting date. The resulting differences from 
conversion are recognised in profit or loss in the year in 
which they arise.

   Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in for-
eign currencies that are measured based on historical 
cost are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the 
transaction date.

   However, foreign currency differences arising from the 
translation of qualifying cash flow hedges (USD Borrow-
ings) are recognised in other comprehensive income to 
the extent that the hedge is effective.

 (c) Revenue recognition

   Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for sale of goods and services 
and is stated net of value added tax (VAT), rebates and 
discounts. 

   The Group recognises revenue from the following major 
sources:

  • providing international, regional and domestic  
   carriage of passengers by air;
  • providing international, regional and domestic  
   carriage of freight and mail by air; and
  • providing handling services to other airlines   
   and the handling of import and export cargo.

    Revenue is measured based on the consideration to 
which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract 
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on 
behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue 
when it transfers control of a service to a customer.

    The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against 
specific criteria to determine if it is acting as principal 
or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as 
a principal in all its revenue arrangements except for 
passenger interline, sales on board and sale of holiday 
packages where the Group acts as an agent. The specif-
ic recognition criteria described below must also be met 
before revenue is recognised.

  Passenger, freight and mail

   Revenues from passenger ticket sales, including 

non-distinct ancillary fees and revenue from cargo 
airway bills, net of discounts, are recognised as traffic 
revenue when rights and obligations of the service has 
been transferred to the customer being at the point 
when the air transport has been carried out. The value 
of the tickets sold and still valid but not used by the end 
of the reporting period is reported as unearned revenue 
in the Sales in Advance of Carriage account. This item is 
reduced either when Kenya Airways or another airline 
completes the transportation or when the passenger 
requests for a refund. Unutilised tickets are recognised 
as revenue using estimates regarding the timing of 
recognition based on historical trends. Past experience 
shows that there is insignificant liability attributable to 
unutilised tickets older than two years. 

 
  Handling services 

   Sale of handling and ramp services is recognised 
when rights and obligations of the service has been 
transferred to the customer. That is being at the point 
in which the services are rendered, by reference to 
completion of the specific transaction assessed on the 
basis of the actual service provided as a percentage of 
the total services to be provided. 

  Lease rental income

   Revenue from lease rental income is recognized when 
rights and obligations of the asset is transferred to the 
customer, that is being at the point in which the asset is 
utilised by the lessee

  Other Revenue
   
  Engineering services

   The Group uses the “percentage of completion method” 
to determine the appropriate amount of revenue and 
cost relating to third-party maintenance contracts to 
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss in each 
period, when the outcome can be estimated reliably. 
When the outcome of a maintenance contract cannot be 
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only 
to the extent of contract cost incurred that are likely to 
be recoverable. 

  Training services 

   Revenue from training services are recognised when 
rights and obligations of the service is transferred to 
the customer based on level of completion of the ser-
vice while advance payments are recognised as contract 
liabilities.   

  Interest income

   Income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by refer-
ence to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable.
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 (Continued) 
 (d) Frequent flyer programmes

   Kenya Airways Plc is currently hosted on Air France
   KLM frequent flyer programme called Flying Blue. Under 

the Flying Blue Programme, members earn miles by
   using bot airline and non-airline partners. Kenya Air-

ways is invoiced by Air France/ KLM and is required to 
pay for the miles that are earned on the programme. 
Accumulated miles can be used by members to get a 
variety of awards ranging from free tickets to flight 
upgrades. Kenya Airways Plc earns revenue as miles are 
redeemed on its services.

 (e) Property, aircrafts and equipment

  (i) Recognition, measurement and subsequent 
   expenditure

    Land and buildings are initially measured at cost 
and then are subsequently measured at the fair 
value on the date of revaluation less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

   impairment losses.

    Other categories of property, aircrafts and equip-
ment are included in the financial statements at 
their historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

    Cost includes expenditures that are directly 
   attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

    The cost of self-constructed assets includes the 
cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a work-
ing condition for their intended use, the cost of dis-
mantling and removing the items and restoring the 
site on which they are located. Purchased software 
that is integral to the functionality of the related 
equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

    The cost of replacing part of an item of property or 
aircraft or equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Group and its cost can be measured 

   reliably.  The costs of day-to-day servicing of 
   property, aircraft and equipment are recognised in  
   profit or loss.

    Gains and losses on disposal of property, aircrafts 
and equipment are determined by comparing the 
proceeds of disposal with the carrying amount of 
the item of property, aircrafts and equipment and 
are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which 
they arise.

  
 

  (ii)  Depreciation

     Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis 
to allocate the cost or revalued amounts to their 
residual values over the estimated useful lives of 
the property, aircrafts and equipment. The depre-
ciation rates for the current and comparative year 
are as follows:

     Aircraft and related equipment:       %
 
    Boeing 787, 777, 737-300 & 737-700   5.56
   Embraer E190     5.56
   Simulator     5.00
 
   Other property and equipment:        %
 
     Ground service equipment  25.00
   Motor vehicles    25.00
   Communication assets    12.50
   Other assets       20.00 - 30.00
   Buildings      2.50
   Leasehold land   Over the period  
       of the lease
   Freehold land   Not depreciated

      The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date.

  (iii) Revaluation

    Land and buildings are revalued every three years. 
The carrying amounts are adjusted to the revaluations 
and the resulting increase, net of deferred tax, is 
recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented in the revaluation reserve within equity.

    Revaluation decreases that offset previous increases 
of the same asset are charged or recognised in 

   other comprehensive income with all other 
   decreases being charged to profit or loss.

   Revaluation surpluses are not distributable.

    Depreciation on revalued land and buildings is 
    recognised in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale 

or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable 
revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation 
reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. 

  (iv) Non-depreciable items

    These are items that have not yet been brought to 
the location and/or condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. In the event of partially completed 
construction work that has necessitated advance or 
progress payments, or work-in-progress, deprecia-
tion will only commence when the work is complete. 
Property, aircrafts and equipment are classified as 
work-in-progress if it is probable that future eco-
nomic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost 
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 (Continued) 

 (e) Property, aircrafts and equipment (Continued) 

  (iv) Non-depreciable items (Continued) 

    Amounts held within work in progress that are 
substantially complete, in common with other fixed 
assets, are assessed for impairment.

  (f) Assets held for sale

    Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising assets 
and liabilities are classified as held-for-sale if it is 
highly probable that they will be recovered primarily 
through sale rather than through continuing use.

    Such assets or disposal groups are generally mea-
sured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a 
disposal group is allocated to the remaining assets 
and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except that no 
loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets and 
deferred tax assets which continue to be measured 
in accordance with the Group’s  and Company’s other 
accounting policies. Impairment losses on re-mea-
surement are recognised in profit or loss.

    Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets, 
property and equipment are no longer depreciated 
and any equity accounted investee is no longer equity 
accounted.

  (g) Intangible assets - Capitalised software

    The costs incurred to acquire and bring to use specific 
computer software licences are capitalised. Software 
acquired by the Group is stated at cost less accu-
mulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

    Expenditure on internally developed software is 
recognised as an asset when the Group is able to 
demonstrate its intention and ability to complete the 
development and use the software in a manner that 
will generate future economic benefits and can reli-
ably measure the cost to complete the development.  
Internally developed software is stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impair-
ment losses. 

    Subsequent expenditure on software is capitalised 
only if the definition of an intangible asset and the 
recognition criteria are met. All other expenditure is 
expensed as incurred.

    The costs are amortised on the straight line basis 
over the expected useful lives, from the date the 
software is available for use. Software is amortised 
for a period not more than five years. Amortisation 
methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

  (h) Intangible assets – Landing slot
   
    Landing slots are measured initially at cost. No amor-

tisation charge is recognised for landing slots as their 
useful lives are considered to be indefinite. Following 
initial recognition, landing slots are measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Capital-
ised landing rights based within the European Union 
(EU) are not amortised, as regulations provide that 
these landing rights are perpetual.

  (i) Leased assets

  (i) Finance lease

    Leases of property, aircrafts and equipment, where 
the Group assumes substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases.  
Finance leases are capitalised at cost.  Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
charges.  The interest element is charged to profit 
or loss over the lease period and is included under 
finance costs.  Such property, aircrafts and equipment 
is depreciated over its useful life.

  (ii) Operating lease

    Leases of assets under which a significant portion of 
the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively re-
tained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.  
Payments made under operating leases are charged 
to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease.

  (iii) Onerous lease

    Present obligations arising under onerous contracts 
are recognised and measured as provisions. An oner-
ous contract is considered to exist where the Group 
has a contract under which the unavoidable cost of 
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed 
the economic benefits expected to be received from 
the contract. 

  (iv) Return conditions provision 

    Return condition provisions represents the esti-
mate of the cost to meet the contractual lease end 
obligations on certain aircraft and engines held under 
operating leases. The present value of the expected 
cost is recognised over the lease term considering 
the existing fleet plan and long-term maintenance 
schedules.

  (v) Prepaid maintenance asset

    Prepaid maintenance asset are payments made in 
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

3.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES         

 (Continued)

  (v) Prepaid maintenance asset (Continued)

    advance to lessors in terms of the aircraft lease con-
tract for maintenance of the aircraft. The lessors are 
contractually obligated to reimburse the lessees for the 
qualifying maintenance expenditure incurred on the 
aircraft if the lessee has a maintenance reserve credit. 
At the beginning of the lease period, the Group and 
Company needs to determine how much of the mainte-
nance reserve payments is recoverable and how much 
relates to supplemental rent. The supplemental rent will 
then be expensed as part of the normal lease payments 
as per the provision of IAS 17: Leases. The prepaid 
maintenance asset is assessed annually for recoverabil-
ity against the Group’s ability to claim against future 
maintenance events. Where it is deemed that the entity 
will be unable to claim for a future maintenance event, 
the maintenance reserve prepayments are treated as 
supplemental rent and expensed accordingly. 

  (j) Derivative financial instruments and hedge   
   accounting

    The Group and Company holds derivative financial 
instruments to hedge its foreign currency and 
fuel price risk exposures. Derivatives are initially 
recognised at fair value; any directly attributable 
transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss. 
Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the 
fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when 
the fair value is negative.

 The Group designates:

 • Specific derivatives to hedge fuel price risks; and 
 • Non-derivative financial liabilities to hedge foreign  
  currency risk in a cash flow hedge relationship.

   On initial designation, the Group documents the 
relationship between the hedging instrument and the 
hedged item, along with its risk management objec-
tives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge 
transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge 
and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether 
the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging rela-
tionship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of the hedged item. Movements in 
the hedging reserve in equity are detailed in the other 
comprehensive income.

   All hedging activities are carried out in accordance 
with the Group’s internal risk management policies, as 
approved by the Board of Directors, and in accordance 
with the applicable regulations where the Group oper-
ates.

  Cash flow hedges

   When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging 
instrument, the effective portion of the changes in fair 
value of the derivative is recognised in other com-
prehensive income and accumulated in the hedging 
reserve. Any ineffective portion of the changes in fair 
value of the derivative is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

   The amount accumulated in equity is retained in other 
comprehensive income and reclassified to profit or loss 
in the same period as periods during which the hedged 
item affects the profit or loss.

   If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria 
for hedge accounting, expires, is sold, terminated, 
exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge ac-
counting is discontinued prospectively. Any cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehen-
sive income remains separately in equity until the fore-
cast transaction occurs. If the forecast transaction is no 
longer expected to occur, then the amount accumulated 
in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. If the hedging 
instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or excised, or 
the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is 
discontinued prospectively. If the forecast transaction is 
no longer expected to occur, then the amount accumu-
lated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

 (k) Aircraft purchase

 (i) Aircraft subsidy

   The Group receives credits from manufacturers in con-
nection with the acquisition of certain aircraft engines. 
These credits are offset against the cost of new aircraft 
where the credit is in effect a discount on the price.

 (ii) Deferred income

   Credits relating to delays in delivery are deferred and 
recognised in profit or loss on delivery of the aircraft.

 (iii) Deferred expenditure

   The Group amortises cost of obtaining aircraft financing 
over the loan repayment period. The deferred expen-
diture is capitalised to the related borrowing (see note 
27(h)). 

 (iv) Aircraft deposits

   The Group makes deposits to manufacturers/lessors in 
relation to acquisition of aircraft. Some of these depos-
its earn a nominal interest annually.  The Group amor-
tises discounts arising from the difference between the 
maturity value of the deposits and their fair value based 
on amortised cost. 
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 (l) Employee benefits

 (i) Short term employee benefits 

    Short term employee benefits are expensed as the re-
lated service is provided. A liability is recognised for the 
amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to pay the amount as a 
result of past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

 (ii) Termination benefits

   Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of 
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits and when the Group recognises costs 
for a restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date, 
then they are discounted.

 (iii) Leave accrual

   The monetary value of the unutilised leave by staff as at 
year end is carried in accruals as a payable and move-
ments in the year are recognised in profit or loss.

 (iv) Employee Share Ownership Scheme (ESOP)

   The Group operates an ESOP that was set up during the 
Initial Public Offering in 1996. The scheme is inactive 
and currently holds 496,625 shares (2017: 496,625 
shares). As part of the 2017 capital restructuring, a new 
ESOP scheme was created and the trustee allocated 
142,164,558 ordinary shares which had not been issued 
to staff at the close of the year. 

 (v) Defined contribution plan

   The employees of the Group participate in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit scheme. The assets of 
the scheme are held in a separate trustee administered 
fund, which is funded by contributions from both the 
Group and employees. The Group and all its employees 
also contribute to the National Social Security Fund, 
which is a defined contribution scheme. The Group’s 
contributions to defined contribution schemes are 
charged to profit or loss in the year to which they relate. 
The Group has no further obligation once the contribu-
tions have been paid.

 
 (vi) Staff gratuity

   The Group has a gratuity arrangement for certain staff 
who are not covered by the defined contribution plan. 
Entitled staff are eligible for gratuity upon retirement/
leaving the Group based on their contracts.

 (m) Taxation

   Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax cur-
rently payable and deferred tax.

  (i) Current taxation

    The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit 
for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit as 
reported in the statement of profit or loss because 
of items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s and the Com-
pany’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

  (ii) Deferred taxation

    Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differ-
ences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) 
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit.

    The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

 (n) Inventories

    Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Cost comprises expenditure 
incurred in the normal course of the business 
including direct material costs and other overheads 
incurred to bring the asset to the existing location 
and condition. Cost of issues is calculated using 
the weighted average method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all esti-
mated costs of disposal. An allowance is made for 
obsolete, slow moving and defective inventories.
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 (o) Cash and cash equivalents

   For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents comprises cash in hand, bank bal-
ances and short term deposits net of bank overdrafts.

 (p) Share capital

   Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equi-
ty. Any premium received over and above the par value 
of the shares is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

   Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction.

 (q) Compound instruments 

   The component parts of compound instruments (con-
vertible notes) issued by the Group are classified sep-
arately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and 
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity in-
strument. A conversion option that will be settled by the 
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity 
instruments is an equity instrument. 

   At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability 
component is estimated using the prevailing market 
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. 
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised 
cost basis using the effective interest method until 
extinguished upon the conversion or at the instrument’s 
maturity date. 

   The equity component is determined by deducting the 
amount of the liability component from the fair value of 
the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised 
and included in equity, net of any income tax effects and 
is not subsequently re-measured. The component will 
remain classified as equity until the conversion option is 
exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in eq-
uity will be transferred to share capital/share premium 
account. 

 
 (r) Financial instruments

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
in the Group’s statement of financial position when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. Financial  assets and financial liabilities 

   are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from 
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabili-
ties, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

  Financial assets

   All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention 
in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are 
measured subsequently in their entirety at either amor-
tised cost or fair value, depending on the classification 
of the financial assets.

  (i) Classification of financial assets

    The Group classifies financial instruments into three 
categories as described below. 

    Financial assets that meet the following conditions 
are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

   •  the financial asset is held within a business   
       model whose objective is to hold financial assets      

   in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
   •  the contractual terms of the financial asset   
       give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are  

   solely payments of principal and interest on the  
   principal amount outstanding.

       Financial assets that meet the following condi-
tions are measured subsequently at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

   •   the financial asset is held within a business  
        model whose objective is achieved by both 

collecting contractual cash flows and selling the 
financial assets; and

   •   the contractual terms of the financial asset  
        give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding.

        By default, all other financial assets are mea-
sured subsequently at fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL). Despite the foregoing, the Group 
may make the following irrevocable election/des-
ignation at initial recognition of a financial asset: 
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 (i)      Classification of financial assets (Continued)

 • the Group may irrevocably elect to present   
   subsequent changes in fair value of an equity invest-

ment in other comprehensive income if certain criteria 
are met; and the Group may irrevocably designate 
a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so elimi-
nates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

 (ii) De-recognition

             The Group derecognises a financial asset only when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. The Group derecognises a 
financial asset only when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If 
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability 
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues 
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

   On derecognition of a financial asset measured at am-
ortised cost, the difference between the assets carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and 
receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on 
derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument 
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on 
derecognition of an investment in equity instrument 
which the Group has elected on initial recognition 
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is trans-
ferred to retained earnings.

  (iii) Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognised amount and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

  
         

(s)      Impairment

   (i) Financial assets

     The Group recognises an allowance for 
expected credit losses (ECLs) for its Trade re-
ceivables, Aircraft deposits and Bank balances. 
ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Company expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective inter-
est rate. The expected cash flows will include 
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or 
other credit enhancements that are integral 
to the contractual terms.

     ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit 
exposures for which there has not been a sig-
nificant increase in credit risk since initial rec-
ognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses 
that result from default events that are pos-
sible within the next 12-months (a 12-month 
ECL). For those credit exposures for which 
there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance 
is required for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of 
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

     For trade receivables, the Group applies 
a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the Group does not track changes 
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
reporting date. The Group has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its his-
torical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors 
and the economic environment.

     Other assets include cash and bank balances 
and deposits which the Group uses count-
er party external rating equivalent both to 
determine whether the financial asset has 
significantly increased in credit risk and to 
estimate ECLs.
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  (s)     Impairment (Continued)

   (i)      Financial assets  ( Continued)

    The Group considers a financial asset in  
    default when  contractual payments are 360 
    day past  due. However, in certain cases, the 
     Group may also consider a financial asset to 

be in default when internal or external infor-
mation indicates that the Group is unlikely to 
receive the outstanding contractual amounts 
in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements held by the Group. 

     A financial asset is written off when there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovering the 
contractual cash flows.

 
   (ii) Non-financial assets
 
     The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-fi-

nancial assets other than inventories and 
deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.

     An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-gener-
ating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A 
cash-generating unit is the smallest identifi-
able asset group that generates cash flows 
that largely are independent from other 
assets and groups. Impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses 
recognised in respect of cash-generating units 
reduce the carrying amount of the other as-
sets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata 
basis.

     The recoverable amount of an asset or 
cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present val-
ue using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. 

     An impairment loss is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to deter

   mine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
   loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
    asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carry-

ing amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised.

  (t) Earnings per share 

    The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per 
share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS 
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attribut-
able to ordinary shareholders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is 
determined by during the profit or loss attributable 
to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the 
effects of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares.

  (u) Borrowing costs

    Borrowing costs directly attributable to the ac-
quisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, there being assets that take substantial 
period of time to get ready for their intended use, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use. Other borrowing costs are recognised 
as an expense as per note 9.

  (v) Provision for liabilities 

    Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provision due to passage of time is recognised 
as finance cost.

    Provisions for employee legal claims are recognised 
when: the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to set-
tle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably 
estimated.

    Provisions for employee restructuring are rec-
ognised when the Group has approved a detailed 
formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring has 
either commenced or has been announced publicly.

    Where there are a number of similar obligations, 
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class 
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to 
any one item included in the same class of obliga-
tions may be insignificant.
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  (w) Related parties

    The Group is controlled by Kenya Airways Plc 
incorporated in Kenya being the ultimate parent. 
There are other companies that are related to 
Kenya Airways Plc through common shareholdings 
or common Directorships.

    The Group and Company disclose the nature and 
amounts outstanding at the end of each financial 
year from transactions with related parties, which 
include transactions with the Directors, executive 
officers and related companies. 

  (x) Segment reporting

    Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO makes 
strategic decisions and is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operat-
ing segments (see note 6).

  (y) Dividends
  
    Dividends payable are recognised as a liability in 

the period in which they are declared.

  (z) Comparatives

    Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
adjusted to conform to changes in presentation 
in the current year. In particular, the comparative 
information has been restated as a result of prior 
year errors as disclosed in note 40.

   
 (aa) Adoption of new and revised  International 
  Financial Reporting Standards

   (i) Relevant new standards and amendments to   
  published standards effective for the year ended  31 

December 2018 

    The following revised IFRSs were effective in the 
current period and the nature and the impact of the 
relevant amendments are described below.

    Impact of initial application of IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers

    In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers which is 
effective for an annual period that begins on or 
after 1 January 2018. The standard establishes a 
five step model that applies to revenue arising from 

contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised 
at an amount that reflects a consideration to which 
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
goods and services at the point at when perfor-
mance obligations associated with these goods and 
services have been satisfied.

    The Group has identified the following changes to 
revenue recognition on the adoption of the 

   standard:

   • Passenger revenue – revenue associated with  
     ancillary services that was previously 
     recognised when paid, such as re-issue 

charges, is deferred to align with the recog-
nition of revenue associated with the related 
travel and;

   • Other revenue – revenue associated with 
     holiday revenue with performance obligations 

that are fulfilled over time, is deferred (with 
the related costs) and recognised over the 
performance obligation period.

     The Group has applied the standard on a 
modified retrospective basis of IFRS 15, and 
the application of the standard did not have 
significant impact except for the additional 
disclosures on the consolidated and company 
financial statements. Consequently, the day 
1 adjustment was considered immaterial for 
any of the financial statement line items as a 
result of application of IFRS 15. 

   Impact of initial application of IFRS 9 Financial  
   Instrument

    The Group has adopted IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instru-
ments’ from 1 January 2018. The standard amends 
the classification and measurement models for 
financial assets and adds new requirements to 
address the impairment of financial assets. It also 
introduces a new hedge accounting model to more 
closely align hedge accounting with risk manage-
ment strategies and objectives. 

    The transition provision of IFRS 9 allow an entity 
not to restate comparatives consequently, the 
Group has elected not to restate comparatives. 
Therefore, the comparative information for 2017 is 
reported under IAS 39 and is not comparable to the 
information presented for 2018. Differences arising 
from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognised 
directly in retained earnings as of 1 January 2018 
and are disclosed in the Statement of Changes in 
Equity.
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 POLICIES (Continued) 
  
 (i)       Adoption of new and revised  International 
  Financial Reporting Standards

 (iii) Relevant new and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet  
  effective for the year ended 31 December 2018
  (Continued) 

   Impact of initial application of IFRS 9 Financial 
  Instrument (Continued)
 
  a) Classification and measurement of financial   
   assets

     To determine their classification and measurement 
category, IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except 
equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed 
based on a combination of the entity’s business 
model for managing the assets and the instru-
ments’ contractual cash flow characteristics.

     The IAS 39 measurement categories of financial 
assets (fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), 
available for sale (AFS), held-to-maturity and 

   amortised cost) have been replaced by:

   • Debt instruments at amortised cost;
   •   Debt instruments at fair value through other 
    comprehensive income (FVOCI), with gains or 
    losses recycled to profit or loss on derecognition;
   • Equity instruments at FVOCI, with no 
    recycling of gains or losses o profit or loss on 
    de-recognition; and
   • Financial assets FVPL.

   Under IFRS 9, embedded derivatives are no longer 
separated from a host financial asset. Instead, financial 
assets are classified based on the business model and 
their contractual terms. The accounting for derivatives 
embedded in financial liabilities and in non-financial 
host contracts has not changed. 

   The Group’s balance sheet only contains the following 
financial assets:

   • Aircraft deposits;
  • Trade receivables; and
  • Cash and bank balances.

   There has been no change in the measurement criteria 
for any of the Group’s financial assets on adoption of 
IFRS 9 after the consideration of the business model 
and cash flow characteristics. Specifically, the trade 

   receivables typically held within a business model 
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, 
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, are measured subsequently at 
amortised cost and are subject to impairment. 

 b) Impairment of financial assets

   In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 
requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to an 
incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected 
credit loss model requires the Group to account for 
expected credit losses and changes in those expected 
credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes 
in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial 
assets. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a 
credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
recognised. Specifically, IFRS 9 requires the Group to 
recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:

  • Trade receivables; 
  • Aircraft deposits; and
  • Bank balances.

   In particular, IFRS 9 requires the Group to measure the 
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount 
equal to the lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) if the 
credit risk on that financial instrument has increased sig-
nificantly since initial recognition, or if the financial instru-
ment is a purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
asset. However, if the credit risk on a financial instrument 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition 
(except for a purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial asset), the Group is required to measure the loss 
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal 
to 12-months ECL. IFRS 9 also requires a simplified 

Items existing as at 1 
January 2018 that are 
subject to impairment 
provision of IFRS 9

Credit risk attributes at 1 January 2018  Cumulative additional 
allowance recognized 
on 1 January 2018

Cumulative additional 
allowance recognized 
on 1 January 2018

Group
KShsmillion

Company
KShsmillion

Trade receivables For trade receivables, the Group applies the 
simplified approach to providing for expected 
credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which 
requires the use of the lifetime expected loss 
provision for all trade receivables.

1,393 1,384
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  approach for measuring the loss allowance at an   
  amount equal to lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
    The additional credit loss allowance of KShs 1,400 

million and KShs 1,391 million as at 1 January 2018 for 
Group and Company respectively has been recognised 
against retained earnings. The additional loss allowance 
is charged against the respective assets. 

   The reconciliation between the ending provision for im-
pairment in accordance with IAS 39 to the opening loss 
allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 for the 
above financial instruments on 1 January 2018 has been 
disclosed in note 5(b).  

   IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration

    IFRIC 22 addresses how to determine the ‘date of trans-
action’ for the purpose of determining the exchange 

  rate to use on initial recognition of an asset, expense  

   or income, when consideration for that item has been 
paid or received in advance in a foreign currency which 
resulted in the recognition of a non-monetary asset or 
non-monetary liability. (e.g. a non-refundable deposit or 
deferred revenue).

   The interpretation specifies that the date of transac-
tions is the date on which the entity initially recognises 
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 

  arising from the payment or receipt of advance 
  consideration. 

   The application of the amendments did not have an 
impact on the consolidated and company financial 
statements as the Group and Company already ac-
counts for transactions involving the payment or receipt 
of advance consideration in a foreign currency in a way 
that is consistent with the amendments.

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
    
 (aa) Adoption of new and revised  International Financial Reporting Standards (Continued) 

 (i) Relevant new standards and amendments to published standards effective for the year ended 31 December 2018   
  (Continued)
  
  Impact of initial application of IFRS 9 Financial Instrument (Continued)
 
 b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Items existing as 
at 1 January 2018 
that are subject to 
impairment provision 
of IFRS 9

Credit risk attributes at 1 January 2018 Cumulative addition-
al allowance 
recognized on 1 J
anuary 2018 

Cumulative addition-
al allowance recog-
nized on 1 January 
2018

Group
KShsmillion

Company
KShsmillion

Aircraft deposits All aircraft deposit balances are assessed to have 
low credit risk at each reporting date as they are 
held with reputable international institutions.

- -

Bank balances There has been no significant increase in the 
credit risk of bank balances. The Group has recog-
nized 12-months expected credit losses for these 
balances.

7 7

Total 1,400 1,391

New standards and Amendments to standards     Effective for annual periods   
           beginning on or after
IFRS 16 Leases        1 January 2019
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments     1 January 2019
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle    1 January 2019
IFRS 9 Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation     1 January 2019    
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 (amendments) Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture  1 January 2019
Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1 January 2019
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures  1 January 2019
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material    1 January 2020

(ii)     New and amended standards in issue but not yet effective in the year ended 31 December 2018
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   

 (Continued)
 
 (aa)  Adoption of new and revised  International Financial 
   Reporting Standards (Continued) 

 (iii) Relevant new and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet  
  effective for the year ended 31 December 2018

  IFRS 16 Leases

   IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for identifica-
tion of lease arrangements and accounting treatments 
for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the 
current guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective. 

   IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on 
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled 
by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off 
balance sheet) and finance leases (on balance sheet) 
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a 
model where a right of use asset and a corresponding 
liability be recognised for all lessees (i.e. on balance 
sheet) except for short term leases and leases of low 
value assets. 

   The right of use is initially measured at cost and subse-
quently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability. 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments, as well as the impact of 
lease modifications, amongst others. Furthermore, 
the classification of cash flows will also be affected as 
operating lease payments under IAS 17 are presented as 
operating cash flows, whereas under IFRS 16, the lease 
payments will be split into principal and interest por-
tions which will be presented as financing and operating 
cash flows respectively. 

  In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially  
   carries forward lessor accounting treatment in IAS 17 

and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease as 
either an operating lease or a finance lease.  

  Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by 
  IFRS 16. 

   The Directors of the Group anticipate that the applica-
tion of this standard will have a significant impact on 
the consolidated and company financial statements as 
at 1 January 2019. 

  IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

    The interpretation addresses the determination of 
  taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses,  
  unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is 

 uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. 
 It specifically considers:

 • Whether tax treatments should be considered 
  collectively; 
 • Assumptions for taxation authorities’ examinations; 
 • The determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases,  
  unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and 
 • The effect of changes in facts and circumstances.
  
 The Directors of the Group do not anticipate that the 
 application of the amendments in the future will have an  
 impact on the consolidated and company financial statements.

 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle

  The Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 cycle 
makes amendments to the following standards:

 • IFRS 3 and IFRS 11 - The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify  
   that when an entity obtains control of a business that 

is a joint operation, it remeasures previously held inter-
ests in that business. The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify 
that when an entity obtains joint control of a business 
that is a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure 
previously held interests in that business. 

 • IAS 12 - The amendments clarify that all income tax  
   consequences of dividends (i.e. distribution of profits) 

should be recognised in profit or loss, regardless of how 
the tax arises. 

 • IAS 23 - The amendments clarify that if any specific  
   borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset 

is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing 
becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows gener-
ally when calculating the capitalisation rate on general 
borrowings.

  The Directors of the Group do not anticipate that the applica-
tion of the amendments in the future will have an impact on 
the consolidated and company financial statements.

 Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with 
 Negative Compensation

  The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that for the purpose of 
assessing whether a prepayment feature meets the SPPI 
condition, the party exercising the option may pay or receive 
reasonable compensation for the prepayment irrespective 
of the reason for prepayment. In other words, prepayment 
features with negative compensation do not automatically 
fail SPPI. The amendment applies to annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted. 
There are specific transition provisions depending on when 
the amendments are first applied, relative to the initial appli-
cation of IFRS 9.

  The Directors of the Group do not anticipate that the applica-
tion of the amendments in the future will have an impact on 
the consolidated and company financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 

 POLICIES (Continued)

 (aa)  Adoption of new and revised  International Financial 

   Reporting Standards (Continued)

   IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 
(amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

   The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with 
situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 
Specifically, the amendments state that gains or losses 
resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that 
does not contain a business in a transaction with an 
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using 
the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit 
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ 
interests in that associate or joint venture.  

   Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remea-
surement of investments retained in any former 
subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint 
venture that is accounted for using the equity method) 
to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit 
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ 
interests in the new associate or joint venture. 

   The Directors of the Group do not anticipate that the 
application of the amendments in the future will have 
an impact on the consolidated and company financial 
statements.

   Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits Plan 
  Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

    The amendments to IAS 19 address the accounting 
when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement oc-
curs during a reporting period. The amendments specify 
that when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 
occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is 
required to:

  • Determine current service cost for the remainder 
    of the period after the plan amendment, curtail-

ment or settlement, using the actuarial assump-
tions used to remeasure the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under 
the plan and the plan assets after that event;

  • Determine net interest for the remainder of the  
   period after the plan amendment, curtailment; and
  • or settlement using: the net defined benefit liability  
    (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the 

plan and the plan assets after that event; and the 
discount rate used to remeasure that net defined 
benefit liability (asset).

    The amendments also clarify that an entity first 
determines any past service cost, or a gain or loss 

on settlement, without considering the effect of the 
asset ceiling. This amount is recognised in profit 
or loss. An entity then determines the effect of the 
asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment 
or settlement. Any change in that effect, excluding 
amounts included in the net interest, is recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

    The Directors of the Group do not anticipate that 
the application of the amendments in the future will 
have an impact on the consolidated and company 
financial statements.

   Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in  
   Associates and Joint Ventures

    The amendment clarifies that IFRS 9, including 
its impairment requirements, applies to long-term 
interests. Furthermore, in applying IFRS 9 to 
long-term interests, an entity does not take into 
account adjustments to their carrying amount 
required by IAS 28 (i.e., adjustments to the carrying 
amount of long-term interests arising from the 
allocation of losses of the investee or assessment 
of impairment in accordance with IAS 28). The 
amendments apply retrospectively to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. Earlier application is permitted. Specific tran-
sition provisions apply depending on whether the 
first-time application of the amendments coincides 
with that of IFRS 9. 

    The Directors of the Group do not anticipate that 
the application of the amendments in the future will 
have an impact on the consolidated and company 
financial statements.

  (iv) Early adoption of standards

    The Group did not early adopt new or amended 
standards in the period ended 31 December 2018.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 

 JUDGEMENTS

  In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and 
liabilities, the Group and Company makes assumptions of 
the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and 
liabilities at the reporting date.  The Group’s and Company’s 
estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience 
and expectation of future events and are reviewed periodi-
cally. This disclosure excludes uncertainty over future events 
and judgments in respect of measuring financial instruments.  
Further information about key assumptions concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty are 
set out in the notes below:
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 

 JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 

 a) Critical accounting estimates 

  (i) Impairment of aircraft and related equipment

     A decline in the value of aircraft could have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. Directors assess the impairment 
of aircraft whenever events or changes in 

   circumstances indicate that the carrying value may  
   not be recoverable. 

    Factors that are considered important which could 
make an impairment review necessary include the 
following:

   • Management’s decision to discontinue use of  
    a certain fleet;
   • Significant decline in the market value beyond  
     that which would be expected from the pas-

sage of time and normal use;
   • Significant changes in technology and 
    regulatory environments; and
   • Evidence from internal reporting which 
     indicates that the performance of the asset is, 

or will be, worse than expected.

    The Group and Company have conducted an 
    analysis of the sensitivity of the impairment test to 

changes in the key assumptions used to determine 
the recoverable amount of its aircraft. The key 
assumptions relate to growth rates applicable to 
the cash generating units (CGUs) estimation of the 
future cash flows expected to be generated by the 
CGUs and the discount rates applied to the 

   projected future cash flows to arrive at the 
   present value.

  (ii) Property, aircrafts and equipment and intangible  
   assets
   
   Useful life of assets

    Useful lives and residual values are reassessed 
annually taking into consideration the latest fleet 
plans and other business plan information. The 
assets are depreciated to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives.

  (iii) Revaluation of land and buildings

    Land and buildings are measured at revalued 
amounts. The fair value is determined based on 
the market and cost approaches using comparable 
market prices for similar items when available and 
replacement cost when appropriate.

  (iv) Unused ticket revenue

    Unused tickets are recognised as revenue using 
estimates regarding the timing of recognition based 

on terms and conditions of the ticket and historical 
trends. 

  (v) Impairment of  financial assets 

    The impairment provisions for financial assets 
are based on assumptions about risk of default 
and expected loss rates. The measurement of 
impairment losses across all categories of financial 
assets requires judgement and the assessment of a 
significant increase in credit risk. These estimates 
are driven by a number of factors, changes in which 
can result in different levels of allowances. The 
Group’s Expected Credit Losses (ECL) calculations 
are outputs of models with a number of underlying 
assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs 
and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL 
models that are considered accounting judgements 
and estimates include:

   • The segmentation of financial assets when  
    their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;
   • Historical default and expected loss rates;
   • The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has  
    been a significant increase in credit risk; and
   • Development of ECL models, including the  
    various formulas and the choice of inputs.

  (v) Impairment of  non-financial assets
 
    Impairment exists when the carrying value of an as-

set or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Non -financial assets that are not subject 
to amortisation are tested annually for impairment. 
These calculations require the use of estimates and 
assumptions such as future expected cash flows 
and pre-tax discount rate. In the Directors’ judge-
ment, the carrying value of Jambojet investment 
has been impaired as per note 17(a) 

  (vi) Classification of leases of land as finance or 
   operating leases

    At the inception of each lease of land, the Group 
and Company considers the substance rather than 
the form of the lease contract.  Examples of situa-
tions that individually or in combination would nor-
mally lead to a lease being classified as a finance 
lease are;

   • The lease transfers ownership of the asset to  
    the lessee by the end of the lease term; 
   • The lessee has the option to purchase the  
     asset at a price that is expected to be suffi-

ciently lower than the fair value at the date 
the option becomes exercisable for it to be 
reasonably certain, at the inception of the 
lease, that the option will be exercised; 

   • The lease term is for the major part of 
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 

 JUDGEMENTS (Continued) 

 (vi) Classification of leases of land as finance or 

  operating leases (Continued)

    the economic life of the asset even if title is not 
   transferred;
  • At the inception of the lease the present value  
    of the minimum lease payments amounts to at least 

substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset; 
and 

  • The leased assets are of such a specialised   
    nature that only the lessee can use them without 

major modifications.

  (vii) Deferred tax asset

    Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused 
tax losses to the extent that it is probable that tax-
able profit will be available against which the losses 
can be utilised. Significant management judgement 
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 
timing and level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies.

  (viii)Provision for lease return costs

    The Group is required to fulfil certain lease return 
conditions which may include the completion of cer-
tain overhauls to the airframe, auxiliary power unit, 
engines and the refurbishment of seats 

    within the aircraft. The provision for return costs is 
determined based on the best estimate of the 

    future costs that will be incurred to fulfil the return 
conditions. The measurement of the provision 
includes assumptions relating to expected costs, 
escalation rates, discount rates commensurate with 
the expected obligation maturity and long-term 
maintenance schedules.

 (b) Critical judgements in applying the entity’s 
  accounting policies

   In the process of applying the Group’s and Company’s 
accounting policies, the Directors have made judge-
ments in determining:  

  • the classification of finance and operating leases;
  • whether financial and non-financial assets are  
   impaired;
  • assessment of going concern assumptions;
  • amortisation of intangible assets;
  • provision for inventory;
  • provision for trade and other receivables;
  • foreign currency hedge effectiveness 
   assessment; 
  • depreciation of property and equipment; and
  • provision for lease return costs.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

  Operating in the aviation industry, Kenya Airways Plc carries 
out its activities in an extremely dynamic, and often highly 
volatile, commercial environment. Therefore, both opportuni-
ties and risks are encountered as part of everyday business 
for the Group and Company. The Group’s and Company’s abili-
ty to recognise, successfully control and manage risks early in 
their development and to identify and exploit opportunities is 
key to its ability to successfully realise the corporate vision.

  The Group and Company has exposure to the following risks 
from its use of financial instruments:

  a) Market risk
 b) Credit risk
 c) Liquidity risk

  Changing market conditions expose the Group and Company 
to various financial risks and management have highlighted 
the importance of financial risk management as an element of 
control for the Group and Company. The policy of the Group 
and Company is to minimise the negative effect of such risks 
on cash flow, financial performance and equity.

  This note presents information about the Group’s and Com-
pany’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s and 
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring 
and managing risk and the Group’s  and Company’s manage-
ment of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included 
throughout these financial statements.

  The Group’s and Company’s Board of Directors have overall re-
sponsibility for the establishment of an oversight of the Group’s 
and Company’s risk management framework. The Board of 
Directors have established the Risk Management Committee, 
which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s 
and Company’s  risk management policies. The committee 
reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities.

 The Group’s and Company’s risk management framework

  The Group’s and Company’s risk management policies are es-
tablished to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group 
and Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls 
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk manage-
ment policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in the market conditions and Group’s and Company’s 
activities. The Group and Company, through its training and 
management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a 
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations.

  The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees how 
management monitors compliance with the Group’s and Com-
pany’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews 
the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation 
to risks faced by the Group and Company. The Audit and Risk 
Management Committee is assisted in its oversight role by 
Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and 
ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, 
the results of which are reported to the Board Audit and Risk 
Committee.
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 Effective 
interest 

rate

KShs 
million

Effective 
interest 

rate

(Restated)
KShs 

million

Short term borrowings 2.00% 60 14.10% 1,049

Long term borrowings 2.00% 184 7.44% 248

Mandatory convertible loan 12.03% 3,456 12.03% 3,277

3,700 4,574

 2018
KShs

 million

2017
KShs

 million

1% increase (821) (895)

1% decrease              821 895

Short term borrowings 4.08% 6,139 3.00% 6,366

Long term borrowings 4.26% 75,947 3.22% 83,175

82,086 89,541

Total exposure 85,786 94,115

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  (Continued)

Fixed rate instruments

Variable rate instruments

Variable rate instruments

Nominal Amount

Profit or loss/equity

Most of the Group’s and Company’s debts are asset secured, reflecting the capital intensive nature of the airline industry. 

The Group and Company has a mix of fixed rate interest loans and variable rate interest loans. 

Exposure to interest rate risk

The interest rate profile of the Group’s and Company’s interest bearing financial instruments as reported to 

management of the Group and Company is as follows:

Group and Company

Sensitivity Analysis

A 1% increase/decrease in the interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/ decreased profit or loss and equity by 

the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular, foreign currency rates, remain constant 

and is only applied on variable interest bearing instruments.

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

2018 2017

(a)  Market risk

   Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as changes in interest rates, jet fuel prices or for eign exchange rates 
will affect the Group’s and Compa ny’s income or the value of its holdings of financial  instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimising returns. Where 

 possible, the Group and Company uses derivatives to manage market risks. As such,  transactions are carried out within the 
 guidelines set by the Board of Directors. Generally, the Group and Company seeks to apply hedge accounting to manage volatility  
 in profit or loss. 

(i) Interest rate risk

 The Group’s and Company’s exposure to market risk due to changes in interest rates primarily relates to its cash deposits and 
 borrowings. 
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a)   Market risk (Continued)

 (i)  Jet fuel price risk)

  The Group and Company are exposed to jet fuel price risk to the extent that there are significant changes in the prices of 

jet fuel. To minimise exposure to fluctuations in prices, the Group and Company consider the use of fuel hedge instruments 

periodically to manage exposure to fuel risk. The Group’s and Company’s risk management objective is to hedge the jet fuel 

price risk by effectively fixing the price of the expected future purchases which are highly probable. Kenya Airways Plc uses 

Options as its derivative financial instruments, while the entire risk of jet fuel purchase are designated as the hedged item.

  At the inception of the hedge and in subsequent periods, the hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving off-set-

ting changes in the fair value attributable to the fuel purchases during the period for which the hedges is designated.

  The Group and Company measures and assesses the hedge effectiveness monthly. The Group’s and Company’s policy is to 

hedge a maximum of 41% of the current year’s projected fuel requirements. 

 Sensitivity analysis

  An increase/decrease of one percentage point in the fuel price at the reporting date would have increased/decreased profit 

or loss and equity by KShs 331 million.

(ii) Currency risk

 

  The Group and Company are exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is mismatch between the currencies in which 

sales, purchases and borrowings are denominated. The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated are 

US Dollars (USD), Euros and Sterling Pounds.

   To mitigate the foreign currency risk exposure, management hedges highly probable forecast USD sales against USD Loans to 

  ensure that the foreign currency obtained from their sales is used to settle any foreign denominated liability. The main liabili-

ty is the repayment of borrowings for the short term and long term debt. Generally, borrowings are denominated in curren-

cies that match the cash flows generated by the underlying operations of the Group and Company – primarily US Dollars. In 

addition, interest on borrowings is denominated in the currency of the borrowing.

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  (Continued)
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 GBP
KShs 

millions

USD
KShs 

millions

EURO
KShs 

millions

TOTAL
KShs 

millions

Financial assets

Prepaid maintenance asset - 3,398 - 3,398

Aircraft deposits - 3,076 - 3,076

Trade and other receivables 641 8,485 781 9,907

Cash and cash equivalents 21 3,507 136 3,664

662 18,466 917 20,045

Financial liabilities

Return condition provision - (4,175) - (4,175)

Trade and other payables (300) (20,983) (781) (22,064)

Mandatory convertible note - (3,456) - (3,456)

Net exposure 362 (10,148) 136 (9,650)

Financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings - (82,330) - (82,330)

Net exposure - (82,330) - (82,330)

31 December 2017 (Restated)

Financial assets

Prepaid maintenance asset - 4,125 - 4,125

Aircraft deposits - 5,328 - 5,328

Trade and other receivables 1,366 8,027 1,194 10,587

Cash and cash equivalents 54 1,408 50 1,512

1,420 18,888 1,244 21,552

Financial liabilities

Return condition provision - (4,650) - (4,650)

Trade and other payables (281) (22,983) (649) (23,913)

Mandatory convertible note - (3,277) - (3,277)

Net exposure 1,139 (12,022) 595 (10,288)

Financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings - (89,849) - (89,849)

Net exposure - (89,849) - (89,849)

31 December 2018

Group

a) Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Currency risk (Continued)

  The various currencies to which the Group and Company were exposed at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are 

 summarised in the table below (all amounts expressed in Kenya Shillings million). The exposure is only in relation to the major   

 non-Kenya shilling denominated balances:

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  (Continued)
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 GBP
KShs 

millions

USD
KShs 

millions

EURO
KShs 

millions

TOTAL
KShs 

millions

Financial assets

Prepaid maintenance asset - 3,018 - 3,018

Aircraft deposits - 3,076 - 3,076

Trade and other receivables 641 7,992 781 9,414

Cash and cash equivalents 21 3,420 136        3,577

662 17,506 917 19,085

Financial liabilities

Return condition provision - (3,423) - (3,423)

Trade and other payables (300) (20,584) (781) (21,665)

Mandatory convertible note - (3,456) - (3,456)

Net exposure 362 (9,957) 136 (9,459)

Financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings - (82,330) - (82,330)

Net exposure - (82,330) - (82,330)

31 December 2017 (Restated)

Financial assets

Prepaid maintenance asset - 4,043 - 4,043

Aircraft deposits - 5,328 - 5,328

Trade and other receivables 1,366 7,603 1,194 10,163

Cash and cash equivalents 54 1,331 50        1,435

1,420 18,305 1,244 20,969

Financial liabilities
Return condition provision - (3,898) - (3,898)
Trade and other payables (281) (22,932) (636) (23,849)
Mandatory convertible note - (3,277) - (3,277)

Net exposure 1,139 (11,802) 608 (10,055)

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings - (89,849) - (89,849)

Net exposure - (89,849) - (89,849)

31 December 2018

Company

a) Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Currency risk (Continued)

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  (Continued)
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 2018

KShs 
millions

2017
(restated)

KShs 
millions

2018

KShs 
millions

2017
(restated)

KShs 
millions

GBP 36 114 36 114

USD (1,015) (1,202) (996) (1,180)

EURO 14 60 14 61

(965) (1,028) (946) (1,005)

Other Comprehensive income

USD (8,233) (8,985) (8,233) (8,985)

The exchange rates applied during the year are as follows:

                                                                                                       Average rates                                      Closing rates

2018 2017 2018 2017

GBP 135.45 134.50 129.12 139.65

USD 101.20 102.99 101.83 103.18

EURO 119.81 118.20 116.60 123.93

Profit or Loss

Group Company

a) Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

  A 10% percent appreciation or depreciation of the Kenya shilling against the following currencies would increase/ (decrease) 

the reported profit or loss and equity by amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rates 

  variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at end of the reporting period. This analysis assumes that all 

other variables in particular interest rates remain constant. 

(b) Credit risk

  Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group and Company if a customer or a counter-party to a financial instrument 

fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s and Company’s receivables from customers, 

cash and bank balances and aircraft deposits.

 The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

  The Group and Company largely conducts its sale of passenger and cargo transportation through International Air Trans-

port Association (IATA) approved sales agents. All IATA agents have to meet a minimum financial criterion applicable to 

their country of operation to remain accredited. Adherence to the financial criteria is monitored on an on-going basis by 

IATA through the association’s Agency Programme. The credit risk associated with such sales agents is relatively low owing 

to the programme’s broad diversification. The Group’s and Company’s accounts receivable are generated largely from the 

sale of passenger airline tickets and cargo transportation services. 

  Majority of these sales are in accounts receivable which are generally short term in duration. The credit risk associated with 

these receivables is minimal and the allowance for uncollectible amounts that the Group and Company has recognised in 

the financial statements is considered adequate to cover any potentially irrecoverable amounts.
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                                                                                                                   Group                      Company

2018
KShs

million

2017
KShs

million

2018
KShs

million

2017
KShs

million

Trade receivables 10,775 8,477 10,399 8,192

Other receivables 3,662 1,173 3,072 1,171

Prepaid maintenance asset 3,398 4,125 3,018 4,023

Amounts due from related companies - 32 16,481 10,808

Aircraft deposits 3,076 5,328 3,076 5,328

Bank balances 6,431 6,344 6,243 6,151

Total 27,342 25,479 42,289 35,673

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 

The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns Generally, 

trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than one year. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is 

the carrying value of each class of financial assets.

The Group and Company does not have significant concentrations of credit risk on derivative counterparties where transactions 

are limited to financial institutions possessing high credit quality since the risk of default is low 

The Board of Directors sets the Group’s and Company’s treasury policies and objectives and lays down parameters within which 

the various aspects of treasury risk management are operated. The Board has set limits for investing in specified banks and 

financial institutions and cash surpluses are maintained with credible institutions. 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit risk:

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its Risk Management Committee to develop and maintain the Group’s credit 

risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by 

independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Risk Management Committee uses other publicly available 

financial information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure 

and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is 

spread amongst approved counterparties.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Category Description Basis for recognizing expect-
ed credit losses

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 
any past-due amounts.

12 month ECL

Doubtful Amount is past due or there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL – not credit 
impaired

In default Amount is >360 days past due or there is evidence indicating 
the asset is credit-impaired.

Lifetime ECL – credit impaired

Write off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of 
recovery.

Amount is written off
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Group

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s and Company’s  financial assets as well as the Group’s and Company’s 

maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades.

 External 
credit 
rating

Internal 
credit 
rating

12 month or 
lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying 
amount

KShs  
million

Loss 
allowance

KShs  
million

Net 
carrying 
amount

KShs 
million

Trade 

receivables N/A Doubtful

Lifetime 

ECL 12,702 (1,927) 10,775

Cash and bank 

balances A, BBB, Performing 12 month ECL 6,433 (2) 6,431

Aircraft deposits B+, B- Performing 12 month ECL 3,076 - 3,076

22,211 (1,929) 20,282

Company        

 External 
credit 
rating

Internal 
credit 
rating

12 month or 
lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying 
amount

KShs  
million

Loss 
allowance

KShs  
million

Net 
carrying 
amount

KShs 
million

Trade 

receivables N/A Doubtful

Lifetime 

ECL 13,107 (2,708) 10,399

Cash and bank 

balances A, BBB, Performing 12 month ECL 6,245 (2) 6,243

Aircraft deposits B+, B- Performing 12 month ECL 3,076 - 3,076

22,428 (2,710) 19,718

Credit risk profile based on provision matrix

Group

        

31 December 2018 < 30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 91-180 days 181-360 days Over 361 
days

Total

ECL rate 35.80% 35.71% 40.35% 47.24% 76.24% 100.00%    55.89%

Expected Gross Carry-

ing Amount 7,704 514 233 756 557 452 10,216

Lifetime ECL 327 192 129 214 176 445 1,484
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 Trade 
receivables

KShs 
million

Cash and bank 
balances

KShs 
million

Aircraft 
deposits

KShs 
million

Total
KShs 

million

At 1 January 2017 (2,471) - - (2,471)

Increase in loss allowance arising from 

financial assets  recognized in the year (785) - (785)

At 31 December 2017 (3,256) - - (3,256)

 

31 December 2018

At 1 January 2018 - as previously reported (3,256) - - (3,256)

Effect of change of accounting policy for IFRS 9

(1,393) (7) - (1,400)

At 1 January 2018 – restated (4,649) (7) - (4,656)

(Increase)/decrease in loss allowance arising from 

new financial assets (recognised)/derecognised in 

the year 2,720 5 - 2,725

At 31 December 2018 under IFRS 9 (1,929) (2) - (1,933)

Company

31 December 2017 -

At 1 January 2017 (3,416) - - (3,416)

Increase in loss allowance arising from 

financial assets  recognized in the year (802) - - (802)

At 31 December 2017 under IAS 39 (4,218) - - (4,218)

31 December 2018 < 30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 91-180 days 181-360 days Over 361 
days

Total

ECL rate 34.38% 33.19% 34.35% 36.93% 50.24% 100.00%    48.18%

Expected Gross Carry-

ing Amount 7,576 496 223 750 552 441 10,039

Lifetime ECL 327 192 129 214 175 436 1,472

31 December 2017

Group

A reconciliation of the impairment loss accounts:

Company

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
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Company Trade 
receivables

KShs 
million

Cash and bank 
balances

KShs 
million

Aircraft 
deposits

KShs 
million

Total
KShs 

million

At 1 January 2018 – as previously reported (4,218) - - (4,218)

Adjustment upon application of IFRS 9 (1,384) (7) - (1,391)

At 1 January 2018 – restated (5,602) (7) - (5,609)

(Increase)/decrease in loss allowance arising from 

new financial assets (recognised)/derecognised in 

the year

2,892 5 - 2,897

At 31 December 2018 under IFRS 9 (2,710) (2) - (2,712)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

A reconciliation of the impairment loss accounts (continued):

The Directors believe that the unimpaired amounts that are past due (more than 30 days in arrears) are still 

collectible in full based on historical payment behaviour and extensive analysis of customer credit risk.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 

financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s and Company’s approach to 

managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, 

under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 

and Company’s reputation. 

Kenya Airways seeks to maintain sufficient cash balances to cover six months debt obligations and lease rentals.

Management perform cash flow forecasting and monitor rolling forecasts of the Group’s and Company’s liquidity requirements to 

ensure it has sufficient cash to meet its operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn borrowing 

facilities at all times so that the Group and Company do not breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of its borrowing 

facilities. Management have sought waivers after year-end from lenders when they have not been compliant with the covenants.
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 Less than 
1 year
KShs

 million

2 - 5 
years
KShs 

million

Over 5 
years
KShs 

million

Total
KShs 

million

Borrowings 77,846 184 4,300 82,330

Trade and other payables 30,038 - - 30,038

107,884 184 4,300 112,368

31 December 2017 - restated

Borrowings 86,232 248 4,358 90,838

Trade and other payables 27,049 - - 27,049

113,281 248 4,358 117,887

Company

31 December 2018

Borrowings 77,846 184 4,300 82,330

Trade and other payables 48,423 - - 48,423

126,269 184 4,300 130,753

31 December 2017 - restated

Borrowings 86,232 248 4,358 90,838

Trade and other payables 39,629 - - 39,629

125,861 248 4,358 130,467

31 December 2018

Group

(c) Liquidity risk  (Continued)

The table below analyses financial liabilities into relevant maturities based on the remaining period at year-end to the contractual 

maturity date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted and include estimated interest payments.

The Group and Company’s Board of Director’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and 

creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Company’s Board of Directors monitors the 

return on capital, which is defined as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity.

(d)  Capital Management
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(d) Capital Management (Continued)

The Group and Company’s Board of Directors seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with 

higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

The Group and Company monitors the return on shareholder’s funds which is defined as the profit for the year expressed as a 

percentage of average shareholder’s equity. The Group and Company seeks to provide a higher return to the shareholders by 

investing in more profitable routes and improving on efficiencies to provide world class service to meet its growth plans. 

Kenya Airways also monitors capital on the basis of a gearing ratio which is calculated as the ratio of borrowings net of bank 

and cash balances to shareholder’s equity. As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio of the Group and Company was >100% 

(31 December 2017: >100%). Note 2(e) summarises the procedures the Directors’ are putting in place to address the solvency 

challenges facing the company. 

The gearing ratio for the Group at the end of the year was as follows:

*Total equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and Company respectively.

 2018

KShs
million

 2017
(Restated)

KShs
million

Total equity* (2,578) 4,775

Loans and borrowings 82,330 90,838

Mandatory convertible loan 3,456 3,277

Less: Cash and bank balances (6,431) (6,356)

Net borrowings 79,355 87,759

Net debt to equity ratio >100% >100%

The gearing ratio for the Company at the end of the year was as follows:

Company

Total equity* (5,802) 1,789

Loans and borrowings 82,330 90,838

Mandatory convertible loan 3,456 3,277

Less: Cash and bank balances (6,243) (6,163)

Net borrowings 79,543 87,952

Net debt to equity ratio >100% >100%

Group
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 Amortised 
Cost
KShs 

millions

Fair value – 
Hedging 

instruments
KShs 

millions

Other 
liabilities 

KShs 
millions

Total
KShs

 millions

Financial assets

Trade receivables 10,775 - - 10,775

Other receivables 3,662 - - 3,662

Aircraft deposits 3,076 - - 3,076

Fuel derivatives - 354 - 354

Cash and bank balances 6,431 - - 6,431

Total financial assets 23,944 354 - 24,298

Financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings - - 82,330 82,330

Mandatory convertible note - - 3,456 3,456

Trade and other payables - - 30,038 30,038

Provisions - - 1,278 1,278

Total financial liabilities - - 117,102 117,102

31 December 2017 - restated

Financial assets

Trade receivables 8,477 - - 8,477

Other receivables 1,173 - - 1,173

Due from related companies 32 - - 32

Aircraft deposits 5,328 - - 5,328

Cash and bank balances 6,356 - - 6,356

Total financial assets 21,366 - - 21,366

Financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings - - 90,838 90,838

Mandatory convertible loan - - 3,277 3,277
Trade and other payables - - 27,049 27,049
Provisions - - 1,667 1,667

Total financial liabilities - - 122,831 122,831

31 December 2018

Group

(e) Accounting classifications and fair values for financial assets and financial liabilities

The table below sets out the carrying amount of each class of financial assets and financial liabilities and their fair values.
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 Amortised 
Cost
KShs 

millions

Fair value – 
Hedging 

instruments
KShs 

millions

Other 
liabilities 

KShs 
millions

Total
KShs

 millions

Financial assets

Trade receivables 10,402 - - 10,402

Other receivables 3,069 - - 3,069

Due from related companies 16,481 - - 16,481

Aircraft deposits 3,076 - - 3,076

Fuel derivatives - 354 - 354

Cash and bank balances 6,243 - - 6,243

Total financial assets 39,271 354 - 39,625

Financial liabilities

Loans and borrowings - - 82,330 82,330

Mandatory convertible note - - 3,456 3,456

Trade and other payables - - 48,423 48,423

Provisions - - 1,240 1,240

Total financial liabilities - - 135,449 135,449

31 December 2017 - restated

Financial assets

Trade receivables 8,192 - - 8,192

Other receivables 1,171 - - 1,171

Due from related companies 10,808 - - 10,808

Aircraft deposits 5,328 - - 5,328

Cash and bank balances 6,163 - - 6,163

Total financial assets 31,662 - - 31,662

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings - - 90,838 90,838
Mandatory convertible note - - 3,277 3,277
Trade and other payables - - 39,629 39,629
Provisions - - 1,605 1,605

Total financial liabilities - - 135,349 135,349

31 December 2018

Group

(e) Accounting classifications and fair values for financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
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 Financial liabilities                                 Fair values as at                  Fair value hierarchy          Valuation techniques

                                                                                                                                                       and key inputs

                                                               2018                2017

                                                         KShs million    KShs million               

6.   SEGMENT INFORMATION

(e) Accounting classifications and fair values for financial assets and financial liabilities (Continued)

i) Fair value of the Group’s and Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value   

 on a recurring basis. 

 Some of the Group’s and Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the   

 end of each reporting period. The following table provides information about how the fair values of these financial assets and  

 liabilities are determined (in particular, valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

 There were no transfers between level 1 and 2 during the current or prior period.

Directors have determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer that are used to make 

strategic decisions.  

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of share of profits of associates, 

investment revenue and finance costs, and income tax expense.

The major part of the business of the Group and Company falls under category of aviation transport with income from other categories 

comprising less than 7.5% of total income.

Analysis of turnover according to business segments:

The Nairobi – Amsterdam and Nairobi – London routes contribute 16% of the total turnover.

Sovereign guarantee from the 

Government of Kenya 1,188 1,405 Level 3 No observable market inputs

 Passenger
KShs

million

Freight 
and mail

KShs
million

Handling
KShs

million

Lease 
rental 

income
KShs

Million

Other 
Income

KShs
million

Total
KShs

million

31 December 2018  (12 Months):         

Kenya 6,946 1,061 291 - 607 8,905

Rest of the world 88,241 7,407 1,902 1,461 6,269 105,280

95,187 8,468 2,193 1,461 6,876 114,185

31 December 2017  (9 Months):         

Kenya 4,246 676 36 - 383 5,341

Rest of the world 63,367 4,868 1,510 1,101 4,612 75,458

67,613 5,544 1,546 1,101 4,995 80,799
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No single external customer contributes 10% or more of the Group’s or Company’s revenues.

6.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

31 December 2018  (12 Months): 

Analysis of costs according to business segments:

Passenger
KShs

million

Freight 
and mail

KShs
million

Handling
KShs

million

Other 
Income

KShs
million

Total
KShs

million

Depreciation and amortisation 4,567 407 105 - 5,079

Interest expense 4,552 405 105 - 5,062

31 December 2017  (9 Months):         

Depreciation and amortisation 4,590 376 105 - 5,071

Interest expense 4,456 365 102 - 4,923

Analysis of operating (loss)/profit per business segments:

 2018
(12 months)

KShs
 million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

 2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

 2017
(9 months)

 KShs 
million

Passengers (757) 713 (982) 512

Freight, mail and others 74 213 76 165

(683) 926 (906) 677

Segment assets and liabilities

The major revenue-earning assets of the Group and Company comprise the aircraft fleet, all of which are registered in Kenya. 

Since the Group’s and Company’s aircraft fleet is employed flexibly across its worldwide route network, there is no suitable basis 

of allocating such assets and related liabilities to the operating segments. Since the 

aircraft fleet is deployed flexibly across the Company’s route network, providing information on non-current assets by geographi-

cal and business segments is not considered meaningful.

Geographical Segments 

 2018
KShs

million

 2017
KShs 

million 

Europe            27,034 19,200

Middle  East 5,314 3,651

China 8,515 7,991

India 5,373 3,570

North America 947 -

Africa 67,002 46,387

114,185 80,799
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  2018
(12 months)

KShs 
million

 2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

 2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

Passengers 95,187 67,613 90,924 65,234

Freight and mail 8,468 5,544 8,468 5,544

Handling 2,193 1,546 - -

Lease rental income 1,461 1,101 1,461 1,101

Others revenue 6,876 4,344 6,967 4,734

Total 114,185 80,148 107,820 76,613

   2018
(12 months)

KShs 
million

  2017
(9 months)
(Restated)

KShs 
million

  2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

2017
(9 months)
(Restated)

KShs 
million

Aircraft fuel and oil 33,056 19,037 32,064 18,533

Aircraft landing, handling and navigation 14,126 11,077 13,763 10,899

Aircraft maintenance 8,997 7,262 8,589 6,871

Passenger services 5,764 3,958 5,747 3,942

Commissions on sales 2,968 2,306 2,944 2,292

Aircraft, passenger and cargo insurance 330 220 323 220

Crew route expenses 2,497 1,917 2,496 1,915

Central reservation system and frequent flyer 

programme

6,072 4,670 5,689 4,341

Other direct costs 1,154 1,272 637 900

Option premium paid 66 - 66 -

75,030 51,719 72,318 49,913

Sale of engine - 651 - 651

7.  INCOME

      (a)   Revenue Group

Group

Company

Company
8.  EXPENSE BY NATURE

      (a)   Direct Costs

(b)   Other income
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  2018
(12 months)

KShs 
million

  2017
(9 months)
(Restated)

KShs 
million

 2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

  2017
(9 months)
(Restated)

KShs 
million

Hire of aircraft and engines 7,605 6,448 6,603 6,064

Depreciation on aircraft, engines 
and rotables (note 15)

6,902 4,323 6,898 4,322

Depreciation of return condition 
assets (note 18)

1,832 1,404 1,525 1,404

Impairment of assets held for sale 
(note 23(a)(i))

- 360 - 360

Impairment of aircraft (note 15) 2,590 - 2,590 -

18,929 12,535 17,616 12,150

   2018
(12 months)

KShs 
million

  2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

  2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

Employee costs (note 8(d)) 16,066 9,480 14,401 8,886

Legal and professional fees (70) 852 (93) 837

Directors’ remuneration

(note 36(c)) 93 136 93 136

Auditor’s remuneration 15 14 10 9

Impairment provision relating to 
bank balances (note 35(b))       (5)       -       (5)       -

General expenses 2,442 2,063 2,175 1,894

Impairment of investment in subsidiary 
(note 17(a)) - - 440 -

18,541 12,545 17,021 11,762

General maintenance

and supplies 1,233 989 1,457 860

Depreciation on buildings,

vehicles and other equipment (note 15) 794 652 733 607

Amortisation expense – software (note 16(b)) 180 229 148 208

2,207 1,870 2,338 1,675

8.  EXPENSE BY NATURE (Continued)

      (b)   Fleet ownwership costs

(c)   Overheads

        (i)  Administration expenses

        (ii)  Establishment
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   2018
(12 months)

KShs 
million

  2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

  2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

Advertising and publicity 595 337 39 285

Impairment provision relating to 

trade receivables (note 22) (434) 785 (606) 802

161 1,122 (567) 1,087

Total overheads 20,909 15,537 18,792 14,524

   2018
(12 months)

KShs 
million

  2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

  2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

Wages and salaries 13,054 9,039 11,652 8,046

Contributions to retirement 

benefits 827 618 756 571

National Social Security Fund (NSSF) 55 35 48 10

Leave pay accrual (note 34) 311 128 286 112

Increase/(decrease) in redundancy

provisions (note 33) 101 (2,627) 102 (1,969)

Other staff costs 1,718 2,287 1,557 2,116

Total 16,066 9,480 14,401 8,886

8.  EXPENSE BY NATURE (Continued)

      (c)   Overheads (Continued)

               (iii)  Selling 

(d)   Employee costs

        Information on the average number of persons employed in the Group during the year and the costs for the year is provided below:

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

Group

Group

Company

Company



ANNUAL REPORT & F INANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018110

  2018
(12 months)

KShs 
million

 2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

 2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
million

Interest expense:

- on long term borrowings 3,758 2,130 3,758 2,130

- on short term facilities 1,304 2,793 1,301 2,791

5,062 4,923 5,059 4,921

Interest income:

Interest income on short term bank deposits (45) (32) (51) (38)

Net finance costs 5,017 4,891 5,008 4,883

   2018
(12 months)

KShs 
million

  2017
(9 months)
(Restated)

KShs 
million

  2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
million

2017
(9 months)
(Restated)

KShs 
million

Foreign currency exchange losses 1,467 2,087 1,448 2,083

Other costs 421 336 418 334

1,888 2,423 1,866 2,417

Lease rental income (note 7(a)) (1,461) (1,101) (1,461) (1,101)

Employee costs (note 8(d)) 16,066 9,480 14,401 8,886

Hire of aircraft and engines  (note 8(b)) 7,605 6,448 6,603 6,064

Net foreign exchange losses (note 10) 1,467 2,087 1,448 2,083

Depreciation of property, aircraft and equipment (note 15) 6,902 4,323 6,898 4,322

Depreciation of return conditions asset (note 18) 1,832 1,404 1,525 1,404

Amortisation of computer software (note 16(b)) 180 229 148 208

Impairment of assets held for sale (note 23(a)(i)) - 360 - 360

Impairment of aircraft (note 15) 2,590 - 2,590 -

Impairment provision relating to trade 
receivables (note 22)

(434) 785 (606) 802

Impairment provision relating to bank balances 
(note 35(b))

(5) - (5) -

Auditor’s remuneration 15 14 10 9

Directors’ remuneration (note 36(c)) 93 136 93 136

Loss on disposal of assets held sale, and

  Property, aircraft & equipment 84 4 84 4

Provision for obsolete inventories (note 21) (43) 47 (43) 47

Impairment of investment in subsidiary (note 17(a)) - - 440 -

9.   NET FINANCE COSTS

        Finance costs:

10. OTHER LOSSES

11.  LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

      The loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
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 2018

(12 months)

KShs 

Million

2017

(9 months)

KShs 

Million

Income tax charge recognised in profit or loss

Current income tax at 30% 50 32

Deferred income tax (credit)/charge (note 28) (80) 80

(30) 112

Income tax charge recognised in profit or loss

Current tax at 30% 32 16

Taxation charge 32 16

 2018
(12 months)

KShs 
Million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
Million

Loss before taxation (7,588) (6,306)

Current tax at 30% (2,276) (1,892)

Tax effect of expenses not subject for tax purposes 196 328

Unrecognised deferred tax asset (note 28) 2,050 1,676

Taxation (credit)/charge (30) 112

Loss before income tax (7,780) (6,623)

Current tax at 30% (2,334) (1,987)

Tax effect of expenses not subject for tax purposes 229 356

Unrecognised deferred tax asset (note 28) 2,137 1,647

Taxation charge 32 16

12.  INCOME TAX

(i) Taxation (credit)/charge

(i) Taxation charge

(ii) Reconciliation of tax based on accounting loss to tax charge

(ii) Reconciliation of tax based on accounting loss to tax charge

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory income tax 

rate as follows:

(a) Group

(b) Company
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Group Company

2018
(12 months)

KShs 
Million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
Million

2018
(12 months)

 KShs 
Million

2017
(9 months)

KShs 
Million

At beginning of year/period 1,246 1,235 1,249 1,240

Charge for the year/period (50) (32) (32) (16)

Paid during the year/period 62 43 35 25

At end of year/period 1,258 1,246 1,252 1,249

Presented in the statement of financial

 position as follows:

Current tax recoverable 1,258 1,249 1,252 1,249

Current tax payable - (3) - -

Net current tax asset 1,258 1,246 1,252 1,249

2018
KShs 

Million

2017
(Restated)

KShs 
Million

Loss attributable to equity

holders of the Company (7,554) (6,422)

Basic loss per share

Weighted average number  

of ordinary shares (million) 5,824 5,824

Basic loss per share (KShs) (1.30) (1.10)

Diluted loss per share

Weighted average number  of ordinary shares used in calculation of basic
loss per share (million) 5,824 5,824

Weighted average number of ordinary shares deemed to be issued in respect of 
mandatory convertible note (million)

1,659 1,659

7,483 7,483

Diluted loss per share (KShs) (1.01) (0.86)

12.  INCOME TAX (Continued)

13.  LOSS PER SHARE - GROUP

(c) Current tax recoverable/(payable)

Basic loss per share are calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Group by 

the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
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 2018

KShs

 Million

2017

KShs

 Million

At the beginning and end of the year/period (note 32) 90 90

14.  DIVIDENDS – GROUP AND COMPANY

The Directors do not recommend payment of dividend for the twelve months period ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil). This proposal 

will be presented for formal approval by shareholders’ at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

The unclaimed dividends account is as follows:

 Land and 
buildings 

KShs 
Million 

 Aircraft, 
engines and 

rotables
KShs 

Million 

 Other 
property and 

equipment 
KShs 

Million 

 Incomplete 
projects 

KShs 
Million 

 Total 
KShs

 Million 

Cost or valuation:

At 1 April  2017 9,371 130,161 11,452 5 150,989

Additions - 382 143 137 662

Transfer from assets held for sale (note 23(a)(ii)) 310 - - - 310

Transfer to intangible assets (note 16(b)) - - - (6) (6)

Disposals - (223) (4) - (227)

At 31 December 2017 9,681 130,320 11,591 136 151,728

At 1 January 2018 9,681 130,320 11,591 136 151,728

Additions - 536 108 88 732

Transfer to intangible assets (note 16(b)) - - - (176) (176)

Transfer in/(out) - - 15 (15) -

Impairment* - (2,590) - - (2,590)

Disposals - (2,256) (216) - (2,472)

At 31 December 2018 9,681 126,010 11,498 33 147,222

Depreciation:

At 1 April  2017 503 26,890 9,689 - 37,082

Charge for the period 265 4,323 387 - 4,975

Disposals - (202) (4) - (206)

 At 31 December 2017 768 31,011 10,072 - 41,851

At 1 January  2018 768 31,011 10,072 - 41,851

Charge for the year 330 6,902 464 - 7,696

Disposals - (1,947) (213) - (2,160)

At 31 December 2018 1,098 35,966 10,323 - 47,387

Net book value

At 31 December 2018 8,583 90,044 1,175 33 99,835

At 31 December 2017 8,913 99,309 1,519 136 109,877

Net book value (cost basis)

At 31 December 2018 3,090 90,044 1,175 33 94,342

At 31 December 2017 3,199 99,309 1,519 136 104,163

Group

15.  PROPERTY, AIRCRAFT AND EQUIPMENT
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 Land and 
buildings 

KShs 
Million 

 Aircraft, 
engines and 

rotables
KShs 

Million 

 Other 
property and 

equipment 
KShs 

Million 

 Incomplete 
projects 

KShs 
Million 

 Total 
KShs

 Million 

Cost or valuation:

At 1 April  2017 8,759 130,157 10,916 - 149,832

Additions - 339 123 136 598

Transfer from assets held for sale (note 23(a (ii)) 310 - - - 310

Disposals - (223) (4) - (227)

At 31 December 2017 9,069 130,273 11,035 136 150,513

At 1 January 2018 9,069 130,273 11,035 136 150,513

Additions - 496 78 47 621

Transfer to intangible assets (note 16(b)) - - - (176) (176)

Impairment* - (2,590) - - (2,590)

Disposals - (2,251) (216) - (2,467)

At 31 December 2018 9,069 125,928 10,897 7 145,901

Depreciation:

At 1 April  2017 472 26,887 9,244 - 36,603

Charge for the period 245 4,322 362 - 4,929

Disposals - (202) (4) - (206)

At 31 December 2017 717 31,007 9,602 - 41,326

At 1 January  2018 717 31,007 9,602 - 41,326

Charge for the year 303 6,898 430 - 7,631

Disposals - (1,942) (213) - (2,155)

At 31 December 2018 1,020 35,963 9,819 - 46,802

Net book value

At 31 December 2018 8,049 89,965 1,078 7 99,099

At 31 December 2017 8,352 99,266 1,433 136 109,187

Net book value (cost basis)

At 31 December 2018 2,898 89,965 1,078 7 93,948

At 31 December 2017 2,931 99,266 1,433 136 103,766

Company

15.  PROPERTY, AIRCRAFT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
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 Level 1
KShs 

Million 

 Level 2
KShs 

Million

 Level 3
KShs 

Million 

 Total 
KShs

 Million 

31 December 2018
Group

Land and buildings  - - 8,142 8,142

Company

Land and buildings - - 7,878 7,878

31 December 2017
Group

Land and buildings - - 8,742 8,742

Company

Land and buildings - - 8,181 8,181

15.  PROPERTY, AIRCRAFT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

* During the year, the Group and Company recognised an impairment loss of KShs 2,590 million of a B777-300ER in the statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. This asset has been subleased to Turkish Airlines and is used in the Group’s and 

Company’s lease rental income segment. 

The net book value of aircrafts charged as security for loan facilities obtained to finance their purchase is KShs 86,953 million 

(2017: KShs 93,042) at the end of the period. Details of the outstanding loan facilities are disclosed in note 27.

The Group’s and Company’s land and buildings were last revalued on 31 March 2016 by an independent valuer, on the basis of open 

market value. The valuers are members of the Institute of Valuers of Kenya and they have appropriate qualifications and recent 

experience in the fair value measurements of properties in the relevant locations. 

There was no valuation carried out during the year.

Details of the fair value hierarchy for the Group’s and Company’s property carried at fair value as at 31 December 2018 and 31 

December 2017 are as follows:

The land and buildings are in level 3 hierarchy of measurement.  There were no transfers between the levels during the year. The val-

uers used depreciated replacement cost to estimate the fair value of the buildings and market comparison approach to determine 

the fair value of land. The significant inputs in the valuation included the market prices of similar transactions for the land; estimated 

construction costs and other ancillary expenditures, and appropriate depreciation factors for the buildings. The estimated fair 

value of the land would increase if property prices near the location of the property was higher and vice versa. A slight increase in 

the depreciation factor would result in a significant decrease in the fair value of the assets, and a slight increase in the estimated 

construction and purchase costs would result in significant increase in the fair value of the assets, and vice versa. 

Included in property, aircraft and equipment are assets with a cost of KShs 19,815 million (2017: KShs 20,986 million) that are 

fully depreciated. The notional annual depreciation of these assets would have been KShs 2,628 million (2017: KShs 2,783 million). 

Incomplete projects relates to systems yet to be available for use.
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16.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Kenya Airways Plc has rights to a landing slot at the London Heathrow International Airport to enable daily afternoon landings and 

departures on the Nairobi – London route. The rights obtained to the use of the slot are for an indefinite period as per the nature 

of the asset and the operationalising agreements. The slot was obtained in 2017 as an in-kind contribution from KLM Royal Dutch 

Airlines in exchange for ordinary shares in the company as disclosed in note 24.

*The IT systems received from KLM Royal Dutch Airlines were obtained as an in-kind contribution in exchange for ordinary shares in 

the company.

(a) Intangible assets – landing slot

(b)  Intangible assets – computer software

   Intangible assets consist of:

                 Group                  Company

2018
KShs 

Million

2017
KShs 

Million

2018
KShs 

Million

2017
KShs 

Million

Landing slot 2,561 2,561 2,561 2,561

Computer systems and software 401 330 382 280

2,962 2,891 2,943 2,841

                Group                 Company

2018
KShs 

Million

2017
KShs 

Million

2018
KShs 

Million

2017
KShs 

Million

Cost:

At  beginning of year/period 4,649 4,467 4,476 4,300

Additions from KLM Royal  

Dutch Airlines* - 175 - 175

Additions 75 1 74 1

Transfer from property, aircraft and equipment (note 15) 176 6 176 -

At end of year/period 4,900 4,649 4,726 4,476

Amortisation:

At  beginning of year/period 4,319 4,090 4,196 3,988

Charge for the year/period 180 229 148 208

At end of year/period 4,499 4,319 4,344 4,196

Net book value:

At end of year/period 401 330 382 280
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17.  INVESTMENTS

  (a) Investment in subsidiaries - Company

The movement in the investment in JamboJet Limited is as follows:

During the year, the Group and Company recognised an impairment loss of KShs 440 million of Jambojet Limited, which has been 

recognised in profit or loss statement. This is a subsidiary of Kenya Airways Plc.

*  The cost of the investment is KShs 100,000 which when rounded to the nearest million gives a value of less than a million.

**  The investment in Kencargo Airlines International Limited is fully impaired since the Company has been inactive thus casting doubt 

on the recoverability and valuation of the investment. The investment was impaired by KShs. 20,000,000.

***  The purchase of African Cargo Handling Limited was below the net identifiable assets resulting in a bargain purchase.

The movement in the impairment of investment in subsidiaries is as follows:

At the beginning of the year/period * *

Receivable balance converted to equity during the year 606 -

Impairment (440) -

At the end of the year/period 166 *

At the beginning of the year/period 20 20

Impairment for the year/period 440 -

At the end of the year/period 460 20

 Details of investment Country of 
incorporation

 Activity  2018
% of equity

 2017 
interest

 2018
 KShs

 Million

 2017
 KShs

 Million

Kenya Airfreight Handling 
Limited (2,550,000 shares 
of KShs 20 each) 

 Kenya

Cargo 
handling for 
perishable 
products

 51%  51%  51  51

JamboJet Limited 
(2018:1,000,000 shares 
of KShs.606 each, 
2017:5,000 shares of KShs 
20 each)

 Kenya
 Local 
passenger 
air transport 

 100%  100%  166  *

 Kencargo Airlines 
International Limited 
(1,000,000 shares of KShs 
20 each)  Kenya  Dormant  100%  100%  **  **

 African Cargo Handling 
Limited (5,753,822 shares 
of KShs 100 each)  Kenya

 Cargo 
handling  100%  100%  ***384  ***384

 Pride Oil Limited (5,000 
shares of KShs 20 each)  Kenya  Dormant  100%  100%  *  *

 601  435
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17.  INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

The summarised financial information of the subsidiaries is as shown below:

Current assets Non-Current assets Current liabilities Non-current liabilities

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

African Cargo 
Handling 
Limited

4,005 3,773 695 647 1,235 798 488 488

JamboJet 
Limited

1,150 574 580 120 977 822 752 752

Kenya 
Airfreight 
Handling 
Limited

434 313 123 92 401 256  50  50

Kencargo 
Airlines 
International 
Limited

- - - - 61 61 - -

Pride Oil 
Limited

- - - - - - - -

 Revenues Profit/(loss) before tax Total comprehensive income

2018
KShs 

 million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs 
 million

2018
KShs 

 million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs 
 million

2018
KShs 

 million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs 
 million

Kenya Airfreight Handling Limited 243 183 (13) 12 (9) 8

JamboJet Limited 4,994 2,646 77 (19) 77 (19)

African Cargo Handling Limited 2,256 1,546 (196) 303 (139) (211)

Kencargo Airlines International Limited - - - - - -

Pride Oil Limited - - - - - -
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17.  INVESTMENTS

(b) Investments in associates – Group and Company

The summarised financial information of the associate is set out below:

Kenya Airways Plc owns 41.23% equity interest in Precision Air Services Limited. The Investment was fully impaired in 2013 as the 

Directors do not expect the value of the investment to be recovered.

The shareholding in African Tours and Hotels Limited represents 20.1% of the issued ordinary share capital of the company. The 

company was placed under receivership several years back and, therefore, the Directors do not expect the value of the investment to 

be recovered. Consequently, the investment has been fully impaired.

(i) African Tours and Hotels Limited:

(ii). Precision Air Services Limited:

2018
KShs

 Million

2017
KShs

 Million

African Tours and Hotels Limited: (100,398 ordinary shares of KShs 20 each) 2 2

Less: Impairment on investment in associate (2) (2)

-  -

2018
KShs

 million

2017
KShs 

million

Total assets 7,869 8,458

Total liabilities (20,613) (17,563)

Net liabilities (12,744) (9,105)

Total revenue for the year/period 4,322 4,354

Loss for the year/period (1,228) (360)

2018
KShs

 Million

2017
KShs

 Million

66,157,350 ordinary shares of KShs 3.48 (TShs 20) each            230 230

Less: Impairment of investment in associate (230) (230)

-  -
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18.  RETURN CONDITIONS ASSET 

19.  AIRCRAFT DEPOSITS – GROUP AND COMPANY

The deposits under long-term operating leases relate to lease of aircraft and engines of Boeing 737’s, 787’s, and Embraer E190’s. The 

deposits paid towards acquisition of aircraft represent amounts paid to Boeing Corporation towards acquisition of optional aircraft in 

future. The latter deposits do not earn any interest and are carried at amortised cost.

*   Amortisation of the aircraft deposits relates to the discount arising from the difference between the maturity value of the 

deposits and their fair value based on amortised cost.

** The refunds during the year relate to reimbursements received by Kenya Airways Plc from various lessors for aircraft deposits 

that had been previously held as cash. These reimbursements were in exchange for letters of credit drawn up in favour of the 

lessors.

                 Group                    Company

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

At beginning of year/period - as previously reported - - - -

Prior year adjustment (note 40) 3,392 2,810 2,639 2,810

At beginning of year/period 3,392 2,810 2,639 2,810

Additions 1,027 1,986 1,027 1,233

Depreciation charge for the period (1,832) (1,404) (1,525) (1,404)

At end of year/period 2,587 3,392 2,141 2,639

2018
KShs

 Million

2017
KShs

 Million

Deposits for aircraft leases under long–term operating leases 2,510 4,337

Deposits paid towards acquisition of aircraft    566    991

3,076 5,328

2018
KShs

 Million

2017
KShs

 Million

At start of year/period 5,328 4,915

Additions 311 439

Refunds** (2,486) -

Amortisation* 4 (34)

Foreign exchange differences (81) 8

At end of year/period 3,076 5,328
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20.  PREPAID MAINTENANCE ASSET 

21.  INVENTORIES – GROUP AND COMPANY

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in the Group’s and Company’s ‘Direct costs’ amounted to 

KShs 2,106 million (2017: KShs 1,637 million).

The movement in provision for obsolete inventories is as follows:

              Group               Company

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

At beginning of year/period - as previously reported - - - -

Prior year adjustment (note 40) 4,125 3,501 4,043 3,501

At beginning of year/period 4,125 3,501 4,043 3,501

Additions 1,768 1,297 1,470 1,215

Reimbursements (2,442) (680) (2,442) (680)

Foreign exchange differences (53) 7 (53) 7

At end of year/period 3,398 4,125 3,018 4,043

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

Aircraft consumables 3,075 2,949

Other inventories 427 531

Provisions for obsolete inventories (1,404) (1,447)

2,098 2,033

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

At beginning of the year/period 1,447 1,400

(Decrease)/increase in provision during the year (43) 47

At end of year/period 1,404 1,447
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22.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The debtors written off during the year had previously been fully provided for. The write off was approved by the Board of Directors 

during the year.

                  Group                   Company

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

Trade and other receivables 16,364 15,065 32,660 26,074

Less: Provision for loss allowance (1,927) (3,256) (2,708) (4,218)

14,437 11,809 29,952 21,856

Analysed as:

Trade - airlines                                                953 484 803 455

Trade - agents 7,812 6,968 7,660 6,848

Trade - others 1,876 1,023 1,802 887

Trade - Government ministries and parastatals 134 2 134 2

Prepayments and VAT recoverable 3,408 2,127 2,875 1,685

Other receivables 254 1,173 197 1,171

Due from related parties (note 36 (b)(i)) - 32 16,481 10,808

14,437 11,809 29,952 21,856

                 Group                    Company

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

At beginning of year/period – as previously reported 3,256 2,471 4,218 3,416

Effects of adoption of IFRS 9 impairment policy 1,393 - 1,384 -

At beginning of year/period  - restated 4,649 2,471 5,602 3,416

Write off during the year/period (2,288) - (2,288) -

(Reversal)/provision in the year/period (434) 785 (606) 802

At end of year/period 1,927 3,256 2,708 4,218
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23.  ASSETS HELD FOR SALE – GROUP AND COMPANY

In August 2014, the Directors approved a plan to sell 7 aircrafts and 2 parcels of land. The Company has since sold all the 7 aircrafts. In 

2017, the Directors reversed the decision to sell off the parcel of land and transferred the land back to property, aircraft and equipment.

Assets held for sale are as at stated at the lower of fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount.

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

(i). Aircraft

At beginning of year/period 445 805

Disposals       (445) -

Impairment loss during the period (note 8(b)) - (360)

At end of year/period - 445

(ii). Land

At beginning of year/period - 310

Transfer to property and equipment (note 15) - (310)

At end of year/period - -

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

Aircraft (note 23(a)(i)) - 445

(a). Impairment loss relating to assets held for sale

(b). Assets held for sale
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24.  SHARE CAPITAL – GROUP AND COMPANY 

(a) Share capital and share premium

Kenya Airways Plc completed a significant portion of its financial restructuring following the signing of a lock up and restructuring 

agreement on 14 November 2017 with the Government of Kenya, KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, KQ Lenders Company 2017 Limited and 

certain Kenyan Banks.  The restructuring was approved by shareholders at an extra-ordinary general meeting held on 7 August 2017 

through a special resolution. 

The restructuring involved the following transactions:

•  Conversion of the existing debt and accrued interest due to the Government of Kenya into equity shares  in exchange for 

2,552,043,603 new ordinary shares at KShs 7.78 per share; USD 75 million of further indebtedness being convertible in future 

pursuant to  a zero coupon mandatorily convertible loan agreement;

•  The issue by the Government of Kenya of a sovereign guarantee of USD 525 million to Export-Import Bank of the United States in 

support of the restructuring of the Company’s indebtedness to the financiers of the Company’s fleet of wide-bodied aircraft and USD 

225 million in favour of certain local banks in support of new loan facilities in exchange for 184,321,068 new ordinary shares at KShs 

7.78 per share. The guarantee was independently valued as disclosed under note 27(a);

•  Certain Kenyan banks agreed to convert their loans to the Company in exchange for 2,219,285,317 new ordinary shares at KShs 7.78 

per share through a new equity holding company, KQ Lenders Company 2017 Limited, with USD 50 million of further indebtedness 

being convertible in the future pursuant to an interest earning mandatory convertible note as disclosed in note 25 (b). In addition, the 

Kenyan banks will provide USD 175 million of new loan facilities to Kenya Airways Plc. This facility is backed by the aforementioned 

USD 225 million Government guarantee. The banks had disbursed USD 42 million or KShs 4,300 million as at year end as disclosed 

under note 27(b) (2017: USD 42 million of KShs 4,358 million);

•  The issue of 351,656,464 new shares at KShs 7.78 per share to KLM Royal Dutch Airlines in consideration of in-kind capital 

contributions to the Company consisting of a landing slot at the London Heathrow International Airport as well as a package of IT 

Systems and technical support. The landing slot and IT systems and technical support package was independently valued as disclosed 

under note 16;

•  Securing cash relief from restructuring the timing and form of payments from operating and finance lessors for the airline’s fleet of 

aircraft; 

• The set up and registration of a Group employee share ownership scheme with 142,164,558 shares; and

•  A rights issue was approved to be offered to the diluted existing shareholders. Plans for the issue are currently ongoing. 

These transactions were approved through a special resolution at the Company’s extra-ordinary general meeting held on 7 August 2017. 

The shareholders also resolved to sub divide each share held into 1 ordinary share of KShs 0.25 each and 28,433 million deferred shares 

of KShs 0.25 each. The deferred shares were subsequently cancelled, and the ordinary shares consolidated into 1 ordinary share of KShs 

1.00 each.

The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the company.

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
 KShs

 Million

Issued and fully paid:

5,823,588,269 ordinary shares of KShs 1 each (31 December 2017: 

5,823,902,621 ordinary shares of KShs 1 each) 5,824 5,824
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24.   SHARE CAPITAL – GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

 (a) Share capital and share premium (Continued)

Issued and 
fully paid

No. of shares
Million 

Share cap-
ital

 KShs
 Million

Share premium 
2018
KShs

 Million 

Total
 KShs

 Million

1 April 2017 1,496 7,482 8,670 16,152

Cancellation of deferred shares* - (7,107) 7,107 -

Share consolidation** (1,121) - - -

Additional shares issued during the year:

Government of Kenya in respect of the debt converted to equity 2,166 2,166 14,685 16,851

Government of Kenya in respect of accrued interest converted to 
equity

386 386 2,620 3,006

Government of Kenya in respect of the guarantee provided 184 184 1,250 1,434

KQ Lenders 2017 Limited in respect of the debt converted to equity 2,219 2,219 15,048 17,267

KLM Royal Dutch Airlines in respect of the Heathrow landing slot and 
IT systems support

352 352 2,384 2,736

Employee Share Ownership Scheme 142 142 - 142

Expenses directly attributable to the restructuring - - (2,543) (2,543)

31 December 2017 5,824 5,824 49,221 55,045

At 1 January 2018 5,824 5,824 49,221 55,045

Issue of ordinary shares through conversion of the mandatory 
convertible note

**** **** 2 2

31 December 2018 5,824 5,824 49,223 55,047

*  The sub-division of each share held into 1 ordinary share of KShs. 0.25 each and 28,433 million deferred shares of KShs. 0.25 each and 

subsequent cancellation of the deferred shares resulted in the reduction of Kenya Airways Plc share capital from KShs 7,482 million to 

KShs 374 million.

**  The Board of Directors through a special board resolution on 20 November 2017 resolved to consolidate the shares of Kenya Airways 

Plc in the ratio of 4:1. This resulted in the reduction of Kenya Airways Plc number of issued shares from 1,496,469,035 shares to 

374,117,259 shares.

****  During the year, KQ Lenders Company 2017 Limited issued conversion notices for 314,352 shares at KShs 7.78 per share resulting in 

a share premium of KShs 6.78 per share totalling to a share premium of KShs 2,131,307. The shares of 314,352 which when rounded 

to the nearest million gives a value of less than a million and the share capital of KShs 314,352 which also when rounded to the 

nearest million gives a value of less than a million.
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24.  SHARE CAPITAL – GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

(b). Mandatory convertible notes

(c) Treasury shares

2018
KShs

 Million 

2017
(Restated)

 KShs
 Million

KQ Lenders Company 2017 Limited equity component 1,886 1,886

Government of Kenya mandatorily convertible loan 7,744 7,744

Equity component 9,630 9,630

The movement of the equity component of the mandatory 

convertible note is as follows:

At beginning of year/period – as previously reported 11,465 -

Prior year adjustment (note 40) (1,835) -

At beginning of year/period – restated 9,630 -

Issue of mandatory convertible note -  9,630

At end of year/period 9,630 9,630

On 14 November 2017, as part of its balance sheet restructuring, Kenya Airways Plc issued the Government of Kenya and KQ Lenders 

Company 2017 Limited mandatory convertible notes of KShs 7,744 million (USD 75 million) and KShs 5,163 million (USD 50 million) 

respectively. The Government of Kenya note was issued at zero interest while The KQ Lenders Company 2017 Limited mandatory 

convertible note will earn an interest of 5.11% in year 1 to year 5, 15.34% in year 6 to year 7 and 25.56% in year 8 to year 10. 

The notes are mandatorily convertible to equity shares in year 10 but can be converted to equity anytime within the 10 years. On 

conversion to equity, the Government of Kenya will be issued with 995,254,143 ordinary shares at KShs 7.78 per share while the KQ 

Lenders Company 2017 Limited will be issued with 663,502,762 ordinary shares at KShs 7.78 per share.

The convertible note issued to the Government of Kenya is considered an equity instrument while the note issued to KQ Lenders 

Company 2017 Limited is considered a compound instrument that contains, a liability element and an equity element. The equity element 

is presented in equity under the shareholders’ funds while the liability element has been presented in non-current liabilities under 

borrowings. 

Treasury shares represent the shares in Kenya Airways Plc that are held by the Trustees of the Kenya Airways Employee Share 

Ownership Scheme 2017, a trust set up for the purpose of incentivising certain employees through issuance of shares to employees as 

part of their remuneration package. 

The formation of the scheme was approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on 7 August 2017. Accordingly, 

the Directors allotted 142,164,558 shares to the scheme for zero cash consideration. The shares are carried at a par value of KShs 1 

each. 

Under the scheme, eligible employees may be granted the shares at the discretion of the Directors for no cash consideration upon the 

satisfaction of various conditions as determined by the Directors from time to time. The vesting conditions are yet to be determined by 

the Board of Directors and as such the shares have been shown as treasury shares until the vesting conditions have been determined.
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The Group purchases jet fuel on an ongoing basis as its operating activities require a continuous supply of fuel.

The Risk management objective is to hedge the risk of variation in jet fuel prices of highly probable forecast purchases of Jet fuel The 

hedged risk is the benchmark Index price arising from highly probable forecasted purchase of Jet fuel and movement in spot rate of 

benchmark index price. The hedged item is highly probable forecasted purchases of Jet fuel. There is an economic relationship between 

the hedged item and the hedging instrument as the terms of the expected highly probable forecast purchases match the terms of the 

jet fuel option contracts. The Group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationship by performing a correlation between 

jet fuel purchases and benchmark index price.

The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from: 

• The extent to which hedging instrument is not correlated to the hedged item; and

•  The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of the hedging instruments and hedged items.

Non-derivative financial liabilities to hedge foreign currency risk in a cash flow hedge relationship.

The risk management objective of Kenya Airways is to hedge foreign currency risk which is derived from fluctuation in exchange rates, 

associated with highly probable forecasted sales denominated in foreign currency. The Group has a significant portion of its revenue 

in foreign currency (other than KES). This exposure in foreign exchange risk affects the profitability and financial position of the Group 

due to variation in the foreign exchange rates. The Group’s policy is to designate the monthly USD sales as a highly probable forecasted 

transaction in a hedging relationship based on the risk management strategy of the Group. 

The hedged risk is the USD/KES foreign exchange risk in the KES conversion of foreign currency denominated forecasted sales and 

movement in spot rates and the hedged item is the highly probable foreign currency forecasted sales denominated in USD and the 

hedging instrument is foreign currency borrowings in the form of long term loans from banks.

Since the critical terms of the hedge relationship are perfectly matching, the Group assess the ineffectiveness of the hedge relationship 

monthly.

25.  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES – GROUP AND COMPANY

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

2018 2017

Current Liabilities Assets Net fair value* Liabilities Assets Net fair value

Cash-flow hedges

Commodity hedges

* the fair value is net off premium payable

789 354 (435) - - -

As at 31 December 2018

Derivative financial instruments Type of risk Notional Value 

(BBL)

Fair Value (Loss) Line item in the balance sheet  where the 

hedging instrument is located

Cash Flow hedges

Buy
Jet Fuel Risk 1,300,000 (435) Liability

a) The Asset and Liability position of various outstanding derivative financial instruments is given below:

b). Outstanding position and fair value of various derivative financial instruments:
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2018

Release

2017

Release

Cash-flow hedges Closing Val-
ues in Hedge 

reserves

In less 
than 12 
months

After 12 
Months

Closing 
Values 

in Hedge 
reserves

In less than 
12 Months

After 12 
Months

Commodity Hedging
Foreign Currency Hedging

(8)

(10,861)

(8)

(1,110)

-

(9,751)

-

( 12,906)

-

(2,045)

-

(10,861)

Cost of hedging reserve - - - - - -

Cash-flow hedges Reserve Opening 
Balance

Net Amount
Recorgnized in 

Edge Reserve

Net 
Amount to

P&L

Total 
Amounts
Recycled

Closing 
Balance

Cash-flow 
hedges 
reserve

- (8) - - (8)

Commodity
Cost of 
hedge 
reserve

- (427)
- -

(427)

Non-Derivative financial instruments
Cash-flow 
hedges 
reserve

(12,906) 1,206 838 - (10,862)

2018

Release

2017

Release

Cash-flow hedges Closing Val-
ues in Hedge 

reserves

In less 
than 12 
months

After 12 
Months

Closing 
Values 

in Hedge 
reserves

In less than 
12 Months

After 12 
Months

Commodity Hedging
Foreign Currency Hedging

(427)

-

(427)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

d) Gain/(Loss) recognised in OCI and recycled (Amount of gain/(loss) recognised in Hedging Reserve and recycled 

    during the year 2018)
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25.  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES – GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

 c)   Details of amount held in OCI and the period during which these are going to be released and affecting the Statement of   

             Profit & Loss:

The Company’s hedging policy only allows for effective hedge relationships to be established. The effective portion of the hedge is 

taken to OCI while ineffective portion of hedge is recognised immediately to the Statement of Profit or Loss. For fuel hedges the 

ineffectiveness is immaterial
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* On 14 November 2017, as part of the balance sheet restructuring, the Government of Kenya (GOK) issued guarantees in the 

aggregate amount of USD 750,000,000 in favour of Exim Bank and a consortium of Kenyan banks in relation to certain obligations 

of the Group and Company to Exim Bank and the consortium of Kenyan Banks. The fair value of the guarantee was determined on 14 

November 2017 by an independent valuer at USD 13,898,096 (KShs 1,434 million). 

In return, Kenya Airways Plc issued the GOK 184,321,067 shares at KShs. 7.78 per share. The financial guarantee is measured at 

amortised cost over the term of the guaranteed loans. 

The non-controlling interests relate to the portion of equity ownership in Kenya Airfreight Handling Limited attributable to 

Stamina Group B.V.

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Stamina Group B.V

At beginning of year/period 53 49

Share of (loss)/profit for the year/period (4) 4

At end of year/period 49 53

Represented by:

Holding in Kenya Airfreight Handling Limited 49% 49%

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Loans and borrowings 82,330 90,838

Deferred expenditure (note 27(h)) (2,050) (2,351)

Mandatory convertible note(note 27(g)) 3,456 3,277

Sovereign guarantee from the Government of Kenya* (1,188) (1,405)

82,548 90,359

Made up of:

Current:

Payable within one year 77,362 86,031

Non-current:

Payable after one year 5,186 4,328

82,548 90,359

26.  NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

27.  BORROWINGS – GROUP AND COMPANY

(a) Analysis of borrowings
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Entity Bank Guarantee Original Tenure of the loan

Tsavo Financing LLC Citibank N.A. (London) and JP 

Morgan N.A.

Export-Import Bank of the 

United States of America 

(Eximbank)

12 years

Samburu Limited African Export and Import 

Bank in syndication with 

Standard Chartered Bank

None 12 years

27.  BORROWINGS – GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

       (a)  Analysis of borrowings (Continued)

    The fair value was determined by independent valuers who have appropriate qualifications and relevant experience in fair value 

  measurements of such assets. The valuation was determined as the difference of weighted risk free loan (taking the guarantee into 

 consideration) and weighted risky loan (assuming no guarantee in place). The valuation falls under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 

 as the inputs are not based on observable market inputs. The movement for the year is presented below:

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Sovereign guarantee from the Government of Kenya

Accumulated amortisation 

1,434

(246)

1,434

(29)

Current income tax at 30 1,188 1,405

Maturities 2018 
Avg Int 

Rates

KShs 
million

2017
Avg Int 

Rates

KShs 
million

Citi/JP Morgan-Aircraft Loans 2014-2026 3.30% 60,331 2.30% 66,090

African Export – Import Bank (Afrexim) – Aircraft Loans 2012-2025 6.45% 17,455 5.19% 19,093

Local bank facility 2015-2027 2.00% 244 7.88% 1,297

Local banks revolving loan 2017-2027 7.89% 4,300 7.20% 4,358

82,330 90,838

At beginning of year/period 

Charge for the year/period

29

217

-

29

At end of year/period 246 29

The movement in amortisation of the sovereign guarantee from the Government of Kenya is as follows:

(b) Analysis of interest bearing loans and borrowings: 

The aircraft loans were obtained for the purpose of funding aircrafts acquisition, aircraft spare engines and pre-delivery payments 

for ordered aircrafts. For the purpose of holding collateral for the financiers, the aircrafts were registered in the name of special 

entities whose equity are held by the security trustees on behalf of the respective financers. The legal title is to be transferred to 

Kenya Airways Plc once the loans are fully repaid. The special entities are as listed below:
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27.  BORROWINGS – GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

 (b) Analysis of interest bearing loans and borrowings: (Continued)

  The local bank facilities, amounting to USD 100 million were obtained from the consortium of Kenyan banks after the restructuring in 

November 2017. They were drawn from Equity Bank Limited, KCB Bank Kenya Limited, Commercial Bank of Africa Limited, I&M Bank 

Limited, National Bank of Kenya Limited, Cooperative Bank of Kenya, Diamond Trust Bank (Kenya) Limited, NIC Bank Limited and 

Ecobank Limited for financing of working capital requirements. As at 31 December 2018, the Group and Company had only utilized 

facilities amounting to USD 42 million (2017: USD 42 million).

  Jamii Bora Bank Limited opted to retain their outstanding loan to Kenya Airways Plc after the restructuring in 2017. This loan was 

acquired by NIC Bank Limited in January 2018. The loan repayment term is a tenure of five years.

 (c) Covenants

  The Group and Company has a number of facilities with African Export-Import Bank (Afrexim) Citibank N.A and JP Morgan N.A for 

the purchase of aircraft and funding of pre-delivery deposits for aircraft.  The facilities contain some financial covenants, which are 

monitored against the annual audited financial statements.  As at 31 December 2018, the Group and Company did not comply with 

the unrestricted cash to revenue ratio and is in the process of obtaining waivers from the financiers. The facilities have been reclas-

sified to current liabilities as at 31 December 2018 as the Group and Company did not have unconditional rights to defer payment for 

at least 12 months at the end of the reporting period. 

  As at 31 December 2017, the Group and the Company did not comply with the cumulative debt service coverage ratio as a result, the 

facilities have been reclassified to current liabilities as at that date as disclosed in the prior year adjustment in note 40.

 (d) Maturities of amounts included in borrowings is as follows:

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Within one year  77,846 86,232

Between two and five years 184 248

Later than 5 years 4,300 4,358

82,330 90,838

The borrowings maturity analysis is as follows:

Had the covenants been complied with as at year/ period end, the borrowings would have been payable as follows:

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Within one year  6,199 7,415

Between two and five years 41,560 32,047

Later than 5 years 34,571 51,376

82,330 90,838
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(f) Analysis of loans by currency:

The Group and Company has multi-currency credit line facilities with a total value of KShs 18,398 million (2017: KShs 18,555 million) 

with various local banks for tenures of one year and renewable. At 31 December 2018, the Group and Company had utilised letters of 

credit (LCs) amounting to KShs 13,788 million (2017: KShs 8,637 million) and draw down facilities of KShs 4,610 million (2017: KShs 

4,671 million). The Group and Company has unutilized draw down facilities of KShs 5,690 million as at 31 December 2018. A corporate 

guarantee of KShs 1,000 million is in place for the Kenya Airways & Co-operative Bank Ab Initio Programme.

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Borrowings in US Dollars  82,330 89,849

Borrowings in Kenya Shillings - 989

Total borrowings 82,330 90,838

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

At start of year/period  90,838 142,340

Additions - 4,358

Repaid in the year/period (7,301) (9,109)

Exchange difference on hedged borrowings

Debt converted to equity on restructuring:

(1,207) 274

Government of Kenya Loan (note 24 (a) - (16,851)

KQ Lenders 2017 Limited (note 24 (a) - (17,267)

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Total exchange differences on borrowings  1,207 (274)

Realised on settlement of loans 838 1,524

Net hedge effect 2,045 1,250

Government of Kenya Loan (note 24 (b)) - (7,744)

KQ Lenders 2017 Limited (note 24 (b)) - (5,163)

At end of period 82,330 90,838

27.  BORROWINGS - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued) 

(e) The movement in the borrowings is as follows:

Debt converted to mandatory convertible note:

Movement in exchange differences on hedged  borrowings have been dealt with as follows:

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)



ANNUAL REPORT & F INANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018 133

27.  BORROWINGS - GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

  (g) Mandatory convertible loan liability component:

 2018

KShs 

million

2017

KShs

(Restated) 

million

At beginning of the year/period – as previously reported  1,442 -

Prior year adjustment (note 40) 1,835 -

At beginning of the year/period - restated 3,277 -

Issue of mandatory convertible note – liability component - 3,277

Conversion of mandatory convertible note to ordinary shares (note 24(a)) (2) -

Interest charged 389 -

Interest paid (165) -

Foreign currency differences (43) -

3,456 3,277

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

 2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

At start of the year/period  2,351 2,291

Additions 25 358

Charge for the year/period (326) (298)

At end of the year/period 2,050 2,351

Current portion 484 301

Non-current portion 1,566 2,050

2,050 2,351

(h) Deferred expenditure:

The deferred expenditure is presented in the statement of financial position as:

Deferred expenditure relates to costs incurred to obtain financing for the purchase of the Boeing 787-8 and B777-300ER aircrafts, as 

well as fees paid to banks upon successful restructuring of the short term loans to longer repayment periods in November 2017. The 

costs include commitment, arrangement, consultants, underwriters and guarantee fees. These costs are amortised over the repayment 

periods of the various loans.
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28.  DEFERRED TAXATION
 
 Deferred income tax is calculated using the enacted income tax rate of 30% (2017 - 30%). 
 The deferred income tax liability/(asset) is made up as follows:

Group Company

 2018
KShs 

millions

2017
(Restated)

KShs 
millions

 2018
KShs 

millions

2017
(Restated)

KShs 
millions

Leave pay accrual (656) (563) (638) (552)

Other provisions (1,763) (749) (1,690) (695)

Tax losses (24,466) (24,272) (24,112) (23,878)

Unrealised exchange gains/(losses) (251) 41 (250) 42

Hedge losses (4,842) (5,531) (4,842) (5,531)

Accelerated capital allowances 7,470 8,696 7,530 8,749

Revaluation surplus 2,105 2,105 2,013 2,013

Net deferred tax asset (22,403) (20,273) (21,989) (19,852)

Deferred tax assets derecognised 24,218 22,168 24,002 21,865

1,815 1,895 2,013 2,013

Deferred tax asset (198) (118) - -

Deferred tax liability 2,013 2,013 2,013 2,013

1,815 1,895 2,013 2,013

Presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

At start of year/period 1,895 1,815 2,013 2,013

(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (note 12(a)) (80) 80 - -

At end of year/period 1,815 1,895 2,013 2,013

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows: 

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

A deferred tax asset is  recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. At 31 December 2018, Kenya Airways Plc and Jambo-

Jet Limited estimated/assessed tax losses amounted to at KShs 80,373 million and KShs 433 million respectively (2017: KShs 78,747 

million and KShs 799 million respectively). Kenyan Income Tax laws allow for carry forward of tax losses for a maximum period of 10 

years. The accumulated tax losses will be utilised to offset future taxable profits.

The Group and Company have not recognised deferred tax assets in the financial statements in view of the uncertainty regarding the 

ability of the company to generate sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future to facilitate 

utilisation of the benefits from the deductions.



ANNUAL REPORT & F INANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018 135

At start of year/period 1,858 2,619

Payments made in the year/period (1,023) (755)

Reversal on termination of sub-lease* (71) -

Foreign exchange differences (33) (6)

At end of year/period 731 1,858

The movement in the onerous lease provision is as follows:

* During the year, the Group and Company terminated one of its sublease agreements with Oman Air. This led to the reversal of all 

   outstanding onerous lease provisions as at the termination date.

29.  ONEROUS LEASE PROVISION – GROUP AND COMPANY

 The airline has sub-leased certain aircraft that are held on operating lease at lease rentals that are lower than that  
 charged by the primary lessors resulting into onerous lease provision as shown below:

 2018
KShs 

million

 2017
KShs 

million

Aircraft Remaining lease

 type Lessee  period

B787-800                    Oman Air 4 months          49 327

B777                    Turkish Airline 16 months                   682 1,531

731 1,858

Onerous lease provision is presented in the statements of financial position as follows:

 2018
KShs 

million

 2017
KShs 

million

To be realised within one year 701 1,001

To be realised after one year 30 857

731 1,858

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)
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30. RETURN CONDITION PROVISION 

  Return condition provision relates to a provision for an unavoidable contractual obligation to perform certain 

  activities and regulatory maintenance liability on major aircraft components, on return of aircraft engine and 

 aircraft components as required by the lessors to fulfil the lease return conditions. 

Group Company

Deferred tax asset 2018
KShs 

million

2017 
(Restated)

KShs 
million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
(Restated)

KShs 
million

At beginning of year/period – as previously reported - - - -

Prior year adjustment (note 40) 4,650 2,810 3,898 2,810

At beginning of year/period - restated (Decrease)/ increase in 
provision during the year

4,650 2,810 3,898 2,810

(494) 1,795 (494) 1,042

Interest charged 68 40 68 40

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (49) 5 (49) 6

At end of year/period 4,175 4,650 3,423 3,898

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

Current 1,793 1,521 1,793 1,521

Non-current 2,382 3,129 1,630 2,377

4,175 4,650 3,423 3,898

The return condition provision is presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
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               Group                    Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Trade payables 23,409 20,418 23,156 19,756

Other payables and accruals 2,051 2,424 827 2,126

Leave pay accruals (note 34) 2,187 1,876 2,125 1,839

Due to related parties (note 36 (b)(ii)) 2,301 2,241 22,225 15,818

Unclaimed dividends (note 14) 90 90 90 90

30,038 27,049 48,423 39,629

32.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The above represents the Group’s and Company’s obligations to provide services to customers for amounts received in advance as per 

the Group’s policy under note 3(c). In addition, the Group and Company expects to fulfil the related performance obligations arising 

from sales in advance of carriage within one year.

Group Company

2018
KShs

 million

2017
KShs

 million

 2018
KShs 

million

 2017
KShs 

million

Passengers 17,382 14,960 17,243 14,861

Freight 169 207 169 207

17,551 15,167 17,412 15,068

31.  SALES IN ADVANCE OF CARRIAGE

 The value of the tickets sold and still valid but not used by the end of the reporting period is reported as unearned  

 transportation revenue in the Sales in Advance of Carriage account. The carrying amount of the balance is as 

 presented below:

Reconciliation of the sales in advance of carriage is as follows:

                  Group                     Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

At beginning of the year/period 15,167 15,450 15,068 15,356

Total tickets sold 95,517 65,652 91,712 63,523

Total revenue recognised (88,714) (63,841) (85,056) (61,927)

Expired tickets recognised in revenue (4,419) (2,094) (4,312) (1,884)

At the end of the year/period 17,551 15,167 17,412 15,068
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 2018  2017

Redundancy 
provision 

KShs
million

Other 
provisions

KShs
million

Total
KShs

million

Redundancy 
provision

KShs
Million

Other 
provisions

KShs
million

Total
KShs

million

Group:

At start of  year/period 197 1,470 1,667 2,866 472 3,338

Paid during the year/

period

(153) (348) (501) (42) (12) (54)

Net movement (charged to)/
credited to profit or loss

101 11 112 (2,627) 1,010 (1,617)

At end of year/period 145 1,133 1,278 197 1,470 1,667

33.  PROVISIONS 

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

 2018  2017

Redundancy 
provision 

KShs
million

Other 
provisions

KShs
million

Total
KShs

million

Redundancy 
provision

KShs
Million

Other 
provisions

KShs
million

Total
KShs

million

Company:

At start of year/period 135 1,470 1,605 2,146 472 2,618

Paid during the year/period (133) (345) (478) (42) (12) (54)

Net movement (charged to)/
credited to profit or loss

102 11 113 (1,969) 1,010 (959)

At end of year/period 104 1,136 1,240 135 1,470 1,605
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

                Group              Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

At start of year/period 1,876 1,748 1,839 1,727

Increase in accrual during the period 311 128 286 112

At end of year/period 2,187 1,876 2,125 1,839

34.  LEAVE PAY ACCRUAL

33.  PROVISIONS (Continued)

 Redundancy provision

  The Company implemented a staff restructuring program in the year 2012 aimed at improving operational efficiency. The program 

affected 599 employees and as at 31 December 2018 a provision of KShs 145 million is held to cover the redundancy payments 

arising from the accompanying litigation. 

  The unionisable staff had moved to the Industrial Court to block the restructuring and the Court ruled in their favour, ordering 

 the reinstatement of affected employees. The Company appealed against the decision and on 11 July 2014, the Court of Appeal  

 ruled that the Company was justified in declaring the redundancy but had failed to meet the statutory threshold procedural fairness. 

 The employees challenged the decision further at the Supreme Court; which upheld the decision of the Court of Appeal. 

 Other provisions

 Other provisions relate to various legal cases brought against the Company which are pending determination by the courts.  

 Management has made appropriate provisions in respect of certain cases.
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35.  CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
 

 (a) Cash generated from operations

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

              Group              Company

 2018
(12 months)

KShs
 million

 2017
(9 months)
(Restated)

KShs 
million

 2018
(12 months)

KShs 
Million

 2017
(9 months)
(Restated)

KShs 
million

Loss before taxation (7,588) (6,388) (7,780) (6,623)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment  (note 15) 7,696 4,975 7,631 4,929

Impairment of investment in subsidiary (note 17(a)) - - 440 -

Impairment of assets held forsale (note 23(a)(i)) - 360 - 360

Impairment of assets (note 15) 2,590 - 2,590 -

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 16) 180 229 148 208

Loss on disposal property, aircraft and equipment and assets 
held for sale

84 3 84 3

Amortisation of deferred expenditure (note 27(h)) 326 298 326 298

Amortisation of aircraft deposits (note 19) (4) 34 (4) 34

Unrealised exchange gain on aircraft deposits (note 19) 81 (8) 81 (8)

Amortisation of sovereign guarantee (note 27 (a)) 217 29 217 29

Unrealised exchange loss on borrowings (note 27(e)) 838 1,524 838 1,524

Unrealised exchange gain on onerous lease provision (note 29) (33) (6) (33) (6)

Reversal of termination of sub-lease (note 29) Interest expense 

(note 9)

(71) - (71) -

Interest expense  (note 9) 5,062 4,923 5,059 4,921

Interest income (note 9) (45) (32) (51) (38)

Reversal of Return condition provision Depreciation (1,521) (191) (1,521) (191)

Return condition asset (note 18) 1,832 1,404 1,525 1,404

Interest charged on return condition (note 30) 68 40 68 40

Unrealized exchange gain on return provision (note 30) (49) 5 (49) 6

Unrealised exchange gain on mandatory convertible debt

 (note 27)

(43) - (43) -

Working capital changes

Inventories (65) (204) (65) (204)

IFRS 9 transition adjustment (1,400) - (1,391) -

Trade and other receivables (2,628) 1,574 (8,096) 394

Sales in advance of carriage 2,384 (337) 2,344 (288)

Trade and other payables (note 32) 2,989 5,576 8,794 6,289

Provisions (389) (1,671) (365) (1,013)

Prepaid maintenance asset (note 20) 727 (624) 1,025 (542)

Related party balances converted to investment in subsidiary - - (606) -

Cash generated from operations 11,238 11,595 11,095 11,526
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Group Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Cash and bank balances 6,433 6,356 6,245 6,163

Less: Provision for credit losses (2) - (2) -

6,431 6,356 6,243 6,163

35.   CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Continued)

 (b)  Cash and cash equivalents

        For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December comprise the following: 

At beginning of year- as previously reported - - - -

Effect of change in accounting policy 7 - 7 -

At beginning of year- restated 7 - 7 -

Provision for the period (5) - (5) -

At end of year 2 - 2 -

The movement in the provision for credit losses is as follows;

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

Movement in trade and other payables 2,989 2,570 8,794 3,283

Accrued interest converted to equity - 3,006 - 3,006

2,989 5,576 8,794 6,289

(c) Analysis of non-cash transactions

36.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)   Nature of related party transactions
 

 During the year, companies within the Group entered into transactions with related parties who are not members of the Group.  

 Details of those transactions are presented below:

 (i) Group

        KLM Royal Dutch Airlines (KLM)

    KLM holds 7.8% (2017:7.8%) equity interest in Kenya Airways Plc, and has a joint operations agreement which commenced in 

  November 1997. The agreement allows the two airlines to co-operate in developing schedules and fares and to share generated  

  revenue benefits and costs for the core routes between Nairobi and Amsterdam. 
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2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

205 287 17,282 11,774

Provisions for doubtful related party balances (205) (255) (801) (966)

- 32 16,481 10,808

36.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

 (a) Nature of related party transactions (Continued)
     
 (i)   Group (Continued) 

   Precision Air Services Limited

     Kenya Airways Plc holds 41.23% (2017: 41.23%) equity interest in Precision Air Services Limited with code share on the route 

   between Nairobi and Dar es Salaam.

    As is common throughout the airline industry, Kenya Airways Plc, KLM Royal Dutch Airlines and Precision Air Services   

  Limited from time to time carry each other’s passengers travelling on the other airline’s tickets. The settlement between the  

  two carriers is effected through IATA clearing house, of which all airlines are members.

Handling expenses

African Cargo Handling Limited 124 90

Jambojet Limited 110 -

Management fee income

African Cargo Handling Limited 714 545

JamboJet Limited 77 172

 (ii)  Company

(b)  Related companies balances 

      Balances outstanding at the year-end on account of transactions with related parties were as follows:

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

                  Group               Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

(i) Due from related companies

Precision Air Services Limited 205 287 206 287

Kenya Airfreight Handling Limited - - 174 145

African Cargo Handling Limited - - 16,135 9,993

JamboJet Limited - - 706 1,288

Kencargo International Airlines Limited - - 61 61
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                  Group             Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

At beginning of year/period 255 287 966 949

(Decrease)/increase during the year/period (50) (32) (165) 17

At end of year/period 205 255 801 966

36.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)   Related companies balances (Continued)

(i)  Due from related companies (continued)

 The movement in the provisions for doubtful related party balances is as follows;

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

(ii) Due to related companies

       KLM, Royal Dutch Airlines 2,301 2,241 2,263 2,223

       Kenya Airfreight Handling Limited - - 59 58

       African Cargo Handling Limited - - 19,903 13,537

2,301 2,241 22,225 15,818

Amounts due from and due to Kenya Airfreight Handling Limited (KAHL) arise from payments of expenses by Kenya Airways 

on behalf of KAHL, net of costs apportioned by KAHL for services rendered to Kenya Airways Plc. It also includes a loan 

amount of KShs 19.6 

million secured by KAHL from Kenya Airways Plc. Both the related party and loan balances are interest free and have no fixed 

repayment terms.

The amounts due from African Cargo Handling Limited (ACHL) relate to cargo freight collected by ACHL on behalf of Kenya 

Airways and the expenses paid by Kenya Airways on behalf of ACHL. The amounts due to ACHL relate to cash transfers from 

ACHL to Kenya Airways and the ACHL IATA billings. The related party balances are interest free and have no fixed repayment 

terms.

(c) Remuneration for Directors and key management compensation

The remuneration for Directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

                  Group             Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

       Salaries and other benefits 255 269 221 237

       Non-monetary benefits 33 6 33 6

288 275 254 243
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36.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

 (c) Remuneration for Directors and key management compensation

  The Company and its subsidiaries’ Directors’ remuneration included in key management compensation above comprise:

Group Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

As executives 58 110 58 110

As non-executives 31 22 31 22

Non - monetary benefits

89

4

132

4

89

4

132

4

93 136 93 136

Group Company

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

2018
KShs 

million

2017
KShs 

million

Not later than 1 year 9,957 9,420 9,169 8,550

Later than 1 year but not

later than 5 years 52,312 50,489 49,159 47,295

Later than 5 years 35,815 47,602 32,854 43,802

98,084 107,511 91,182 99,647

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

Authorised but not contracted for 5,283 2,705

 (a) Lease payments

 (d) Receivable from directors

  Included in other receivables are amounts due from directors amounting to KShs 54 million (2017 – Nil).

37.  COMMITMENTS

 As at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2017, the Group and Company had purchase commitments 

 for aircraft parts and other equipment incidental to the ordinary course of business as follows:

38.  OPERATING LEASES – GROUP AND COMPANY 

   
  The future minimum lease payments and reconciliations under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
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38.  OPERATING LEASES – GROUP AND COMPANY (Continued)

      (b) Lease receivables

2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

Not later than 1 year 3,061 5,183

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years                      490 3,883

3,551 9,066

39.  CONTIGENT LIABILITIES – GROUP AND COMPANY

       (a) Contigent liabilities 2018
KShs 

million

2017 
KShs 

million

Guarantees 13,788 8,637

Litigation 660 578

14,448 9,215

(b) Guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group’s and Company’s bankers have issued guarantees on behalf of the Group and 

Company in favour of third parties. In the opinion of the Directors, no liability is expected to crystallise in respect of these 

guarantees.

(c) Litigation

(i) Douala crash - KQ507
 

A leased aircraft, Boeing 737-800 (registration mark 5Y-KYA) operating as flight number KQ507 crashed shortly after take-off 

from Douala airport in Cameroon on 5 May 2007. All the 105 passengers and 9 crew members on board perished in the accident. 

The investigation of the accident carried out under the auspices of the Cameroon civil aviation authorities was completed. Kenya 

Airways Plc is fully insured for any legal obligations arising out of the accident. 

During the year, the Group and Company expensed KShs 7,605 million and KShs 6,448 million (2017: KShs 6,603 

million and KShs 6,064 million) respectively in profit or loss in respect of operating leases as disclosed in note 8(b).

During the year, the Group and Company each recognised lease income of KShs 1,461 million (2017: KShs 1,101 million) 

in profit or loss in respect of operating leases income as disclosed in note 7(a). 

The aircraft fleet leasing commitments include the balance of rental obligations under operating leases in respect of 

the various aircraft.

The Group leases various aircraft under non – cancellable operating leases with varying terms, escalation clauses and 

renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. The various lease agreements do not provide for 

purchase options on expiry of the lease terms. No restrictions have been imposed by the lessors on the Group and company

 in respect of dividend pay outs, borrowings or further leasing.
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NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES – GROUP AND COMPANY 

      (Continued)

 (c) Litigation (Continued)

 (i) Douala crash - KQ507 (Continued)

 Site clear up

  After the accident there had been concerns locally that 

the accident site had not been made sufficiently safe and 

secure.  On 30 December 2008, the Cameroon Prime 

Minister appointed a local committee to oversee a clean-up 

and restoration of the site of the accident. Kenya Airways 

was asked to nominate a representative and did so. To the 

Directors knowledge, there have been no further develop-

ments since this date regarding the site clear up.

  The Directors suspect that given the site is located in a tid-

al mangrove swamp, is difficult to access and the nearest 

habitation is some distance from the site, it will be very 

difficult for the local committee set up to achieve its aims 

in any event. Given the passage of time since the incident it 

can safely be assumed that there will be no follow up or 

 future developments.

  Criminal action in Cameroon

    A Criminal investigation into the accident was opened in 

the Court of First Instance in Ndokoti, Douala, Cameroon in 

November 2009. This was separate and distinct from the 

investigation undertaken by the Official Accident Investi-

gation Commission in accordance with Annex 13 Chicago 

Convention. The purpose of the criminal process was to 

establish whether there has been any criminal wrongdoing.

    A number of hearings took place. Notwithstanding sub-

sequent publication of the official accident report, the 

Magistrate has indicated that he wishes to continue with 

his investigations.  It is unclear when the next hearing may 

be and there have been no recent developments.

  (ii) Abidjan crash – KQ 431

    On 30 January 2000, a Kenya Airways Airbus 310 aircraft 

registration 5Y-BEN on flight KQ431 from Abidjan (Ivory 

Coast) to Nairobi crashed into the sea. A total of 169 pas-

sengers  perished in the crash.  Kenya Airways negotiated 

and reached agreement in majority of the claims. Only 

one claim lies dormant and the Directors have taken the 

pre-caution to keep the file open.

 (i) Other material litigation

  Nairobi Industrial Court Cause No. 539 of 2011 (Kenya) - 

action against the Group by a former employee.

  There are other various legal cases brought against the 

Group which are pending determination by the courts. It 

is not practicable to determine the timing and ultimate 

liabilities (if any) that may crystallise upon resolution of the 

pending cases. However, management has made appro-

priate provisions in respect of certain cases. Due to the 

nature and sensitivity of these cases, detailed disclosures 

have not been made for each case as these may be prejudi-

cial to the position of the Group.

40. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS

  The prior year adjustments relate to the correction of the 

following errors:

 • Prepaid maintenance asset

   The lease agreements require the Group and Company to 

make payments towards maintenance of the aircraft. The 

lessors are contractually obligated to reimburse the Group 

and Company for the qualifying maintenance expenditure 

incurred on the aircraft if the Group and Company has a 

maintenance reserve credit. The Group and Company had 

erroneously accounted for its prepaid maintenance asset as 

an expense.

   The prior year adjustments relates to the correction of the  

following errors: (Continued)

 • Return condition provisions

   The Group and Company operated 20 and 25 aircraft re-

spectively under operating lease arrangements. Under the 

terms of the operating lease arrangements with the lessors, 

the Group and Company is contractually committed to 

return the aircraft and engines in a certain condition at the 

date of return. The Group and Company have in the past er-

roneously had not assessed the return condition provision 

for the aircrafts under operating lease arrangements.

 • Mandatory convertible note

    On 14 November 2017, as part of its balance sheet restruc-

turing, Kenya Airways Plc issued the Government of Kenya 

and KQ Lenders Company 2017 Limited mandatory convert-

ible notes of USD 75 million and USD 50 million respectively.
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The Government of Kenya note 

was issued at zero interest 

while the KQ Lenders Compa-

ny 2017 Limited mandatory 

convertible note will earn an in-

terest of 5.11% in year 1 to year 

5, 15.34% in year 6 to year 7 

and 25.56% in year 8 to year 

10. At initial recognition of the 

compound instrument there 

was an error in the valuation 

of the split between debt and 

equity due to the discounting 

rate used.

   

a) Restatement of audited statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the period ended 

    31 December 2017

For the 9 months 
period ended 31 

December 2017 (as 
previously reported)

KShs
 million

Adjustment
KShs

 million

For the 9months 
period ended

31 December 2017 
(as restated)

KShs
 million

Group 

Direct costs (53,400) 1,681 (51,719)

Fleet ownership costs (10,556) (1,979) (12,535)

Other losses (2,384)       (39) (2,423)

Loss for the period (6,081)  (337) (6,418)

Basic loss per share (KShs) (1.04) (0.08) (1.10)

Diluted loss per share (KShs) (0.81) (0.06) (0.86)

Company

Direct costs (51,511) 1,598 (49,913)

Fleet ownership costs (10,170) (1,980) (12,150)

Other losses (2,379)       (38) (2,417)

Loss for the period (6,219) (420) (6,639)

40. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS (Continued)

        

      •   Mandatory convertible note (Continued) •   Borrowings 

    As at 31 December 2017, the Group and the Company

     erroneously classified KShs 78,917 million as a non-cur-

rent liability yet the Group and Company did not comply 

with the cumulative debt service coverage ratio and as 

a result the Group and Company did not have uncondi-

tional right to defer payment for the next 12 months. The 

facilities have been reclassified to current liabilities as at 

that date.
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40. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT (Continued)

b)  Restatement of audited statement of financial position as at 1 April 2017

 At 1 April 2017
 (as previously reported) Adjustment At 1 April 2017
    (as restated)
 KShs KShs KShs
Group  million  million  million

   

ASSETS      

Non-current assets    

Return conditions asset - 2,810 2,810

   

Current assets   

Prepaid maintenance asset - 3,501 3,501

   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

Non-current liabilities   

Return condition provision - (2,619) (2,619)

Borrowings (113,067) 81,603 (31,464)

Maintenance reserve (3,058) 3,058 -

   

Current liabilities    

Return condition provision - (191) (191)

Borrowings (26,982) (81,603) (108,585)

   

Capital and reserves   

Accumulated loss (51,871) 6,559 (45,312)

Company   

   

ASSETS      

Non-current assets    

Return conditions asset - 2,810 2,810

   

Current assets   

Prepaid maintenance asset - 3,501 3,501

   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

Non-current liabilities   

Return condition provision - (2,619) (2,619)

Borrowings (113,067) 81,603 (31,464)

Maintenance reserve (3,058) 3,058 -

   

Current liabilities    

Return condition provision - (191) (191)

Borrowings (26,982) (81,603) (108,585)

   

Capital and reserves   

Accumulated loss (54,455) 6,559 (47,896)

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)
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40. PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT (Continued)

c) Restatement of audited statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017

41. POST REPORTING DATE EVENTS

No material events or circumstances have arisen between the reporting date and the date of this report that require disclosure.

 At 31 December 2017  At 31 December   
 (as previously  2017
 reported) Adjustment  (as restated)
 KShs million KShs million KShs million
Group
   

ASSETS      

Non-current assets    

Return conditions asset - 3,392 3,392
   

Current assets   

Prepaid maintenance asset - 4,125 4,125
   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

Non-current liabilities   

Return condition provision - (3,129) (3,129)

Borrowings (81,410) 77,082 (4,328)

Maintenance reserves (3,355) 3,355 -
   

Current liabilities    

Return condition provision - (1,521) (1,521)

Borrowings (7,114) (78,917) (86,031)

   

Capital and reserves   

Mandatory convertible note (11,465) 1,835 (9,630)

Accumulated loss (57,956) 6,222 (51,734)

Company   
   

ASSETS      

Non-current assets    

Return conditions asset - 2,639 2,639
   

Current assets   

Prepaid maintenance asset - 4,043 4,043
   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

Non-current liabilities   

Return condition provision - (2,377) (2,377)

Borrowings (81,410) 77,082 (4,328)

Maintenance reserves (3,355) 3,355 -
   

Current liabilities    

Return condition provision - (1,521) (1,521)

Borrowings (7,114) (78,917) (86,031)
   

Capital and reserves   

Mandatory convertible note (11,465) 1,835 (9,630)

Accumulated loss (60,674) 6,139 (54,535)

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont inued)
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS AND SHARE DISTRIBUTION

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS AND SHARE DISTRIBUTION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Principal shareholders

The ten largest shareholdings in the Company and the respective number of shares held at 31 December 2018 

are as follows:

Name of shareholder  Number %

   of shares Shareholding

   

1. Cabinet Secretary To The National Treasury  2,847,844,811 48.90

2. KQ Lenders Company 2017 Limited  2,218,310,169 38.09

3. KLM – Koninklijke Luchtvaart Maatscchappij (KLM) Royal Dutch Airlines  451,661,470 7.76

4. The Trustess of the Kenya Airways Employee Share Ownership Scheme 2017  142,164,558 2.44

5. Standard Chartered  Nominees Ltd Non Resident A/c KE11752  35,611,300 0.61

6. Kamau Mike Maina  16,099,735 0.28

7. Standard Chartered  Nominees Ltd A/c 9187  5,385,914 0.09

8. Standard Chartered  Nominees Ltd A/c 9230  3,632,693 0.06

9. Vijay Kumar Ratilal Shah  3,435,900 0.06

10. Galot International Limited  2,652,370 0.05

11. Other Shareholders  97,103,701 1.66 

  

 Total  5,823,902,621 100.00

Distribution of shareholders

  Number Number %

  of shareholders of  shares Shareholding

 

Less than 500 shares 61,740 10,821,752 0.19

501 – 5,000 shares 16,272 21,682,428 0.37

5,001 – 10,000 shares 1,061 7,486,537 0.13

10,001 – 100,000 shares 1,112 27,650,497 0.47

100,001 – 1,000,000 shares 104 27,217,656 0.47

Over 1,000,000 shares 12 5,729,043,751 98.37

 Total 80,301 5,823,902,621 100.00

Distribution of shareholders by region

  Number Number %

  of shareholders of  shares Shareholding

 

Foreign Institutions 11 489,326,498 8.40

Foreign Individuals 565 2,642,581 0.05

Local Institutions 3,079 5,239,212,531 89.96

Local Individuals 76,646 92,721,011 1.59

 Total 80,301 5,823,902,621 100.00
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